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AEEH
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Corporate Information

QEEH

Independent Auditor

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
23/F, Tower 2

Enterprise Square Five

38 Wang Chiu Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Legal Advisers

Conyers Dill & Pearman (Cayman Islands)
Llinks Law Offices LLP
Charles Wilson LLP

Registered Office

Cricket Square Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Head Office and Principal Place of Business in
Hong Kong

Units 02-083, 7/F

Tung Wai Commercial Building
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Other Office in the People’s Republic of China
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Corporate Information

QFEH
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Principal Bankers

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited
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Financial Highlights
MHHE

2025 2024
HKS$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEET
Revenue A 206 271
Gross profit EH 38 50
Loss before interest expense and RETF BRI KR IEA]
tax (“LBIT”) &518 (TLBITY) (79) (119)
Loss before interest expense, tax, RETF BRI ~ RIE ~ E R
depreciation and amortization BiEs#E (TLBITDAJ)
(“LBITDA) (75) (114)
Loss for the year attributable to NABVHEB NEEESL
owners of the Company 518 (85) (117)
Total assets BEE 609 755
Quick assets' RENEE" 157 117
Net current liabilities MEIAEFE (183) (166)
Net debt? B eEa2 108 121
Shareholders’ funds® REEES 57 142
2025 2024
Shares in issue BEITRG 5,779,196,660  5,779,196,660
shares shares
5,779,196,660 i 5,779,196,660 i
Net asset value® per share SREETFE® HK$0.01 HK$0.02
0.01#E7T 0.02787T
Basic loss per share EREKREE (1.47) HK cents  (2.03) HK cents
(1.47) &1l (2.03) 1l
Current ratio* TENEE 0.66 0.70
Quick ratio® RELEERS 0.30 0.21
Gearing ratio® EEN=EE i 2.32 1.10
Net gearing ratio” FEAREGELET 1.90 0.85
Return on equity® B fEU a8 (150%) (83%)

Quick assets represent current assets less inventories, completed properties for
sale and restricted bank balances

Net debt represents bank and other borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and
restricted bank balances

Net asset value or shareholders’ funds represents the amount of equity attributable
to owners of the Company

Current ratio represents the ratio of current assets to current liabilities
Quick ratio represents the ratio of quick assets to current liabilities

Gearing ratio represents the ratio of bank and other borrowings to shareholders’
funds

Net gearing ratio represents the ratio of net debt to shareholders’ funds

Return on equity represents the loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company as a percentage of shareholders’ funds
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Directors’ Statement

ESRME

Dear Shareholders,

We present the annual results of Magnus Concordia Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2025. The Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$206 million (2024: HK$271 million), representing
a decrease of 24% from that of the preceding year. Net loss for the
year attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$85
million (2024: HK$117 million), and loss per share was 1.47 HK cents
(2024: 2.083 HK cents). Shareholders’ funds dropped by 60% to
approximately HK$57 million (2024: HK$142 million), representing net
asset value per share of HK$0.01 (2024: HK$0.02).

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company
has resolved not to recommend payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024 nil).

The decrease in the Group’s loss was mainly due to the reduction
in net loss after taxation to approximately HK$51 million (2024:
HK$64 million) of the property investment business, resulting from the
decrease in the fair value loss from revaluation of investment properties
as at 31 March 2025.

B :
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Directors’ Statement
ERILS

Looking ahead to 2025, inflation is expected to continue to slow
down. Interest rates in major global economies are anticipated to
have decreased in the first half of 2025 compared to the same period
in 2024, and it is likely that rates will continue to decline further. This
trend will set the stage for a stable reduction in interest rates over
the coming years, fostering a recovery in global economic growth. It
is expected that the Chinese government will intensify its efforts to
stabilise macroeconomic growth, leading to gradual improvements in
key economic indicators. The Chinese economy is projected to make
consistent progress while maintaining stability.

Although economic recovery is expected, we believe that investors will
maintain a cautious and conservative approach, only considering high-
quality and impactful investments and seizing opportunities that have a
solid foundation in the market to achieve risk diversification. Changes in
investment sentiment will also result in fluctuations in the evaluation of
real estate investment and fixed income investment returns.

A detailed review of the Group’s operations this year is set out in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section on pages 13 to 25 of
this annual report.

The Group continues to carry out effective internal control measures,
comply with overall corporate governance practices and maintain
proper corporate communications with investors and other
stakeholders. Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices
and corporate social responsibilities are included in the “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”.

||
3
-
s
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Directors’ Statement
ERILS

Leveraging on the effective risk management and internal control
systems, the Group is staying particular alert to market value volatility
of our investment portfolios. Supported by decades of remarkable
operation of the printing business, the Group is seeking further
business development in growth-enhancing investment opportunities in
various industries.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to take this opportunity to
express our gratitude to our shareholders, customers and partners
for their continuous support and confidence in the Group, as well as
our appreciation to our executives and staff for their dedication and
contribution during the past year.

Your faithfully,

On behalf of the Board of
Magnus Concordia Group Limited

Xiang Jun
Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwEDth

Review of financial performance

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$206 million (2024: HK$271 million),
representing a decrease of 24% from the last year. The drop in revenue
was mainly resulted from the decrease in sales of residential units of
a property development project in Zigong City, Sichuan Province, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Group’s gross profit decreased by 24% from the last
corresponding year to approximately HK$38 million (2024: HK$50
million). However, the Group’s gross margin rose to 19% (2024
18%) of the consolidated revenue, as a result of higher gross margin
recorded from the sale of printed products in the printing business after
spending efforts to lower the production costs. The printing business
was able to expand its gross margin to 25% (2024: 24%).

During the year under review, a provision for impairment of stock
of properties of approximately HK$15 million (2024: HK$5 million)
was charged to the consolidated income statement for the property
development project in Zigong City. Liquidity issues of numerous
property developers in Mainland China continued to arise during the
current financial year leading to a year-on-year drop in contracted
residential property sales. Property developers of non-first-tier cities
reacted by offering price discount to spur property sales and recoup
cash. Consequently, the estimated gross margin of our high-end
residential villas in Zigong City was being particularly affected and
resulted in an excess of carrying values of the properties over their
recoverable amounts. Accordingly, a provision for impairment on the
stock of properties was made as at 31 March 2025 in accordance with
the relevant accounting policies of the Company.

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses as well as the
administrative and other operating expenses dropped to approximately
HK$9 million (2024: HK$15 million) and approximately HK$36 million
(2024: HK$66 million) respectively, which was a result of the various
cost control measures.

MBREENR

BE_Z_AF-A=+—HLFE Fx&EH
BRSRE WA 2.06@EBIT (T ZIFE 1 2.71
@A) » BEFRL 24%  WARLD ETZHN
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BT (CEZHE 500088 7T) AT » &
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£ 118%) » LT R EIRI E BB EEER
K HENRERBZEERSHNENZE - (IR
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B EEMEFEE SR TE - IF—5
TYEFREBBEEERNEEHEKRRERESR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEwEDth

Review of financial performance (Continued)

The Group’s other income, expense and net losses, reversal of
impairment/(impairment) of accounts receivable and fair value change
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted to a net
loss of approximately HK$9 million (2024: HK$11 million). The amount
mainly included reversal of impairment of accounts receivable of
approximately HK$2 million (2024: impairment of accounts receivable
of approximately HK$3 million), impairment of intangible assets of
approximately HK$0.4 million (2024 nil), write-down on other assets of
approximately HK$5 million (2024: HK$8 million) and loss on disposal
of investment properties of approximately HK$7 million (2024 nil).

The fair value loss from revaluation of investment properties as at 31
March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$48 million (2024: HK$72
million). The market values of investment properties as at 31 March
2025 were being affected by the weak market sentiment resulting from
the slower-than-expected growth in Mainland China and Hong Kong’s
economy, despite that stable rental income continues to be generated
from such properties. Moreover, a shift in the Hong Kong market was
observed, with increased cross-border consumption in Mainland China.
This shift contributed to a moderation in the demand of properties for
retail use.

The Group’s finance costs during the year under review amounted to
approximately HK$7 million (2024: HK$10 million), which were mainly
related to interest charged by bank borrowings to finance the general
working capital of the Group during the year. The decrease in finance
costs was mainly due to the drop in Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
and decrease in bank and other borrowings during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwEDth

Review of financial performance (Continued)

During the year under review, the Group recorded a loss before tax
of approximately HK$86 million (2024: HK$129 million), which was
attributed to the following operating segments and factors:

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

V)

(vi)

Printing — profit of approximately HK$11 million (2024: HK$5
million);

Property development — loss of approximately HK$24 million
(2024: HK$35 million);
Property investment — loss of approximately HK$53 million (2024:
HK$74 million);

Treasury — loss of approximately HK$2 million (2024: HK$1
million);

Net corporate expenses and other businesses of approximately
HK$11 million (2024: HK$14 million); and

Finance costs of approximately HK$7 million (2024: HK$10
million).

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$85 million (2024: HK$117 million), and loss per
share was 1.47 HK cents (2024: 2.03 HK cents). The decrease in the
Group’s loss was mainly due to the reduction in net loss after taxation
to approximately HK$51 million (2024: HK$64 million) of the property
investment business, resulting from the decrease in the fair value loss
from revaluation of investment properties as at 31 March 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEwEDth

Review of financial position

Regarding the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2025, total
assets decreased by 19% to approximately HK$609 million (2024
HK$755 million), which was mainly due to the recognition of carrying
costs of stock of properties to costs of properties sold arising from
the sale of properties during the year and the fair value loss from
revaluation of investment properties made as at 31 March 2025. As
at 31 March 2025, net current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$183 million (2024: HK$166 million), whereas current ratio deriving
from the ratio of current assets to current liabilities amounted to 0.66
times (2024: 0.70 times). Such changes were mainly affected by
the recognition of carrying costs of stock of properties to costs of
properties sold arising from the sale of properties during the year.

The net cash outflow from operating activities was approximately
HK$12 million (2024: net cash inflow of approximately HK$40 million).
The net cash inflow from investing activities was approximately
HK$29 million (2024: HK$2 million). Taking into account the net cash
outflow from financing activities of approximately HK$32 million (2024:
HK$43 million), the Group recorded a net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$15 million (2024: HK$1 million). After
accounting for the exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$0.3 million during the year under review, the balance
of cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$20
million as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$35 million).

Shareholders’ funds attributable to owners of the Company decreased
by 60% to approximately HK$57 million (2024: HK$142 million),
representing HK$0.01 per share (2024: HK$0.02 per share) as at 31
March 2025. The change in equity was resulted from the net loss for
the year of approximately HK$85 million (2024: HK$117 million), and
after net of the Renminbi exchange loss arising from translation of
foreign operations of approximately HK$0.3 million (2024: HK$6 million)
during the year under review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwEDth

Review of operations and business
development

Printing business

The printing business includes the manufacture and sale of printed
products, including art books, packaging boxes and children’s books,
with the production facilities located in Huizhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC. It recorded an operating profit of approximately
HK$11 million (2024: HK$5 million) for the year under review.

Under the influence of the soft demand of printed products resulting
from the decelerating economic growth momentum under the
high inflationary environment in Europe and the United States of
America, the revenue of the printing business recorded a decline to
approximately HK$118 million (2024: HK$131 million) for the year
under review. However, the gross margin compared to last financial
year has improved by adopting various cost control measures and
by enhancing its competitive edge in innovative design, quality
management and production resources. The management also reacts
promptly to reduce the market challenges to a minimum by devising
various modernized sourcing, manufacturing, distribution, logistics and
market segmentation solutions.

The management remains cautiously optimistic about the growth
momentum in the global book printing and paper packaging markets,
and appropriate risk management and prompt business deployment
have been carried out to channel threats into growth opportunities.
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Review of operations and business
development (Continued)

Property development business

The property development business involves the development, sale
and trading of real estate properties principally in Mainland China. It
recorded an operating loss of approximately HK$24 million (2024:
HK$35 million) for the year. The operating loss was mainly resulted
from the provision for impairment of stock of properties relating to the
residential properties of approximately HK$15 million (2024: HK$5
million) for the property development project in Zigong City, which was
affected by the liquidity crisis of property developers to recoup cash
by lowering price. The project contributed revenue of approximately
HK$84 million (2024: HK$85 million) to the Group, which was
generated from the sale of residential units with gross floor area of
approximately 8,000 square meters (“sq m”) (2024: 7,000 sq m) during
the year.

On 1 August 2019, the Group acquired a residential property
development business containing three plots of land forming part of
the Zhonggang Shenhai Forest Project (R 7 #2875 # B B), located
in the high-tech industrial development zone of the Yanluyu District
of Wolong Lake in Zigong City, Sichuan Province, the PRC (7 [ 8
NEEEmeMkiMEXMAERSHEARPERAR &). Despite
the gross floor area of approximately 190,000 sg m being sold and
delivered before the date of acquisition, the three plots of land have an
aggregate remaining gross floor area of approximately 500,000 sq m
available for sales recognition subsequent to 1 August 2019. As at 31
March 2025, out of this gross floor area of approximately 500,000 sq
m, completed residential units with gross floor area of approximately
490,000 sg m had been delivered to customers. As at 31 March 2025,
the carrying value of the completed properties for sale in Zigong City
amounted to approximately HK$179 million (2024: HK$263 million).
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Review of operations and business
development (Continued)

Property development business (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the last 15 units of residential
villas at the estate Ju Hao Shan Zhuang (also known as Beverly Hills)
situated in Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC with gross floor
area of approximately 4,700 sg m had been sold and contributed
revenue of approximately HK$48 million to the Group. The Group no
longer held any residential villas for sale as at 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024.

The Group remains cautious in monitoring the real estate market in
Mainland China in order to continue to optimise the operations of
property development business to maximise return for its shareholders.

Property investment business

The property investment business involves the investment and
leasing of real estate properties, which recorded an operating loss of
approximately HK$53 million (2024: HK$74 million) for the year under
review. The loss was mainly resulted from the unrealised revaluation
loss of the investment properties located in Hong Kong and Mainland
China of approximately HK$48 million (2024: HK$72 million), which
their market values as at 31 March 2025 were being affected by the
weak market sentiment resulting from the slower-than-expected
growth in Mainland China and Hong Kong’s economy. Moreover, a
shift in the Hong Kong market was observed, with increased cross-
border consumption in Mainland China. This shift contributed to a
moderation in the demand of properties for retail use.

Meanwhile, the Group has fully disposed the investment properties
located in Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC with a net
loss amounted to approximately HK$7 million during the year under
review.
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Review of operations and business
development (Continued)

Property investment business (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held the following investment
properties carried at fair market value of approximately HK$232
million (2024: HK$321 million), which contributed rental income of
approximately HK$4 million (2024: HK$7 million) during the year:

EEREHFUREN (B

MEREER (B)

RTERF=ZRA=+—0 > FxEBFE T
AFHEN2.32FET (T2 TNF 32178
70) ZREWE  RERNERMEZIWAL4008
B (CTEZME 7008 BT ¢

Location Gross Floor Area Usage

hEs BE@ER R&E

Investment properties in Hong Kong

BBZIREME

Shop B, Ground Floor, Wuhu Residence, No. 111 Wuhu Street, Hunghom, Kowloon 1,014 square feet Commercial

(qu ft”)

FLBEATT ZR A HT 111 SREOHE T B B &R 1,014 5 R [EES

Shop D, Ground Floor, Wuhu Residence, No. 111 Wuhu Street, Hunghom, Kowloon 1,293 sq ft Commercial

FLBEAT N AT 111 SREH B 3 T DR # 1,293 F IR EES

Shops 3, 4, 5, Parkes Residence, No. 101 Parkes Street, Kowloon 2,090 sq ft Commercial

FBEEINTET101 5838 - #FHI T 35% ~ 4 5% 52 5 5% B & 2,090 F /5 R EES

Investment properties in Mainland China

PREXEZIREME

Level 6, Chengdu Digital Plaza, No. 1 Renmin South Road Fourth Portion, 4,255 sgm Commercial
Wuhou District, Chengdu City, Sichuan Province, the PRC

FREDPT)|E AR T RV E & A R E RS U ER 1 SE AL BB ELAE 35 618 4,255 75 3K [EES

Units 01, 02, 03, 06 and 07, 38th Floor, R&F Yingkai Square, No. 16 Huaxia Road, 895 sgm Office
Tianhe District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC*

HFEEREENTRAIERESK169E N&EFESBBOIZE~02FE ~03F +  8I5FFK RFig

06 EKRO7TE"

*

The investment properties have been disposed during the year.

The Group remains cautiously optimistic about the prospect of the
property investment business. The portfolio of investment properties
was acquired for long term investment purpose so as to provide a
stable income stream to the Group. The Group keeps on monitoring
the capital change and rental yields of the portfolio and considers to
rebalance the investment portfolio when ideal opportunities arise.
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Review of operations and business
development (Continued)

Treasury business

The treasury business involves the investment and trading of debts,
equity and other treasury instruments, as well as the licensed regulated
activities namely advising on securities (Type 4) and asset management
(Type 9) under the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Law of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. An operating loss of approximately
HK$2 million (2024: HK$1 million) was recorded for the year under
review, which was mainly affected by an impairment loss of intangible
assets as at 31 March 2025 of approximately HK$0.4 million (2024:
nil).

The Group remains cautious in monitoring the investment portfolio’s
underlying price risk and credit risk by adopting an optimal risk-return
balance investment strategy. In order to capture opportunities in the
Hong Kong asset management market emerging from being a leading
global financial hub within the Greater Bay Area, the Group is exploring
into the financial and asset management services markets.

Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately HK$609 million (2024: HK$755 million), which were
financed by shareholders’ funds and various credit facilities. Banking
facilities are maintained to finance the Group’s working capital and
committed capital expenditures, which bear interest at market rate
with contractual terms of repayment ranging from within one year to
five years. The Group adopts a treasury policy to maximize the return
on equity, which manages the funding requirements for new capital
projects by considering all available options including a hybrid of debt
and equity financing.
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Liquidity and capital resources (Continued)

The Group mainly generated income and incurred costs in Hong
Kong dollar, Renminbi and United States dollar. During the year under
review, no financial instruments had been used for hedging purpose,
and no foreign currency net investments had been hedged by currency
borrowings or other hedging instruments. The Group manages
the exposures of fluctuation on exchange rate and interest rate on
individual transaction basis.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank and other borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$132 million (2024: HK$156 million)
while bank borrowings approximately HK$105 million (2024: HK$129
million) which were repayable on demand or within one year. The bank
borrowings bore interest at floating rate, approximately HK$88 million
(2024: HK$118 million) of which were denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and approximately HK$17 million (2024: HK$11 million) of which
were denominated in Renminbi. The Group’s gearing ratio was 2.32
(2024: 1.10), which was calculated based on the ratio of total bank
and other borrowings of approximately HK$132 million (2024: HK$156
million) to the shareholders’ funds of approximately HK$57 million (2024:
HK$142 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and
restricted bank balances amounted to approximately HK$20 million
(2024: HK$35 million) and approximately HK$4 million (2024: HK$0.01
million) respectively. Approximately HK$16 million (2024: HK$12 million)
of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank balances
were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, approximately HK$0.1
million (2024: HK$1 million) were denominated in United States dollar,
approximately HK$8 million (2024: HK$22 million) were denominated
in Renminbi and approximately HK$0.2 million (2024: HK$0.2 million)
were denominated in other currencies. As at 31 March 2025, the
Group had a net debt position (being bank and other borrowings
net of cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank balances) of
approximately HK$108 million (2024: HK$121 million).
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Outlook

Looking ahead to 2025, inflation is expected to continue to slow
down. Interest rates in major global economies are anticipated to
have decreased in the first half of 2025 compared to the same period
in 2024, and it is likely that rates will continue to decline further. This
trend will set the stage for a stable reduction in interest rates over
the coming years, fostering a recovery in global economic growth. It
is expected that the Chinese government will intensify its efforts to
stabilise macroeconomic growth, leading to gradual improvements in
key economic indicators. The Chinese economy is projected to make
consistent progress while maintaining stability.

Although economic recovery is expected, we believe that investors will
maintain a cautious and conservative approach, only considering high-
quality and impactful investments and seizing opportunities that have a
solid foundation in the market to achieve risk diversification. Changes in
investment sentiment will also result in fluctuations in the evaluation of
real estate investment and fixed income investment returns.

Leveraging on the effective risk management and internal control
systems, the Group is staying particular alert to market value volatility
of our investment portfolios. Supported by decades of remarkable
operation of the printing business, the Group is seeking further
business development in growth-enhancing investment opportunities in
various industries.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2025, the Group provided financial guarantees in
respect of mortgage loans made by certain banks to certain purchasers
of the properties in the PRC, either directly provided to the banks or
to the housing provident fund management center who arranged the
bank mortgage, which amounted to approximately HK$601 million
(2024: HK$706 million).
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2025, the Group pledged certain assets including
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and investment
properties with an aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$186
million (2024: HK$234 million) to secure bank facilities of the Group.
The bank facilities of the Group are also secured by charges over
equity interests in a subsidiary of the Group as at 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2025, the other borrowings of approximately
HK$22,213,000 (2024: nil) are secured by the pledge of the
Group’s completed properties for sale amounting to approximately
HK$18,626,000 (2024: nil).

Commitments

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have capital expenditure
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements (2024: nil).

Environmental, Social and Compliance
Matters

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements of the business
operations and the key relationships with its employees, customers,
suppliers and others that have significant impact on the Group are
provided in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” as set
out on pages 73 to 122 of this annual report.

During the year under review, the Group had complied with all
the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impacts on
the businesses and operations of the Group. As far as the Board
and management are aware, there was no material breach of or
noncompliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
that has a significant impact on the businesses and operations of the
Group.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

As stated in the enterprise risk management framework of
the“Corporate Governance Report”, the Group has assessed and
identified key risks in terms of strategic, operational and financial
aspects facing the Group in accordance with the likelihood of their
occurrence and the significance of their impact on the business
of the Group. An effective risk management system is in place to
manage the key risks and response plans have been evaluated by the
management.

Certain financial risks and uncertainties about critical judgements and
key estimates are also set out in notes 6 and 5, respectively to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Certain environmental and social related risks have been described
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” as set out on
pages 73 to 122 of this annual report.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of
Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31
March 2025.

Event After the Reporting Period

In respect of the bank borrowing of HK$88,000,000 which the Group
breached the financial covenant during the year, the Group has
obtained a one-off waiver from the bank on 27 June 2025 for the
financial covenant of the aforesaid bank borrowing that throughout
the life of the facility, the Group agrees and undertakes to the bank
that its consolidated tangible net worth should not at any time be less
than a certain level. This one-off waiver only applies to the Group’s
announcement of unaudited and audited annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2025. The repayment schedules of the borrowing
and the repayment on demand clause remain unchanged. Further,
the Group has repaid HK$4,000,000 to the bank on 8 April 2025 in
accordance with the repayment schedule.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFEREREEEABZREEFS

Executive Directors
Mr. Xiang Jun

Mr. Xiang Jun (“Mr. Xiang”) was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 1 February 2025. He is also a member of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company.

Mr. Xiang Jun, 50, is currently the Assistant General Manager of a
garden landscape project company in Chengdu. Mr. Xiang has many
years of working experience including real estate management and
project management. Mr. Xiang has rich experience in communicating
and cooperation with local government departments and officials. Our
Group believes that the past working experience of Mr. Xiang can help
to promote the various projects and businesses of our Group in future.

Ms. Zhou Lan

Ms. Zhou Lan, (“Ms. Zhou”) was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 1 September 2024.

Ms. Zhou Lan, (“Ms. Zhou”), 51, graduated from the Zigong Shi
Economics and Finance School in 1994. Ms. Zhou also obtained other
academic qualifications in accounting and finance. She started as an
accounting staff and later became the head of finance. Ms. Zhou has
thirty years working experience in accounting and finance. She worked
with companies in various industries including construction project,
labour service, trading and logistics. Ms. Zhou joined our Group in
2021 and she is currently working in the finance department of a
subsidiary of our Group in mainland China.

* For identification purpose only

HITES
[395E4E

Mgkt (Mt R_E_AF_F—H%E
ZERTABRTEFT BT B/EATREBE
BEZENHINEEEERE -

MI95EE > 505% » RAEB —BEREEM TER
AREBEE BEERBEZFTHFER 25
MEEE - ITREESF miEEEt TN
FEFMNEE  AMMAREEEREEBEERS
TEAEER - AEEBEBREBER TIEAEEREE
MBS AERSRRBEENEBHER

BA=%t
Bzt (BLEt)R-B-MNEAS—HE
EEAFATRTES

Bt 515 E@—hh@&%%ﬁ?@éﬁiﬁﬁ
RER - BLEITIRGHEME S RUHR

KHAERAETERERAMBESA - )ﬁiz
TEAE=TFEHAUBIFEER - KEES

FTENRB TIFRIERETRE  FHRH%
BERMARE - BLITRN _E_—FMARE
B RTEAEE PR ARE T AR FEELIE

Y EHEE

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 - —ZE — A FF R 27



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREEREEASZEEFE

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Zhengjun

Mr. Wang Zhengjun (“Mr. Wang”), aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee on 26 January 2022. Mr. Wang was the
Dean of the Dongwei Research Institute of Beijing Dongwei Law Firm
from 2021 to January 2024. Since February 2024 Mr. Wang serves
as the Dean of the Law Research Institute of Beijing Pingli Law Firm
and is mainly responsible for negotiating commercial litigation cases,
commercial bankruptcy cases, corporate mergers and acquisitions and
reorganisation, advising legal opinions, research on legal professional
issues and conducting legal case studies.

Mr. Wang possess years of experience in enterprise operation and
management. Before joining Beijing Dongwei Law Firm, Mr. Wang
served in Law Press China from 2013 to 2020 and his last position was
the deputy general manager and the sales director. Mr. Wang worked
in China Legal Books Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2012 and his last position
was the chairman of the board and the general manager.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the School
of Economics, Renmin University of China in 1994. He received a
master’s degree from the Law School of Renmin University of China in
2000.

28 Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B4 A S ER&H B R A 7

BIERITES
EIRERE

THESE TEHRE) 64 KT
—AZTABEZERBIUIFNTEST B
ZEGTFE BERZEGNFNEZEETHE -
FREBZZE_—HFE_Z_MNF—AZAI
REREEMEBAAREAERRE - ThE
BE-Z_MF_RAESHILR FERMEBF
ERMAERR TE2EERERRENT B
EWERM ARHBEAHBERIA RMH
FRERFREXEBEMRUKRETERSR
HHIBIBRZE

ITREBESEZLEEEREEEER - 1M
BIERTRERMELFA EAEE-F
—=—FE"ZTTFHRRMERIERBRAEAR
ANE REBUSRBCEREHEES - £X
FEETZRFE_E-_FEHPEEEE
SERAE BB AEERRABEE -

FRER—NNOFEFPEARKSELEKS
RSB E2 LB - RN _ZZTFREHEH
ARREBESIETAIRESR -



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREEREEASZEEFE

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Liu Ying Shun

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (“Mr. Liu”), aged 41, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 25 November 2022. He is also
a member and the chairman of the audit committee, a member of the
nomination committee and a member of the remuneration committee
of the Company,

Mr. Liu has more than 16 years of experience in the field of audit and
assurance. He founded Zhong Pu Risk Management Limited (“Zhong
Pu”), a company which provides business advisory, consultancy and
taxation services in 2017 and has been a director of Zhong Pu since
then. Since December 2024, Mr. Liu has been an executive director
of Flydoo Technology Holding Limited (the shares of which are listed
on The Stock Exchange) (stock code: 8069). Since August 2021, Mr.
Liu has been an independent non-executive director of MIE Holdings
Corporation (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange)
(stock code: 1555). Prior to founding Zhong Pu, Mr. Liu worked as an
assurance manager and senior associate at PricewaterhouseCoopers
Limited from 2014 to 2016 and 2010 to 2012, respectively, a finance
manager at Wong’s Kong King International (Holdings) Limited (the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 532)
from 2012 to 2013, and also at Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA
Limited (an accounting firm which has been merged into BDO Limited)
from 2006 to 2009, with his last position as a senior associate. Mr. Liu
obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from Lingnan
University in Hong Kong and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 2010.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Wang Ping

Mr. Wang Ping (“Mr. Wang”) was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 20 July 2024. He is also a
member of the Nomination Committee, member and chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Wang Ping (“Mr. Wang”), aged 49, graduated from the South-
West Finance University accounting profession course in 1994, has
the professional qualifications as a registered accountant, asset valuer,
realty estate valuer and land valuer in Mainland China. Mr. Wang joined
the audit profession in 1998, has extensive experience in auditing,
accounting, finance and asset valuation. Mr. Wang joined Sichuan
Zhongheng Anxin Accounting Firm Limited in 2006, is currently the
director, assistant general manager and head of their Zigong office
since January 2020.
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Senior Management

Mr. Cheung Chun Sau Conrad (“Mr. Cheung”) was appointed as
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company in August 2022. He is
responsible for the financial management and treasury functions of
the Group and acts as the coordinator for the internal audit, internal
control, and risk management functions of the Group in relation to
corporate governance compliance.

Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration in
Accountancy and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has over 10 years of experience in financial
management, accounting and auditing, including specialties in Initial
Public Offerings and mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Cheung has
worked for several international accounting firms, with a 7-year tenure
at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
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Corporate Governance Report

EEERRS

Introduction

The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate
governance that properly protects and promotes the interests of its
shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the “Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31 March
2025, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code.

Linkage between corporate governance and
environment, social and governance

Corporate governance can be considered as the framework within
which the Board forms their decisions and develop their businesses.
The Board’s focus is on creating long-term sustainable growth for the
shareholders and delivering long-term values to the stakeholders.

An effective corporate governance structure allows the Group to
have a better understanding of, evaluate and manage risks, including
environment, social and governance (“ESG”) risks. The Board is
responsible for setting strategic objectives for risk management,
implementing risk management values, evaluating and approving risk
management policies, ensuring effective and adequacy of the risk
management system.

For the principal risks faced by the Group’s business, please refer to
“Principal Risks and Uncertainties” set out in section “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

For the details of environmental, social and governance matters for the
year ended 31 March 2025, please refer to the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” as set out on pages 73 to 122 of this annual
report.
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(A) The Board

34

The Board is responsible for overseeing the business and
strategies of the Group with the objective of enhancing value
for its shareholders. The Board determines business plans and
budgets, regularly reviews the Group’s financial performance
and monitors the Group’s management. To cultivate good
governance, the Board also reviews the Group’s operation and
policies from time to time.

(i)

Board Composition

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each
Director having sound knowledge, experience and/or
expertise relevant to the business of the Group. The Board
has on a regular basis reviewed the composition of the
Board and the skills and experience required for both the
executive and non-executive Directors, in the context of the
business and strategies of the Group.

The composition of the Board as at 31 March 2025 and up
to the date of this annual report were as follows:

(A) EETE

EXSaEREAERZEFRRE 5
ERERRIEE EFTBEEXEHTEK
BE  EHERAERMBRELREER
EEEEIfF- ABUIRKER EFF
AR AEBNEEREUR

() EETHEHES

EFEEBEE MERKEFIA
BRAEREBEFZESENH
BBk NEXENH EFTTRERE
FEBZEZREBERRNES
g2z EHAENEERIT RIERNIT
EERFTERZ AR AEER

W_E_RARF=ZHF=Z+—H
REEXRERAR EEITREN
HEWT -

Names Positions
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Mr. Xiang Jun (appointed on 1 February 2025) Executive Director
BERE (RS _RE_A—HEZMT) HITES

Ms. Zhou Lan (appointed on 1 September 2024) Executive Director
BZzt+t (RZZ2ZNOFNE—HEZMDT HITES

Mr. Wang Zhengjun

FHELRE

Mr. Liu Ying Shun

EE e

Mr. Wang Ping (appointed on 20 July 2024)

FELEE (R ZEZNFLAZ+HESM)
Ms. Mou Li (resigned on 1 February 2025)
EFL+ (RN _B-_AF_-/F—HED
Mr. Liang Fan (resigned on 1 September 2024)
RELE (R_E_NENA—HEHD)
Mr. Xu Jianfeng (resigned on 20 July 2024)
HEERLE (RZ2_mELA -+ HED

Biographical details of each of the present Directors are set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. None of the
existing members of the Board nor the senior management
of the Company is related to one another.

Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B KB DB R A A

Independent non-executive director
BUFRITESE
Independent non-executive director
BUFRITESE
Independent non-executive director
BUFRITESR

Executive Director

HiTES

Executive Director

HiTES

Independent non-executive director

BIIFRITES

BRREEFZREFBHNAER
EEReEEEABZRBEFE
—Hi - ARBAEFEHRAEMERS
EEEASRHEM SN MEAE -



Corporate Governance Report

EEERRS

(A) The Board (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Board Composition (Continued)

Mr. Wang Ping (“Mr. Wang”), who was appointed as a
Director on 20 July 2024, obtained the advice referred to
in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 19 July 2024; Ms.
Zhou Lan (“Ms. Zhou”), who was appointed as a Director
on 1 September 2024, obtained the advice referred to in
Rule 3.09D on 30 August 2024; and Mr. Xiang Jun (“Mr.
Xiang”), who was appointed a Director on 1 February 2025,
obtained the advice referred to in Rule 3.09D on 28 January
2025. Mr. Wang, Ms. Zhou and Mr. Xiang confirmed that
they understood their obligations as a Director.

Board Meetings

Arrangements were in place to ensure that sufficient notice
and adequate information were given to each Director prior
to the Board meetings. The Company’s company secretary
and senior management assist the Directors in preparing
the agenda for meetings and ensure that all applicable
rules and regulations are complied with. The Directors are
able to seek independent professional advice in performing
their duties at the Company’s expense in appropriate
circumstances or upon their request.

Minutes of Board and committees meetings were kept
in sufficient details to reflect the decisions made in the
relevant meetings and were available for inspection by the
Directors.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year.
Special meeting of the Board will be convened whenever
necessary. The Board has held thirteen meetings during
the year under review. The table below sets out the number
of meetings of the Board and its committees, individual
attendance by the Board and committee members at these
meetings and the annual general meeting (the “AGM”)
during the year under review.
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(A) The Board (Continued) A EEE (B
(i) Board Meetings (Continued) (i) EFTE:E @)
The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings BNEEFAZEEEERUFER
held during the year is as follows: FREAT -
Chairman and
Independent
Nomination ~ Remuneration Audit Non-executive
Board Committee Committee Committee Directors
Name of Directors Meetings Meeting Meetings Meetings AGM Meeting’
IER
3 REZRY HMesg BNZRY RREE BB
EEfY ] ] gE ] N} EZgE
Number of meeting(s) attended/held
L/ BTEERY
Executive Directors BTESR
Mr. Xiang Jun mikE 0/0 00 0/0 NATER 0/0 0/0
Ms. Zhou Lan B=ut 2/2 NATER NATER NATER 0/0 NATER
Ms. Mou Li BFgt 4/4 33 33 NATER il il
Mr. Liang Fan RERE 2/2 NATER NATER NATER 17 NATER
Independent Non-executive BikdTEE
Directors
Mr. Wang Zhengjun IHELRE 5/5 474 4/4 2/2 1 1
Mr. Liu Ying Shun BB 5/5 44 44 202 11 1
Mr. Wang Ping TFRE 3/3 2/2 2/2 1 1 0/0
Mr. Xu Jianfeng skt 11 11 11 17 0/0 17
Note: BT
1. Code provision C.2.7 stipulates that the chairman of the Board 1. STRMENEC2 7R EEEgER (T
(the “Chairman”) should at least annually hold meetings with the ) BRVESFABIUFNTEER
independent non-executive directors without the presence of other T—gs BUEEMEBREHE -F
directors. Since the roles of the Company’s Chairman and chief A ARA R B FFERITHABR Z B
executive officer have been performed by the executive Directors on HATESHERT £2FALTREE
a collective basis, Ms. Mou Li served the role of Chairman to hold EAGHRBTFNTESRIT XY
a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors during the HoEFERAERRABETTRIFRX
year. The Board believes that the Company has complied with the FC2T71K -

code provision C.2.7.
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(A) The Board (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

During the year, the roles of the Company’s Chairman
and chief executive officer have been performed by the
executive Directors on a collective basis.

The Board believes that the aforesaid arrangement
provided the Company with flexibility and allowed for
effective and efficient planning and implementation
of business decisions and strategies. The Board also
considers that the above-mentioned arrangement did not
impair the balance of power and authority between the
Board and the management of the Company. The Board
will review the current practice from time to time and make
appropriate changes if necessary.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The procedures and process of the appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors are laid down in the
Company’s Articles of Association. In accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association and the Listing Rules,
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors,
including those appointed for a specific term, for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to, but not exceeding, one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that all
the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation no later
than the third annual general meeting of the Company
after he/she was last elected or re-elected. Besides, any
new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall hold office only until the first
general meeting after appointment and are eligible for re-
election. All retiring Directors are eligible for re-election by
the shareholders at the respective general meetings.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for
an initial term of two years, subject to retirement by rotation
as aforesaid.

(A) EFF (&)

(iii)

(iv)
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(A) The Board (Continued)

38

(v)

Nomination Committee

A nomination committee was established by the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) with clear terms of reference.
The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the Board composition, a board diversity
policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”) and a
nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”)
on a regular basis, recommending any proposed changes
to the Board for approval, and assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive
Director, Mr. Xiang Jun, and three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Wang Zhengjun, Mr. Liu Ying Shun
and Mr. Wang Ping, with Mr. Wang Zhengjun acting as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee is summarized as follows:

— reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board;

—  considered and recommended to the Board on the
re-election of the retiring Directors at the Company’s
2024 annual general meeting;

— assessed the independence of each independent
non-executive Director; and

— reviewed the terms of reference for the Nomination
Committee, the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during
the year. The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board
is maintained and will continue to achieve the measurable
objective to implement the Board Diversity Policy. The
attendance record of the members at the Nomination
Committee meeting is set out in the table under “The
Board” section.
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(A) The Board (Continued) A EETE (B

(vi) IRBBER

(vi) Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy was adopted in January 2019. In
accordance with the Nomination Policy, the Nomination
Committee shall consider, among other things, the
following factors in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate: (a) reputation for integrity; (b) qualifications,
skills, experience and independence that the candidate
can bring to the Board in all its aspects; (c) commitment
in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to the
Company’s business; and (d) the Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee has discretion to nominate any
person, as it considers appropriate. Proposed candidates
will be asked to submit the necessary personal information,
together with their written consent to be appointed as a
director and to the public disclosure of their personal data
on any documents or relevant websites in relation to their
nomination or otherwise pursuant to applicable legal and
regulatory requirements. The Nomination Committee may
request candidates to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary. The Nomination
Policy is available on the website of the Company.

(vii) Board Diversity

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has
the appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives that are required to support
the execution of its business strategy for sustainable and
balanced development.
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(A) The Board (Continued)
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(vii) Board Diversity (Continued)

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted in September 2013
and revised in January 2019. The Nomination Committee
is delegated the authority, amongst other things, to review
and assess the diversity of the Board and recommend
suitable candidate to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors. In designing the Board’s
composition, the Nomination Committee shall consider a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural, educational background, professional experience
and skills and shall also take into account factors based on
the Company’s own business model and specific needs.
The Nomination Committee shall review and assess the
structure, size, composition of the Board from time to time
and make recommendations to the Board for implementing
diversity with adequate consideration of the Board Diversity
Policy as appropriate.

The selection of candidates will be based on the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy. The
ultimate decision shall be based on a merit basis against
objective criteria and contribution that the candidate will
bring to the Board. The Company values gender diversity
and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity
at all levels of our Company, including but without limitation
at the Board and senior management levels, to enhance
the effectiveness of our corporate governance as a whole.
Taking into account of our existing business model and
the background and experience of our Directors, the
Nomination Committee considered that the composition of
the Board satisfies the Board Diversity Policy. The Board
Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company.

The Company’s measurable objective is to achieve not
less than one-sixth of the Board comprising of females and
not less than one-third of our workforce (including senior
management) comprising of females.

As at 31 March 2025, there is one-fifth of the Board
members comprising of females while there is about
one-half of our workforce (including senior management)
comprising of females.
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(A) The Board (Continued)

(viii) Responsibilities of Directors

(ix)

Each Director is required to keep abreast of his/her
responsibilities as a Director and each Director is provided
in a timely manner with appropriate information of the
Group to enable him/her to make an informed decision
and to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities as
a Director. On appointment, new Director will be given
a comprehensive induction to the Group’s business.
Directors ensure that they give sufficient time and attention
to the Company’s affairs. Appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of legal action against the Directors is arranged
by the Company.

Directors’ and Relevant Employees’
Dealings in Securities

The Company has adopted the model code for securities
transactions by directors of listed issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
the Company’s code of conduct for dealings in securities
of the Company by the Directors. In response to specific
enquiries by the Company, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2025.

The Company has also established written guidelines and
adopted the Model Code (collectively, the “Guidelines”)
to govern securities transactions by employees who are
likely to possess inside information of the Company and/
or its securities. No incident of non-compliance with
the Guidelines by relevant employees was noted by the
Company.
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(A) The Board (Continued)

42

(x)

Independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are made available
to the Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board
are committed to assessing the Directors’ independence
annually with regards to all relevant factors related to
the Independent Non-executive Directors including the
following:

° required character, integrity, expertise, experience
and stability to fulfill their roles;

° time commitment and attention to the Company’s
affairs;

° firm commitment to their independent roles and to
the Board;

° declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as
Independent Non-executive Directors;

° cross directorships or significant links with other
Directors;

° no involvement in the daily management of the
Company nor in any relationship or circumstances
which would affect the exercise of their independent
judgement;

° further reappointment of an Independent Non-
executive Director (including the long-serving
Independent Non-executive Director) is subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders; and

° a designated director served as role of Chairman to
meet with the Independent Non-executive Directors
regularly.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Ying Shun, Mr.
Wang Ping and Mr. Wang Zhengjun, an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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EEERRS

(A) The Board (Continued)

(x)

Independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors (Continued)

The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent in light of the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee and the Board have also taken
into account the respective contributions to the Board of
the Independent Non-executive Directors and their firm
commitments to their independent roles.

The wide breath of knowledge and diversity of their
experiences make each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors invaluable members of, and active contributors,
to the Board. Moreover, they do not hold any cross-
directorships or have any significant links with other
Directors through involvement in other companies or
bodies that could give rise to conflicts of interest in their
roles as Independent Non-executive Directors and they are
not involved in the daily management of the Company nor
in any relationships or circumstances which would affect
the exercise of their independent judgment. They continue
to demonstrate their ability to provide an independent,
balanced and objective view to the affairs of the Company.

The Nomination Committee was satisfied that each of
the Independent Non-executive Director has the required
character, integrity and experience to fulfill the role of an
independent non-executive Director.
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(A) The Board (Continued)

44

(xi) Directors’ Training

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company should be
responsible for arranging and funding training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of
the Directors.

During the year, the Company had arranged seminars and
provided reading materials to the Directors that are relevant
to their duties and responsibilities. A summary of the
training record of each Director received by the Company
is as follows:

(A) EFF (@)
(xi) EFZ

REEXEATIZTARXE
Claff FREESRRASEFES
FRE o DU R R B HOA 3 s B
fERERERTEFEREEER
DREEZEMN FREEEER
BREREI > ETHEEZAG
BENBETUBEZER -

AEE ARBDABEFZHER
BB ARELHITERIEHFR
Bl - UTAEARNEIAREA
BRI HmE

Attending Reading/
briefings/ studying
seminars/ training or
conferences/ other
forums materials
HEGNE RE 28
metg, 54159
Name of Directors BEEHRF & i Hiatil
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Xiang Jun (appointed on mESE (RTZ22HEF
1 February 2025) —A—HEEE) 4 v
Ms. Zhou Lan (appointed on B=ZZ+t (R_&FmF
1 September 2024) hNE—HEEE) v 4
Ms. Mou Li (resigned on BT (RE_RE
1 February 2025) —B—H#HD) N/AZ i A N/ATiE
Mr. Liang Fan (resigned on REEE (RIETWEF
1 September 2024) NBE—BEE) N/ATRE A N/AR A
Independent non-executive BIMIERITES
directors
Mr. Wang Zhengjun FTEESE v 4
Mr. Liu Ying Shun BHEELG: v v
Mr. Wang Ping (appointed on FFEE RS HE
20 July 2024) tAZ+HEET) v v
Mr. Xu Jianfeng (resigned on gt (W2 HF
20 July 2024) TtAZ+HEHMD) N/AZ1E A N/ATE A
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EEERRS

(B) Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

(i)

(i)

Remuneration Policy of Directors and
Senior Management

The Group’s remuneration policy seeks to provide a fair
market remuneration so as to attract, retain and motivate
high quality staff. The Group will set levels of remuneration
to ensure comparability and competitiveness with
companies competing within a similar talent pool.

Such fees and the amounts of emolument of the other
Directors are determined by reference to their duties and
responsibilities within the Company, the remuneration
benchmark in the industry and the prevailing market
conditions.

Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee was established by the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) with clear
terms of reference and is primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure of all Directors’ and
senior management’s remuneration, on the Company’s
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy, on the remuneration
packages of executive Directors and senior management,
and on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee performs an advisory role to
the Board with the Board retaining the final authority to
approve the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management (i.e. the model (c)(ii) as stipulated in code
provision E.1.2(c) of the CG Code is adopted).

The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive
Director, Mr. Xiang Jun, and three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Wang Ping, Mr. Liu Ying Shun
and Mr. Wang Zhengjun, with Mr. Wang Ping acting as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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EEXERRS

(B) Remuneration of Directors and Senior (B)
Management (Continued)

(i) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year, the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee is summarized as follows:

— reviewed the remuneration package and the
supplemental service agreements of the executive
Directors and recommended to the Board for
approval;

— reviewed the remuneration policy of the Group
and the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and

—  reviewed matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during
the year. The attendance record of the members at the
Remuneration Committee meeting is set out in the table
under “The Board” section.

(iii) Remuneration of Senior Management
Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,

the annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 March 2025 is

(iii)

REEEEANEZHM

#wMEEE (&)

AEE > HFNEZEFETZTHER
Y -

— BAFMNEFERATERZHE
ERFHELAEEEFHE
BERLUMIAE

— REEFGRIZEEERK
REWHN AR FHINERR
BEEZHMERE &

— BRELHRASBSTCERLEA
FRMNETEIEE -

HNEEEERENRIT —REE -
FNEZEGNE T HFHENE
g —HERTREBA -

= EE A S HM
RIFEEEATNZFHHEXE

E1 5 BHEE_SE_HA5=H
Tt HIEEESEBEEEBAEZE

set out below: FEEAR &AW T :
Number of
individuals
Remuneration band (HK$) M =48 50 GBJT) A8
Nil to 1,000,000 2 21,000,000 2

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year
ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EEERRS

(C) Accountability and Audit

(i)

(i)

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility
to prepare the consolidated financial statements and to
present a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment
of the performance, position and prospects of the Group in
the interim and annual reports of the Group.

The responsibilities of the Company’s independent auditor
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 142 to 145 of this annual report.

Audit Committee

An audit committee was established by the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) with clear terms of reference.
The principal duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing
the financial information and reports of the Group and
considering any significant or unusual items raised by
the financial officers of the Group or independent auditor
before submission to the Board; reviewing and supervising
the Group’s financial reporting process and its financial
control, risk management and internal control systems,
and reviewing the relationship with and the terms of
appointment of the independent auditor and making
relevant recommendation to the Board.

(C) AEKRE%Z

(i

(i)

MBHRS

EERIBHAAERRAEETH
BERFRRAZEGYHERE I
MAERZRFE - RARARES
—MALE  BMREEZ Y

RNBBIUIZBEMBZAEB LR
EUMBRRAIEZETEHNEAER
F142 B 145 B2 NEIZBENERS ) ©

BREEY
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EEXERRS

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

48

(i)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The current members of the Audit Committee are three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Liu Ying Shun,
Mr. Wang Ping and Mr. Wang Zhengjun, with Mr. Liu Ying
Shun acting as the chairman of Audit Committee.

During the year, the work performed by the Audit
Committee is summarized as follows:

— reviewed with the Directors and the auditor the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group;

— reviewed the financial control, risk management
and internal control systems and financial reporting
process;

— reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, annual results announcement and annual
report;

—  reviewed the Group’s interim financial statements,
interim results announcement and interim report; and

—  considered and recommended the re-appointment of
the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the
year. The attendance record of the members at the Audit
Committee meetings is set out in the table under “The
Board” section.
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EEERRS

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control

(a)

Responsibilities of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks that
the Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic
objectives; ensuing that the Group establishes and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems; and overseeing
management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of these systems.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for
the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and reviewing the systems’ effectiveness
to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’
interests. These risk management and internal control
systems can provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss; and
they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business
objectives.

Management of the Group is responsible for
designing, implementing and monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems,
and confirming to the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system.
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

Audit Committee
BEREER

Internal Audit
W EBERX

50

FEQAWS

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control

(Continued)

(b)

Risk Management and Internal Control

Governance Framework

Support the Board in
monitoring the design and
operating effectiveness of
the risk management and
internal control systems
XREFSEERARER
R A AP EE 1R R R 5T R
EER

Have an internal audit
function of the Group
BEERNIEZRE
Perform reviews to evaluate
the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal
control systems
FEH AT ERBREE RN
BPESIE R A it
Provide regular reports
(including monthly progress
update reports) to the Audit
Committee
FTHRERZEE@®RS
(REBRAEEE TR

&)

BEMTHAR

Top-down approach

(C) MEREZ (8)
(i) AEEERAIBEEEE (48)

(b)

e

Board of Directors

Bz

e Review the effectiveness of the

Management
EEE

risk management and internal
control systems and have overall
responsibilities for these systems
EHREREE KA EZE RS K
MIHZERZREEE

Share experience and provide direction
on determining the key risks (at
corporate level) and their mitigation
measures

RETEEZRR (RNRABEHE) AR
ERBR R - 5 RIRMI5E

Design, implement and monitor risk
management and internal control
systems

RET BiE R ERE R E R RN E
BERH

Develop risk management policy and
procedures

il ET R B IR R AL P

Provide guidelines on performing risk
assessment and control activities
AT A AT R B R BV 4E 5l
Identify key risks, assess their
respective impact and likelihood
of occurrence, and determine
corresponding mitigation actions

B EERR FTEEEHEETE
K2 R R R 1 - I 7B E AR R B PR
RBE1TE

Oversee management in the design,
implementation, and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control
systems
EBREEAREERAIEZERSN
Rt B R B

e Monitor risk management practices

and internal control activities

EE R E IR G R AT
Provide a confirmation to the Board
on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control
systems
MEZSRERAREIERANPELER
RAEBENRERE

RV E I e P ER R

PN
= /anE

ELATW H

yoeoiddy dn-wonog

Operational Level

Identify, assess and mitigate risks

Bl A KRR
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

(c)

Three Lines of Defence Model

The Board and management of the Group rely on
the adequate line functions, including monitoring and
assurance functions within the Group to ensure the
effectiveness of its risk management and internal
control systems. The Group adopts a ‘Three Lines of
Defence’ model to shield against risks that threaten
the achievement of the Group’s goals, and as a
way of explaining the relationship between these
functions, as illustrated below:

o The first line of defence is provided by the
business units/teams who own and practise the
internal controls on a day-to-day basis;

o The second line of defence is provided by the
risk management and other oversight functions
that assist the Group to monitor the first line of
defence; and

o The third line of defence is provided by the
internal audit function (namely internal audit
department of the Group), which is responsible
for providing independent assurance to the
Group.
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

52

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

(d)

Risk Management

The Board has established an enterprise risk
management (“ERM”) framework with reference to
the key principles of the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations (“COSQ”) of the Treadway Commission
ERM framework, “Enterprise Risk Management —
Integrating with Strategy and Performance” published
in 2017. The Group’s ERM framework includes the
following key features:

Risk Governance Structure

The Group’s risk governance structure
comprises day-to-day operational management
and control, risk and compliance oversight.
The Group has developed a risk management
policy, which outlines the principles and
procedures for the Group to manage its risks
and clearly defines roles and responsibilities
of each of the multiple layers of the structure,
including the Board, the Audit Committee,
department heads, employees at operational
levels and the internal audit department, in
order to achieve the Group’s strategic and
operational goals and objectives.
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EXELRERS

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

(d) Risk Management (Continued)
—  Risk Management Process
A robust risk management process is
developed to identify, evaluate and manage

significant risks, as shown in the diagram
below:

Identify 3% 31
e |dentify the risks faced by the Group
5 )7 S 1 T o O R B

Monitor & Report
EERER

e Perform ongoing monitoring of
risks
EITRHERBER

e Consolidate the results of the
risk assessment; and establish
a detailed action plan
RARBAIRER  REIETF
RITHETE

* Report to management & the
Audit Committee
RERERERZZEGER

Risk Management
Process

R EERRE

4
Respond FE 3

® Select an appropriate risk treatment for

on the identified risks
HE BRI R SIET TR E S

R AR

Risk Management Process
g B E R E

Assess 1
* Analyse the identified risks based
on two dimensions: potential impact
and likelihood of occurrence
BRMEAESTE BB : &
FERBEEMT M

identified key risks Prioritise &% 8E 5
BHAERREE AR EZRK * Prioritise key risks and validate
® Design, evaluate and implement controls top risks

X B R EITEIR T kA

(C) MEREZ (8)
(iii) APEEIERANEPEIIE (48)
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EEXERRS

(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued) (C) MEKREX (1&)
(i) Risk Management and Internal Control (iii) EPREERAIPEEE (B
(Continued)
(d) Risk Management (Continued) d) RREIE @

Risk Management Process (Continued)
Risk Management Process

During the year, the Group conducted
risk assessments at both corporate and
business process levels which include its
principal activities (property development,
manufacturing and trading of printed
products, property investment and treasury
business). It also maintains a risk register that
contains information of key risks, the potential
consequences, the likelihood of occurrence,
impact and overall risk rating. Risk owners will
execute risk mitigation actions and respond to
their assigned risks in the risk register based on
the Board'’s risk tolerance.

The Group has developed a process to identify
and report any new or emerging risks in the
monthly management reports. In addition,
any update on the risk management would be
reported and discussed in the Audit Committee
meetings, in order to effectively monitor
and keep track of the key risks identified at
corporate level.

On an annual basis, the risks in the risk register
are re-evaluated, with consideration of potential
new or emerging risks. Depending on the
changes in circumstances and the external
environment, the Group’s risk tolerance
levels and risk responses would be adjusted
accordingly.
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

Internal Control

(e)

(e)

The Group has implemented an internal control
system with reference to the key principles of the
Internal Control — Integrated Framework established
by the COSO. The main features and components of
the Group’s internal control system are represented
in the following diagram.

1

Control Environment

EEEEIRIR

5 2

Objectives:

Monitoring Activities BiE : Risk Assessment
%E%g e QOperations R TE
EiE
® Reporting
23

e Compliance
a1

4

Information and o
c icati Control Activities
ommunication
ELEEE

B KRB

Internal Control Framework
A EBEEIRAESR
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

56

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

(e)

Internal Control (Continued)
Internal Control Framework

The Group has established group internal audit
department. The head of the internal audit
department of the Group leads the internal audit
function and performs independent reviews of key
business processes of the Group. The internal audit
plan of the Group adopts a risk-based approach,
which is approved by the Audit Committee
annually with an objective to assess the adequacy,
effectiveness, efficiency and reliability of internal
control procedures over financial, operational and
compliance activities of the Group. The internal audit
department of the Group reports the results of the
independent reviews together with the recommended
remedial actions, in the form of internal audit reports,
directly to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.
Follow-up reviews are performed by the internal audit
department of the Group, in order to verify that the
identified issues have been remediated in a timely
manner.

During the year, the internal audit department of
the Group conducted reviews and reported the
status of implementation of remedial actions on
control deficiencies, e.g. through monthly progress
update reports provided to the Audit Committee.
Relevant recommendations reported by the internal
audit department of the Group will be implemented
by management to enhance the Group’s internal
controls, and to resolve material internal control
deficiencies in a timely manner.
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Inside Information

In compliance with the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”, Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and the Main Board Listing Rules, the Group
has developed an inside information disclosure policy
and internal controls for handling and dissemination
of inside information to ensure consistent and timely
disclosure, and fulfilment of the Group’s disclosure
obligations. The Group has also established and
implemented procedures to guide its employees on
how to report and handle inside information, and
strictly prohibit them from any unauthorized use of
inside information.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group is committed to the highest possible
standards of openness, probity and accountability.
Anti-bribery and anti-corruption standards are
important parts of the Group’s policies and operating
practices. In line with this commitment, the Group
has its whistleblowing policy which the employees
and other stakeholders of the Company can raise
concerns, in confidence or anonymously, about
any suspected misconduct or malpractice within
the Company. A designated email account and a
dedicated hotline have been set up for this purpose.
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)
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(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

(h)

Review of Systems Effectiveness

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has
conducted an annual review of the effectiveness
and adequacy of the risk management and internal
control systems by reviewing the work performed by
the internal audit department for the year ended 31
March 2025. The review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance
controls, and risk management functions. The scope
and quality of ongoing monitoring of risks and the
internal control system have been assessed. The
changes in the nature and extent of significant risks
faced by the Group and response plans have been
evaluated.

Management has conducted control self-assessment
on the core business processes annually and the
Board has received a confirmation from management
on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems, and considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

During the review, the Board also assessed and
was satisfied with the adequacy of the resources,
employee qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
financial reporting and internal audit function. Qualified
individuals of the Group maintain and monitor these
internal control procedures on an ongoing basis.

The Board is satisfied that the Group has fully
complied with the code provisions under principle
D.2 of the CG Code regarding risk management and
internal control for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

(iv) Independent Auditor’s Remuneration

(v)

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the
independent auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, is
set out as follows:

(C) MEKRE% (%)
(iv) B\ zE

REEE > BENHBNTHILZHK
MR E R EG NS HAARAR
ZEfEEHT ¢

HK$’000
Services rendered FRig i ARTS FET
Audit and audit related services B % R B ZAARARTS 1,350

Details of the Disclaimer of Opinion and
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Pursuant to Code Provision D.1.3 of Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules, the Board would like to provide more details
on the Disclaimer of Opinion and Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion.

As disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which mentions that the Group incurred a loss
of HK$85,172,000 and had net operating cash outflow of
HK$11,768,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025 and
as at 31 March 2025 the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$182,578,000. In addition, the Group’s bank loans
with the aggregate amount of HK$88,000,000 as at 31
March 2025 contain repayment on demand clause and
financial covenants which were breached during the
year ended 31 March 2025, as detailed in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern and, therefore, that the Group may not be
able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. The directors of the Company
adopted several measures together with other measures
in progress as described in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements to mitigate the liquidity pressure and
improve its financial position and cash flows.
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(v) Details of the Disclaimer of Opinion

and Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
(Continued)

In respect of the Group has actively carried out promotional
activities to attract more customers to purchase the
completed properties in order to increase the sale
proceeds through sales or pre-sales in the coming twelve
months and seeking for other alternatives to increase
its working capital such as disposing of the Group’s
investment properties, management was unable to provide
Independent Auditor with sufficient information about the
details of the plan, including the detailed timetable and
actions to be implemented because of the unpredictable
market changes. Accordingly, Independent Auditor was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that
Independent Auditor considered necessary to evaluate the
Group’s ability to accelerate the sales of its properties.

In respect of seeking for other alternative financing
and bank borrowings to finance, the settlement of the
existing financial obligations and future operating and
capital expenditure, management was unable to provide
Independent Auditor with sufficient information about
the details of the fund-raising plan and no new financing
agreements have been reached. Accordingly, Independent
Auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence that Independent Auditor considered necessary
to evaluate the Group’s ability to have the new financing.

In view of the above scope limitation, there were no other
alternative procedures that Independent Auditor could
perform to satisfy themselves that the Group would be
able to implement its plans and measures, as a result,
Independent Auditor was unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence Independent Auditor considered
necessary to conclude whether the use of the going
concern basis of accounting to prepare the consolidated
financial statements is appropriate.
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

v)

(vi)

Details of the Disclaimer of Opinion
and Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
(Continued)

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned
plans and measures, it might not be able to continue
to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying values of
the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

Management’s position towards the
Disclaimer of Opinion

Prior to the announcement of the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2025, the management
of the Company held discussions with the Independent
Auditor, and understood its concerns and reasons for the
Disclaimer of Opinion. The management is of the view
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis, bases of which are
further elaborated in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(vii) Audit Committee’s views towards the

Disclaimer of Opinion and Management’s
Position

Based on the review of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025, including
the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group, and discussion with the management of the
Company and taken into account the Directors’ views
thereto and the plans and measures undertaken by the
Group to support the going concern assumptions used in
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the
Audit Committee concurs with the Directors’ assessment
and the basis for forming such a view with respect to
adopting going concern assumptions in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements.

The Audit Committee will hold regular meetings every
three months to monitor the progress of the actions of
the Company. The Company will also make voluntary
announcements thereon.

(C) MEREX ()

(v)

(vi)

(vii)
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(C) Accountability and Audit (Continued)

62

(viii) The Group’s action plan to address the
Disclaimer of Opinion

As disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, in order to improve the Group’s financial
position, immediate liquidity and cash flows, and otherwise
to sustain the Group as a going concern, the directors of
the Company have adopted following measures:

— in relation to the borrowings that the Group had
breached the financial covenants during the year
ended 31 March 2025 and are classified as current
liabilities, subsequent to the end of the reporting
period, the Group has obtained a one-off waiver from
the bank for the bank borrowing of HK$88,000,000
and repaid HK$4,000,000 to the bank as disclosed
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.
Further, the borrowings was secured by a pledge of
investment properties amounting to approximately
HK$178,100,000. The directors of the Company is
of the view that in the event that if the bank takes
any legal action against the Group to demand
immediate repayment, the investment properties will
be disposed for the settlement, it would not have any
material adverse impact on the business, operation
and financial conditions of the Group;

— the Group has actively carried out promotional
activities to attract more customers to purchase the
completed properties in order to increase the sale
proceeds through sales or pre-sales in the coming
twelve months. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the Group has
signed the sales and purchase agreements with
customers amounting to HK$19,975,000;

— the Group will also continue to seek for other
alternatives to increase its working capital such as
disposing of the Group’s investment properties, if
needed;

— the Group will also continue to seek for other
alternative financing and bank borrowing to finance
the settlement of the existing financial obligations and
future operating and capital expenditure; and

—  The Group will engage financial advisor(s) to consider
various financial fund-raising tools (e.g. placing of
new shares and/or issue of convertible bonds) and
seek for potential investors, so as to strengthen and
improve the capital base and cashflow of the Group.
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(D) Delegation by the Board

(i)

(ii)

Board Committee

The Company has established three committees,
namely Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, and
Remuneration Committee. These committees were formed
with specific clear written terms of reference which deal
clearly with the committees’ authorities and duties.

Management Function

The Board has determined which matters are to be
retained by the full Board sanction and which matters
are to be delegated to the executive management. The
executive management are delegated the authority
and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group, while the
Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including the approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.
The executive management has been given clear terms
of reference, in particular, circumstances where the
executive management should report to and obtain prior
approval from the Board. All delegations to the executive
management are reviewed periodically to ensure that they
remain appropriate.
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(E)

(F)

(G)

64

Corporate Governance

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties which include reviewing and developing
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices;
reviewing and monitoring (a) the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management,
(b) the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements and (c) the compliance with the
Model Code; and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed and performed the
abovementioned corporate governance duties.

Company Secretary

During the year, Mr. Leung Siu Kuen was an employee of the
Company and has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year under review in compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Dividend Policy

The Board adopted a dividend policy for the Company which
took effect from January 2019. In general, the Company intends
to provide shareholders with semi-annual or annual dividends,
and to declare special dividends from time to time. In deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board will take into account the Company’s earnings
performance, financial position, investment requirements and
future prospects.
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(G)

(H)

Dividend Policy (Continued)

The Board will also take into account the prevailing market
conditions and global economic situation. The dividend payout
ratio, would be calculated based on certain per cent of the net
profit recorded during the financial year, after retaining a sufficient
fund as capital for future investment opportunities, future use;
and all possible investment have been financed. The dividend
policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there
can be assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.

The payment of dividend is also subject to any restriction under
the laws of Hong Kong, the laws of the Cayman Islands and the
Articles of Association of the Company.

Communication with Shareholders and
Investor Relations

The Company has established a shareholders communication
policy with the objectives of enabling its shareholders and
investors to exercise their rights in an informed manner and
to allow the shareholders, investors and the investment
communities to engage actively with the Company. The Board
has the responsibility to review the policy annually to ensure its
effectiveness.

(i) General Meetings

The Board regards general meetings as the principal
opportunity to communicate with shareholders of the
Company. During the year, the Company has held an
annual general meeting.

The attendance records of each Director at the general
meeting is set out in the table under “The Board” section.
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(H) Communication with Shareholders and
Investor Relations (Continued)

66

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Significant Issues

The Company has ensured that any significant issues
would be dealt with at general meetings and be proposed
as a separate resolution.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, votes of
shareholders at all general meetings of the Company
have been taken by poll and results of the poll have been
announced in accordance with the procedures prescribed
under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

Corporate Documents Available on the
Websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange

The Company has placed the announcements, circulars,
annual/interim reports, notices of general meetings and
other information of the Company as required by the Listing
Rules on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders of the Company may direct their questions
about their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong and all other questions to the
Board. Details have been published on the website of the
Company.
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() Shareholders’ Rights

(i)

Convening an Extraordinary General
Meeting

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, an extraordinary general meeting may be
convened on the written requisition of any one or more
shareholders of the Company (including a recognized
clearing house (or its nominees)) deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong at Units 02-03, 7/
F, Tung Wai Commercial Building, 109-111 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s), provided
that such requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
them by the Company.
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(I) Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

68

(i)

(iii)

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company will have the opportunity
to pose questions to the Board at general meetings.
Shareholders of the Company may also make enquiries to
the Board in writing. Such enquiries shall be directed to “The
Board of Directors, Magnus Concordia Group Limited” by
one of the following means:

() BERHER (&)
(i) MEFEZEH

AABTRRBBEREGRIREARE £
MEEFFLRB -RETAIRE
FEFLEAEH EHEHRE
BRIHEP-—EREEEERAE
ERNDERRABZESE) !

e By mail to : Units 02-03, 7/F, Tung Wai Commercial Building, 109-111 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong
HHEE BREEFELITB109- 111 SREFEKRE71202-03F
e Byemailto : mcg-board@mcgrouphk.com
BHE

e Byfacsimileto : (852) 2160 3080
BEEE

The Board will respond promptly to proper enquiries raised
by shareholders.

Putting forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

(@ Shareholders may put forward proposals relating
to the election of Directors at general meetings as
follows:

—  Pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, a shareholder
or shareholders (not being the person to be
proposed) who holds or collectively hold not less
than 5% in nominal value of the issued shares of
any class of the Company may propose a person
for election as a Director at any general meeting
of the Company by giving a notice in writing to the
secretary of the Company:

° of his/her/their intention to propose such
person for election; and

° signed by the person to be proposed of
his/her willingness to be elected.
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EEERRS

(I) Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

(iii) Putting forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings (Continued)

(@)

Shareholders may put forward proposals relating

to the election of Directors at general meetings as
follows: (Continued)

The period for lodgement of such a written
notice will commence no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting and end no later than seven (7) days
prior to the date of such general meeting. If
the notice is received less than fifteen (15)
business days prior to that general meeting, the
Company will need to consider adjournment
of the general meeting in order to (i) assess
the suitability of the proposed candidate;
and (i) publish an announcement or circulate
a supplementary circular in relation to the
proposal to the shareholders at least fourteen
(14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
business days prior to the general meeting.

Any notice given for such proposal must
include such person’s information as may from
time to time be required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules in the event
that such person is elected as a Director or any
other applicable laws, rules and regulations
which the Company may be subject to.
Currently, the following information are required:

° Full name and age;

° Positions held with the Company and
other members of the Group (if any);

() BERER (B)
(iii) MIREAXG LIZEEEZE (BB)

(@ REFETIEFIRKRREASG
T REEHESFESEZFE

(&)
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EEXERRS

(I) Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

(iii) Putting forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings (Continued)

(@ Shareholders may put forward proposals relating
to the election of Directors at general meetings as
follows: (Continued)

Experience including (i) other
directorships held in the last three years
in public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market
in Hong Kong or overseas, and (i) other
major appointments and professional
qualifications;

Length or proposed length of service with
the Company;

Relationships with any Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company;

His/her interests in shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO;

Amount of the Director’s emoluments and
the basis of determining the Director’s
emoluments and how much of these
emoluments are covered by a service
contract; and

A declaration by the nominated person
stating that he/she is not and has
not been subject to any of the events
provided for under Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (w)
of the Listing Rules, or if any one or more
of these provisions are applicable to him/
her, full details thereof.
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EEERRS

() Shareholders’ Rights (Continued) () BREREF (48)
(i) Putting forward Proposals at (i) RERERAG LIRE = (18)

Shareholders’ Meetings (Continued)

(@) Shareholders may put forward proposals relating @ REAETIEFREKRERS
to the election of Directors at general meetings as TIREBEMESTER FE .
follows: (Continued) (4
—  Any notice given for this purpose shall be — AR ER ZEMA

directed to “The Company Secretary, Magnus Bl TIEA—IF®RRK
Concordia Group Limited” by one of the FEE RAEERNDE
following means: [RRAB 2 ABIME] !
e By mailto : Units 02-083, 7/F, Tung Wai Commercial Building, 109-111 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
HFE HEBFELHEI109- 111 SRREFEKNE 72 02-03F
e Byemailto . mcg-board@mcgrouphk.com
MHE
e By facsimileto : (852) 2160 3080
BFEE
—  Any such shareholder(s) shall be one(s) that is/ — FRAZEREHEAE
are entitled to attend and vote at the meeting HHFEEEENA M
for which such notice is given. ZREBIENRELREZ
AGER o

(o) To propose to put forward any other proposals at b) FRREREAZ LEEEMAEM
shareholders’ meeting, and for questions relating to BEMBERENKREAZE LIRS
putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings, B oEEms )BEAES
shareholders could direct all such enquiries/proposals THEPR—IBREUEEmER
in writing to “The Board of Directors, Magnus BEZSRE #EEEE R
Concordia Group Limited” by one of the following NEBRMDERLAB ZES
means: =
e Bymailto : Units 02-03, 7/F, Tung Wai Commercial Building, 109-111 Gloucester Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong
FE BRAEFELITEI109-111SREMEKRE71202-03F
e Byemail to . mcg-board@mcgrouphk.com
BEE

e Byfacsimileto : (852) 2160 3080
BEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF-HERERERS

About this report

Magnus Concordia Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively known as the “Group” or “we”) are pleased to present our
Environmental, Social and Governance report (collectively known as
“ESG report” or “this report”). By reporting the policies, measures and
performances of the Group in ESG aspects, we ensure all stakeholders
can fully understand our commitments and progress towards
sustainable development.

Reporting boundary

This ESG report covers the period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025
(the “Year”).

As our property development project has been successfully completed,
hence the related ESG policies have been temporarily suspended
before any new project commences. This report will concentrate on
other two areas, namely property investment and printing businesses.
The key performance indicators (“KPIs”), unless otherwise specified,
cover the Group’s headquarter in Hong Kong and the key operating
subsidiary — Guangdong Boluo Yuanzhou Midas Printing Limited.

Reporting standard

The content of this ESG report is prepared in strict compliance with
the requirement under Appendix C2 — Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Guide”) of Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), following Reporting
Principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency'. For
details of our corporate governance, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report included in this annual report.

1 The definitions of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency are quoted from
Appendix C2 — ESG Guide of the Listing Rules (formerly Appendix 27).
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IRIF-HERERERS

About this report (Continued)
Opinion and feedback

We greatly value the suggestions from our stakeholders and encourage
readers to contact us through the following contact information. Your
suggestions will help us further improve our reporting and enhance the
overall sustainable performance of the Group.

Address: Units 02-03, 7/F, Tung Wai Commercial Building,
109-111 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Phone: (852) 2160 3088

Fax: (852) 2160 3080

ESG Governance

The Group places great emphasis to its ESG performance. We
recognize the importance of environmental protection, social
responsibility, and robust governance for the long-term success and
sustainable development of the company. Therefore, we are committed
to ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements and establishing a
responsible corporate image to meet the expectations of stakeholders
and create enduring value for them. To achieve sustainable
development, the board of directors (“the Board”) has incorporated
ESG elements into strategic planning and operational management.

A good and effective governance framework is the foundation to
achieving our sustainability strategy and raising continuous development
performance. The Board is responsible for the establishing sustainability
strategies and management policies, and regularly reviewing and
evaluating the Group’s work progress in corporate responsibility,
sustainable development and climate change. The Board via the senior
management work reports on ESG issues, monitors the execution
situation of the continuous development strategy, the implementation
effects of the management policies so as to ensure that the risk
management and internal control systems operate effectively. The Board
is responsible for the final approval of this ESG report and to review the
information disclosed before publication to ensure the accuracy and
timeliness of the content of the report.

The Board has an overall responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
ESG-related risks and opportunities, establishing and adopting the
ESG-related strategies and targets of the Group, reviewing the Group’s
performance annually against the targets, and revising the strategies
if significant variance from the target is identified to support the
achievement of the Group’s sustainable development targets.
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IRIEHHERERRS

ESG Governance (Continued)

According to the World Economic Forum’s Global Risk Report 2024,
four out of the top ten global risks in the next ten years are related to
climate change. The Group is keenly aware of the significant impact
of climate change on business development. To this end, we have
incorporated climate risk into our risk management system to enhance
our resilience and adaptability to potential climate change impacts. All
potential risks that may have impact on the Group’s business will be
covered and evaluated in the annual enterprise risk assessment.

The board is responsible to communicate with stakeholders to
understand their views on ESG issues and implement the ESG
strategy, for which materiality assessments on ESG issues are
conducted and the ESG issues are prioritized. Sustainability strategies
applies to all levels of the Group.

Stakeholder engagement

The Group attaches great importance to stakeholder engagement,
establishes various communication channels to gather our
stakeholders’ opinions and suggestions related to our development
strategy and social responsibility, and maintains a close contact
with our stakeholders. Our core stakeholders include customers,
employees, suppliers, investors, shareholders, regulators and
communities.

Stakeholder Groups Key Concerns

BEERS

RpERE

BRI - 1t ERER (@)

RIFEREEREQCAFERIRERASE) B
T RRTEERTKRERS - AR R
BREEICAR - AEBERZIH I REEE
HEXERENEEZE -2l ZAASRRAEK
REBMARMNEREERGT > 1BRRMY
RIRECHERNEBERF ENEEE N R BB
NoFMBERERAEREFELEZENELR
B EF B X BT PR E RIETE

EXEEFUEFNEBBUREANIRIEE 1L
ERERZENEL BERE -HERESR
Bl WIRBE - HEREAFEETERMEN
i WHIRBE -HERERETERIHF -
TEEERREANAEENSERER -

HinEsH

FEBERFNENSHE  BUSEERRE
WERFNEHRMNERRBRLEEEN
HRERARS TRAFNERFETHE -
HANZLOFHERRER - RBE - HES -
REE RF HEHBRUE-

Communication Channels
BIBEE

Customers °

'R

Customer information and privacy

protection

BRI B KB IRE

° Customer health and safety
ERRREEAZS

° Product and service quality
EmiRFES

° Customer rights protection
BEREmIRE

° Handling of customer complaints

ERRHFEE

° Business visits
[EEEESl

° Regular meetings
R

° E-mail and telephone
BIHHRES
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Stakeholder engagement (Continued)

Stakeholder Groups Key Concerns Communication Channels

R ERE BEERS BIERE

MEMEEEEERER

State of operations

KEAR

Sustainable supply chain management
AIFEHEREIE

Employees Employee remuneration and benefits Employee activities

BE e B Fr N L rE A BEEH
Occupational health and safety Employee performance appraisals
Wi EREZS BEBEVEZ
Protection of employees’ legitimate Employee training
rights and interests EEE
RERE S L ¥R Internal meetings and notices
Training and career development NEEE MBS
EH B EERE Social media communication platform
Corporate culture HRERREETA
=34

Suppliers Supplier management and Business visits

HEERE requirements RS FERN

Liaison through email and telephone
BBBTFHHREBEHE
Meetings

& =5
B

Investors and
Shareholders

Financial performance disclosure

M RIRINE

Information disclosed on the website of
the Company and the Stock Exchange

REERERR Corporate transparency RAERRBIREEARZ G LIRE
REVFERE S
Protection of rights and interests General meetings and other
R RE shareholders meetings
IRERAEGREMKRERE R
Regulators Compliance with laws and regulations Periodic report
BB BEER TEHAEA R
Corporate governance Compliance inspection
tEER aRRE

Communities

HE

Social welfare engagement
e AN

Support community development
TRHFHtEER

Community activities
H&EES

Company website
EN/NSIEEDA
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Materiality assessment of ESG issues

The Group is aware of the importance of the ESG issues to
stakeholders. This Year, we continued to adopt the 22 ESG issues
and their materiality level confirmed in 2023 after reviewing the ESG
issues according to market development, regulatory updates, and
communications with stakeholders.

As indicated by the results of the materiality assessment in 2023,
the most concerning issues for various stakeholder groups of that
year were employee remuneration and benefits, occupational health
and safety, customer security and privacy protection, protection of
intellectual property rights, anti-corruption management and training,
protection of employee rights and interests, customer service and
satisfaction, customer health and safety, employee management,
supply chain environmental and social risk management, and
construction and printing quality management.

Based on the materiality assessment results, the Group highlights the
disclosure of such ESG issues in the ESG report and enhance the ESG
work plan.

Environmental

The Group is committed to playing an active role in the sustainable
development of the environment, and adopting environmentally-friendly
practices in daily operations. The Group strictly abides by the related
laws and regulations of the operating sites, e.g. the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({1 # A B 0
B 15 15 1R & %)), the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution ({F%E A R A E A
RS AHA %)), the Sold Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People’s Republic of China ({H ZE A R+ A0 BBEEEY S
LIRIERRAE)) ete. to ensure the standardized treatment of sewage,
exhaust gas, solid waste and other environmental pollutants, as well as
the efficient use of energy and resources, and prevent adverse impacts
on the natural environment.

The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations regarding air and greenhouse gas emissions,
water and land discharges and hazardous and non-hazardous waste
generation that had a significant impact on the Group this Year.
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Environmental (Continued)

The Group’s environment-related targets include the reduction of
carbon emissions, the minimization of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste generation and the responsible use of natural resources such
as energy, water resources and raw materials. As different property
development projects have different scales and material requirements,
it is difficult to compare their levels of carbon emissions. However, we
are keenly aware of the importance of setting targets and have set
specific targets.

For any new property development projects, we have set a target to
reduce 5% revenue-based carbon intensity per year. For the printing
business, we aim to reduce carbon emissions by 5% per year and a
total of 25% in 2027 against a 2022 baseline.

We will regularly review the feasibility of our targets and continue to
improve our environmental performance and contribute to sustainable
development.

Property business

The Group’s property business is divided into property development
and property investment businesses. The Group holds property
development projects in Mainland China and conducts environmental
management during the construction process. The property investment
business is mainly for the management of office premises and
commercial premises, with relatively limited impacts on the environment
and resource consumption.

The environment impact of the Group’s property investment business
mainly comes from the energy and resources consumption by the
office, as well as the emissions, wastewater, and wastes generated.

Carbon emission and energy management

The energy consumption of the Group’s property investment business
mainly comes from the electricity consumption generated by the
office. We promote green office concepts and encourage employees
to make use of the Internet, such as replacing avoidable travel with
video conferencing, to reduce energy consumption and greenhouse
gas emissions from travel. Registration for the use of official vehicles is
required to reduce unnecessary travel. In addition, we strictly manage
the use of resources in the office area and require employees to turn
off lights and power supplies during non-office hours to save energy.
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Environmental (Continued)
Property business (Continued)
Waste management

The waste of the Group’s property investment business mainly consists
of domestic waste, a small amount of waste ink cartridges and toner
cartridges. Domestic waste is collected and processed by the cleaning
team, and hazardous waste such as waste ink cartridges and toner
cartridges are handed over to suppliers for properly recycling.

We actively promote waste recycling to reduce the impact on the
environment and protect the earth’s ecology. Recycling activities
include: waste coffee capsules are collected at the supplier’s
designated collection point and recycled into new products.

Use of water resources and treatment of sewage water

The sewage generated by the Group’s property investment business
is mainly domestic sewage. Sewage is appropriately discharged to
municipal sewage pipeline for treatment.

Printing business

To enhance the standard of the environmental management, the Group
has established standardised environmental management measures for
the printing business, and developed the “Quality and Environmental
Management Manual”, the “BRC Management Manual”, the “FSC COC
Management Manual” and other policies in accordance with various
standards of environmental management systems. In addition, regular
certifications on 1ISO14001:2015 Environmental Management System
Standard and Quality Management System Standard are performed by
third-party certification authority to ensure the continuous effectiveness
of our environmental and quality management systems. In order to
continuously enhance the environmental management standards of
the Group, the Group strives to drive a “planning — performance
— inspection — improvement” dynamic cycle of the environmental
management systems, through identifying and managing the
material environmental risks, establishing systematic environmental
management process and continuously inspecting and reviewing the
management strategies.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIF-HERERERS

Environmental (Continued)
Printing business (Continued)
Air emission management

Volatile organic compounds? (“VOCs”) are generated during the printing
and bronzing procedures during the production process of the printing
business. We strictly implement the Stage Il Level 2 limit requirements
of the Guangdong Province’s “Emission Standard of Volatile Organic
Compounds for Printing Industry” ((ENRI{T B R LB IZ1LEY
BEAZ # DB44/815-2010)) and have established a professional
treatment facility using biological purification technology for VOCs
emission according to the standard. VOCs are collected, treated and
discharged. We also set up an adsorption device to absorb the spilled
VOCs.

In order to manage VOCs emission efficiently, we delegated an
external professional testing organization to perform regular VOCs
emission testing to ensure the VOCs emission (such as benzene and
toluene, etc.) is within the VOCs emission limits. We have set up a
dedicated fund for the maintenance of our VOCs treatment facilities
and have carried out maintenance, renewal and assessment of the
damaged parts of our VOCs treatment facilities during the year. We
have also invited external professional organizations to provide facility
maintenance and renewal services.

Our printing business continuously enhances the production process
and improves the raw material selection. For example, considering the
petroleum ink is prone to evaporate and disperse, they are replaced by
the higher content of soy ink to reduce the VOCs emission.

An oily fume and exhaust gas filtration system is installed in the staff
canteen of our printing business to reduce the oil droplets in the
exhaust gas and air pollution. We also perform regular inspection and
maintenance for the fixed equipment and official vehicles to ensure
they function properly so as to reduce air pollutant emissions such as
sulphur oxide, nitrogen oxide and particles.

2 Volatile organic compounds (VOCs), according to the definition by the World
Health Organization (WHO), are various organic compounds with a boiling point of
50°C to 260°C at room temperature, VOCs contributes to the formation of ozone
and secondary aerosols in the atmospheric environment which has an impact on
regional atmospheric ozone pollution and PM2.5 pollution.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF-HERERERS

Environmental (Continued)
Printing business (Continued)
Carbon emissions and energy management

We actively respond to the national energy conservation and emission
reduction initiatives by improving energy efficiency and reducing carbon
emissions in our operational processes through concrete actions
and measures. In order to effectively achieve our energy-saving and
consumption reduction targets, our printing business has established
relevant management systems, such as the “Energy Conservation and
Emission Reduction Policy.”

In addition to strategic energy-saving measures, we have implemented
the following initiatives to further promote energy conservation and
reduce carbon emissions:

o Prioritising the procurement of energy-saving lamps, facilities and
equipment;

° Performing regular maintenance of the facilities and equipment,
enhancing process flow, and arranging processes reasonably to
reduce energy wastage;

° Installing separate electricity meters in the production floor, office
and staff dormitory to monitor the electricity consumption and
solve unreasonable power consumption in a timely manner;

° Promoting the concept of green office, carrying out energy-
saving trainings for employees, and educating employees to
develop habits such as turning off unnecessary appliances and
maintaining reasonable air-conditioning temperatures in summer.

Waste management

In accordance with the relevant requirements of the “General Industrial
Solid Waste Storage and Landfill Pollution Control Standards” ({— &
T % B f8 B = ) BT 77 1B 18 )5 % £ 1) 12 #£)/GB18599-2020) and
“Hazardous Waste Incineration Pollution Control Standards” ({/& [&
JBE 1) 5 U2 75 AR 2 16 AZ #E)/GB18484-2020), our printing business has
implemented the policies such as “Solid Waste Management Policy”,
“Disposal Procedures on Scrapped Printed Paper” and “Returning and
Recycling Control Procedures of Office Supplies and Raw and Auxiliary
Materials”, to classify and dispose solid waste, to increase recycling
rate and prevent environmental pollution caused by hazardous waste.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIF-HERERERS

Environmental (Continued)
Printing business (Continued)
Waste management (Continued)

Our printing business entrusts a professional recycling company
to handle production waste, waste packaging materials, discarded
computers, waste furniture and other equipment to increase the
resources recycling rate. We strictly follow the relevant regulations on
the storage and disposal of wastes, and we regularly dispose wastes
at government-designated disposal sites.

We deeply recognize the significant risks that hazardous waste
can pose to the environment and public health, and we place
great importance on the management of hazardous waste. For the
hazardous waste generated in the production process, we designate
dedicated storage locations which fulfill the requirements, and classify,
isolate, retain and record the packaging materials. We entrust a
company with professional qualifications to perform harmless process
for the waste. In addition, we review and update the “Hazardous Waste
Management Plan” annually to ensure that all hazardous wastes are
properly retained and processed, comply with relevant regulations and
laws to minimize the impact on the environment.
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RIF-HERERERS

Environmental (Continued)
Printing business (Continued)
Use of water resources and sewage treatment

Major usage of water resources in our printing business include water
consumption for office and printing production. Water is sourced from
the municipal water supply. By implementing the “Water Conservation
Management Policy” and various water-saving measures, we are
committed to enhancing water efficiency in our production processes.
We perform regular inspection and maintenance of the water facilities
to prevent water wastage. An external professional testing organization
is entrusted to perform regular sewage emission testing to ensure the
sewage emission is within the emission limits.

We strictly follow the relevant national laws and regulations on
sewage discharge and has implemented relevant policies such as the
“Regulations on the Administration of Pollutant Discharge Permits”.
Our printing plant holds a “Sewage Discharge Permit”, and the
sewage discharge is mainly domestic sewage. In accordance with
local government requirements, we have obtained the acceptance
permit for the “Rainwater and Sewerage Diversion Project” in 2021.
The relevant domestic sewage is conveyed to the Yuanzhou Sewage
Treatment Plant through the municipal pipe network and discharged
after undergoing a series of sewage treatment procedures to ensure
compliance with the discharge standards.

Production sewage mainly comes from the printing business, punching
and stretching processes, includes ink sewage and other types of
sewage. Sewage is collected in a dedicated sewage station through
the pipeline. After reaching a certain amount, an external company with
professional qualifications would be contacted for sewage treatment,
so that there was no external emission of production sewage.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIF-HERERERS

Environmental (Continued)
Printing business (Continued)
Environment and natural resources

Being part of the timber industrial chain, we deeply acknowledge the
significance of the forest resource management. To support sustainable
forest management and ensure effective protection and management
of forest resources, our printing business has obtained the Forest
Stewardship Council (FSC)® Chain-of-Custody (COC) Standard
Certification* and established standardised management procedures
starting from raw material procurement to product delivery processes,
to ensure the our products follow the FSC requirements. While
consuming the natural resources, we are committed to preserving
biodiversity, encouraging forest resources sustainability, and promoting
environmental-friendly, social-beneficial and economical-viable forest
resources management. In implementing green procurement, we
choose FSC-certified raw materials.

Production noise management

Our printing business follows the “Industrial Enterprises Environmental
Noise Emission Standard” (( T XK RIRIE R E BERIZE)/
GB12348-2008) to manage noise emission. In order to lower the noise
emission impact to the surrounding environment, sound insulation,
sound abatement, sound absorption and vibration reduction devices
are installed in the printing plant where the compressors and the
printing machines are located. An external professional testing
organization is entrusted to perform regular noise emission testing to
ensure the noise emission is within the emission limits.

3 Found in 1993, the FSC is an international, non-profit, non-government organization
advocating environmentally responsible, socially acceptable, and economically
viable ways of managing the world’s forests.

4 The FSC COC certification identifies the entire chain of production, processing and
circulation of a wood processing enterprise to ensure that the products which are
sold with an FSC claim originate from well-managed forests. After obtaining the
certification, the enterprise has the right to display the FSC name and logo on its
products, namely the FSC COC certification label.

84 Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B4 A S ER&H B R A 7

IRIE (49)
ENRIZETS (48)
BIBRRAER

ERAMEZEEN—IR > WARBHIMKERE
ENEEM - AT XFAFENSMEE » #
RAMERFBIAEMNRENEE  7EEHN
HR(BEESAMEEEZEGFSC) EHE
B8 (COC)RERR/ Y BRI BRMEHRE
FEmXVEMEREEERRF  BERME
ENERMTEFSCHERX - EEARAE RN
B RPIBRDREEDSERERNRE »
HIRRERF HuHgFEm THEAKAEMURN
RMEREE -BETHERBLE > HAER
IS FSCREBRIRKL ©

TERBER

AEEMBEFRB(CELERFAIRRIRE
BERURZE) (GB12348-2008) EITIRE BN EE »
ATREBERBHBEEERENTE  £FK
BERREOBIENBEERETRE HE R
BRBEBEE - HAEA TIHBERRERER
WEBETERREER  BRIEEHFNETK
REZA -

3 FSCEIZ 19934 » @ — @R MM ~ IEEF ~ IEBAT
e CEDHRRET WHEBSNEETTH
7 R ARASE B ERFRM o

4 FSC COCUE R E AM I T RS EEERE ~ I
TERBRERFETERE  URFREEERRERL
BFSCUEEERIFHIBM - MISVRBE > B¥EFE
FHEMR ERRFSCEBRIRH » BIFSC COCEIEN

R o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF-HERERERS

Environmental (Continued)
Climate change

The Group deeply understand that climate change is not only altering
the natural environment but also impacting the business environment,
including our operations, supply chains, urban infrastructure and
market demand, etc. Being a responsible corporate, the Group pays
close attention to business related climate change risks in production
and operations, evaluates its impact on business continuity, fully
identifies potential challenges and opportunities and prepares for the
climate crisis and the low-carbon era.

To address climate change, we have proactively taken multiple
measures:

° Implementing standardized management procedures according
to the requirements of ISO14001:2015 environmental
management systems to reduce the impact of environmental
changes on operations;

° Complying with relevant environmental regulations strictly during
the construction and production process, and improve energy
efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas emissions through
technological upgrades, facility maintenance and transformation
of the facilities and equipment;

° Giving priority to green and environmentally-friendly products,
focus on localized procurement to reduce carbon emissions
during transportation;

o Establishing Business Contingency Plans (BCP) to ensure
business continuity and employee safety.

Looking forward, we will continue to improve the identification,
assessment and management of the climate change-related risks to
enhance the company’s strategic, business and financial resilience.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIF-HERERERS

Environmental (Continued)
Climate change (Continued)
Climate change management of printing business

Climate change is causing more frequent and severe extreme weather
events such as heatwaves, typhoons, and heavy rainfall, which greatly
impact humidity levels. Our printing business is particularly sensitive
to temperature and humidity. High temperature may lead to bonding
gap or deformation of the books and color box products and may
cause the printing machines generating high heat and increase energy
consumption. High humidity may lead to peeling of the printed ink
which may lead to machine malfunction. To cope with climate change,
we have implemented “Environmental Risk Contingency Plan” and
measures such as increasing ventilation systems and maintaining a
constant temperature in the production floor.

Employment and labour practices

We deeply understand that caring for our employees and implementing
appropriate employment measures are the foundation for achieving
long-term success and sustainable development in a company. By
safeguarding the legitimate rights and interests of our employees
and continuously optimizing human resources management, we are
committed to creating a harmonious and inclusive work environment
that fosters a sense of belonging.

The Group strictly abide by the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China” ({F#E A\ R M E 25 &%), the “Law of the Peoples
Republic of China on Employment Contracts” ({H1 2 A B 1 %5
g & [E3%)), the “Employment Ordinance” ( {{& 1 1% 51)/Cap 57), the
“Minimum Wage Ordinance” (& 18 L& & {5)/Cap 608), (2% A
& 5T 2I1&51)/Cap 485) and other relevant laws and regulations.

The Group was not aware of material non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations on compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare in the Year.

Recruitment and promotion

The Group has established the “Human Resources Management
Policy”, the “Employee Handbook” and other policies in compliance
with the employment-related laws and regulations and according to
the actual situation. We actively carry out recruitment activities through
internet, talent market, intermediaries and other channels to attract
new forces for the Group and expand our talent pool.

The employment data of the Group in the Year can be referred to
Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF-HERERERS

Employment and labour practices (Continued)
Recruitment and promotion (Continued)

The Group rationally planned promotion channels, established vertical
and horizontal promotion opportunities, and provided employees with
diversified development opportunities. We conduct multi-dimensional
assessments on employees to ensure that outstanding talents have
sufficient opportunities to be identified and promoted. For the talents
who have not been promoted, we provide training to employees for
their personal development, laying a good foundation for the stable
development of the Group’s business.

Remuneration and benefits

The Group has established the “Employee Benefits and Allowance
Management Policy”, the “Employee Performance Appraisal Policy”
and other policies in compliance with the employment-related laws and
regulations and according to the actual situation. We implement “To
each according to his contribution” and “equal pay for equal work”. We
provide allowances to eligible employees, pay various social insurances
for employees on time, and ensure that employees are entitled to
paid annual leaves. We also provide various types of benefits to our
employees, such as: improving accommodation environment and
meals, providing recreational activities, etc., to promote mutual respect
and a harmonious working environment.

The Group evaluates employees in terms of work attitude, work
quality, technical level, management skills, collaborative spirit, civilized
discipline, etc., to ensure the fairness of employee remuneration
and to attract outstanding talents. The department head interviews
the employees on the performance appraisal results, evaluates the
employee’s work performance, and listens to the opinions of the
employees, so as to promote the common enhancement of the
employees and the Group.

Social Responsibility Management

Our printing business has implemented the “Social Responsibility
Management Manual” and has obtained SA 8000:2014 Social
Accountability (SA)® certification. We regard employees as the
cornerstone of corporate development, and provide employees with a
fair and equitable working environment and a development platform for
realizing value.

5 SA 8000, abbreviation for Social Accountability 8000 International Standard, is
social accountability international standard, its purpose is to ensure the products
supplied by the corporate fulfill the social accountability standards.
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IRIF-HERERERS

Employment and labour practices (Continued)
Employee daily benefits

We provide our employees with various benefits and prioritize their
physical and mental well-being. We also pay attention to the emotional
care of our employees. In our Hong Kong office, we have set up a
snack bar to provide a variety of beverages and snacks, allowing
employees to relax and unwind during busy work hours. During festive
seasons, we prepare holiday gifts for our employees to express our
gratitude for their hard work and dedication.

Employee festive celebration

In order to allow employees to relax from their work and enhance
the intercourse among employees, the Group organised celebration
activities on different festivals to enjoy the festive atmosphere together.
In addition, festival gifts were distributed to employees during festivals,
such as Dragon Boat rice dumplings, Mid-Autumn mooncakes,
beverages and fruits.
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Group New Year celebration activities
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Employee development and training

The Group places great importance on the development of its staff’s
abilities and career growth, and has established a comprehensive
and robust training management system. Through a combination of
classroom teaching, on-site training, webinars, and the provision of
training materials, the Group offers diverse training opportunities to its
employees across various business levels and topics. These initiatives
aim to enhance their knowledge and skills in all aspects, ensuring
continuous improvement and professional development.
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IRIEHHERERRS

Employee development and training
(Continued)

The printing business of the Group establishes annual training plans,
which are divided into six categories according to the training targets
and purposes, including new employee orientation training, corporate
culture training, safety and system training, professional skills training,
management skills training and career development training. Through
a series of training and capacity-building activities, we strengthen
employees’ awareness of occupational health and safety, foster a
positive corporate culture, and enhance employees’ professional
skills. This, in turn, further enhances the core competitiveness of our
business. To enhance the quality of training, the Human Resources
department distributes questionnaires to the participants after training
to collect feedback to optimize the training content.

Printing knowledge training

In terms of thematic training, the printing business of the Group
provides printing knowledge and quality control training for the frontline
employees of the production and quality control department, so that
employees can have a deeper understanding of the production and
quality control process and update their relevant knowledge. The
quality control training provides employees with a clear understanding
of product quality requirements and helps relevant staff ensure the
production of high-quality products through the implementation of
quality control processes.
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The training data of the Group in the Year can be referred to Appendix
| ESG Key Performance Indicator.
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IRIF-HERERERS

Occupational safety and health

Placing employees’ safety and health as the top priority, the Group
strictly abides by the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases (™ ZE A R 4]
R 2 B 74 7%)), the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic
of China ((FRZE N EHFE % 2 % & £)), the Fire Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({fFZE A R EH B %)), the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong ((Bi¥% 2
Tz {8 B 1% 5))/Cap 509), and other relevant laws and regulations. The
Group also actively enhances safety management measures to provide
a healthy and safe working environment for employees.

During this Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to the workplace safety
and the protection of employees from occupational hazards.

Safe production

Our printing business within the group is dedicated to occupational
health and safety. We have developed systems such as the
“Environmental Health and Safety Policy” in accordance with the
“SA8000 Social Responsibility Management Manual.” We are
committed to continuously improving occupational health and safety
standards and integrating them as fundamental considerations in our
operations. At the same time, the printing business has set up a Health
and Safety Committee consisting of the management representatives
and worker representatives. It appointed coordinators to deal with
environmental health and safety affairs. Those coordinators evaluate the
health and safety risks in the workplace on a regular basis and rectify
potential safety hazards, to ensure a safe production environment.
We also set up a safety inspection team to perform inspections
regularly on the safety production, such as fire-fighting equipment and
passage, operation safety, use of the personal protective equipment
(PPE), occupational disease risks, and the operating procedures of the
equipments, in order to identify, rectify and stop improper operation
behaviour in time.

The Group has adopted safety management mechanism, increased on-
site safety inspections, and organised training regarding environmental
protection and epidemic prevention and control to respond to
government’s requirements. We have completed emergency drills on
electric shock, injuries due to fall, and fire precaution, and conducted
checks for occupational health and safety when needed.

90 Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B4 A S ER&H B R A 7

BEZEHREE

AEEREENZEHARRRERN > BKE
STCREAREMEBEREGGE) ~(PEA
REMBEAZZ2EER) ~ (PEARENBIED
ED)  (BEER 2 RARERIFG) (BHBAHISE 509 F)
EFERAR -AEEATEBAERREZEEE
Eif > BEEEERERENITIFIRE

REFER > AEBTANTERAEREHRZ
ETHFERBERFREREHEHEERENEKN
BIFIE -

ZEEE

AEBMBEBREBERER L2 RE
(SABOOOH EEMEEEFM BIE T (RIZEE
ZEHR)FHE - HAIRFERABERRER
ERE RBERREAZEZWAZENELE
Ed B MNRAEHRYL T HEEEARM
TARKRERNEREZEEZE S » ZIRKIRIEE
BLE2EHMREE > TN TESMMIERM
ZEERETHE THETZERBETE
B URBEZE2EERE BMERLZETRE
BNE AR EEEREERAEREE
ZERF -ERSROERE  BERER -
RERERIEFETIR » DUIRE#EA) ~ §1E
MAESERFENSRARITS ©

FEBRNZE2EEHS MARSZE2KE
HiE » WERBUTIRRERKEBHZESE
TR THEE SEUKRMNNEZER  2E
SHHERFERERAZERE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF-HERERERS

Occupational safety and health (Continued)
Safe production (Continued)

In order to implement the occupational health and safety strategy, the
printing business of the Group provides regular training sessions on
safe operation knowledge to the employees. These training sessions
explain the operating procedures to enhance employees’ safe
production awareness and reduce safety incidents. To protect our
employees, we also offer occupational health checkups when needed
for employees involved in occupational hazards to identify potential
threats to health and take effective protective and management control
measures.

Building awareness of fire safety is essential to protect the lives, health,
and safety of employees. To strengthen employees’ awareness on
safe production, we invited the trainers of the Fire Bureau to provide
occupational fire safety training, conducted fire drills and other disaster
prevention training and drills. The trainings help employees understand
the causes of fires, proper handling methods for hazardous materials,
and correct usage of firefighting equipment which are essential in
helping us prevent fire accidents at their source. They also help
enhance employees’ ability to evacuate safely in hazardous situations.
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Fire safety training and fire drills of the Printing business
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In the past three years, the Group was not aware of any work-related
fatalities. Other occupational health and safety data of the Group can
be referred to Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator.
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Labour standards

The Group is committed to creating a work environment that promotes
mutual respect and harmony. All staff will not be discriminated because
of their nationality, gender, age, ethnicity, race, physical condition,
religious belief, gender orientation or any other factors. We respect the
rights of our employees, including freedom of association and collective
bargaining, in accordance with relevant laws and regulations. We
have established internal and external communication and complaint
channels in order to better collect opinions and feedback from internal
and external stakeholders, to follow up on complaints and protect the
legitimate rights and interests of the employees.

We are strictly in compliance with the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Minors ({1 % A R A1 B & A £ A 1R 5%
%)) and the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour ({2£1E
FERETREY), and verify the actual ages of the job applicants during
the recruitment process. Meanwhile, the Group strictly abides by its
internal labour management policies and forbids forcing employees
to work or work overtime in any manner. In the event of discovering
any false information of the applicants, or any false reporting of age or
forced labour, the Group will conduct corresponding investigations and
implement internal rectifications.

In terms of prohibiting and eliminating child labor, the printing business
of the Group prohibits the recruitment of child labour under the age
of 16 and all recruits are required to hold their identity cards, which
should be verified. Employees in all positions are well-equipped with
the required labour protection supplies.

During this Year, the Group was not aware of any cases of child labour

or forced labour which had caused any significant violation of labour
standards.
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RIF-HERERERS

Supply chain management

Responsible supply chain management is crucial to the sound
development of a business. While strictly complying with the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Bid Invitation and Bidding ( {H
= AR FMEIBIZ I IZ %)) and relevant laws and regulations, the
Group conducts regular reviews on its major suppliers to ensure their
capabilities in quality management, delivery time, after-sales service, as
well as the social and environmental risk management are in line with
the Group’s supply chain management requirements.

Tendering and supplier evaluation

The printing business of the Group has established and implemented
the “Procurement Control Procedures” and the “Supplier Management
Procedures” and other relevant policies. We conduct strict evaluations
on suppliers and select qualified ones by adopting various assessment
approaches, such as reviewing suppliers’ certifications, material quality
related certificates (e.g., ISO9001 Certification) and material safety
data sheets, and sample testing. For suppliers included in the “List
of Qualified Suppliers”, we conduct regular qualification reviews to
ensure their compliance with the Group’s requirements. As necessary,
we update the “List of Qualified Suppliers” to ensure all cooperating
suppliers meet the Group’s standards.

Environmental and social responsibilities of
suppliers

We attach great importance to our suppliers’ ability to manage
environmental and social issues. Before initiating any collaboration,
we conduct assessment surveys on major suppliers and continuously
deepen our understanding of them throughout the partnership.
We update the assessment information to ensure that suppliers
meet compliance requirements regarding environmental and social
issues. We prioritize selecting suppliers who demonstrate excellent
performance in environmental and social aspects.
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R ERERRS

Supply chain management (Continued)

Environmental and social responsibilities of
suppliers (Continued)

The printing business of the Group requires major suppliers to sign
the “Social Responsibility Commitment Letter” and promise to abide
by the local labour laws and regulations. Suppliers included in the
“List of Qualified Suppliers” should sign the “Declaration of Conformity
with the Restricted Substance Control Standards” and provide the
levels of restricted substances contained as well as a test report from
an approved third-party notary organisation to ensure that their raw
materials are up to the criteria stated in international material safety
standards, such as Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction
of Chemicals (REACH)®, EN71-3 Safety of toys Part 3: Migration of
Certain Elements” and American toy safety standards ASTM F963-17
Standard Consumer Safety Specification for Toy Safety®. At the same
time, the printing business continues to monitor the use of child labour
by suppliers and the payment of labour salaries among suppliers. If a
supplier is noted to intentionally hire child labour, forced labour, or have
any other serious violations of labour laws or regulations, our cooperation
with that supplier will be terminated immediately.

N
MiDAas

HEEEE (8

HEFNIRIEEMLESE (B)

AERONBEFNIEHEFFTEE(HLEE

EAES)  AEETEMFFER - MA(E
BEEHRE) IHERRRE(NE FEJ%%
ERIREZRE)  LRHRAVESERE

KB NEEE R AETHEARS W:ET%)%-?
BT & B (E 2 Skl ~ 5145 ~ MRS
FENREACH)® ~ (EN 71-3:2019+A1:2021 It A %
E2E=HD BETENER) REEHRAR
2IZEE(ASTM FO63-17 It A2 2 IZEHEE L
ERENEEABME T 2IZE - B BRI
BRERIHES RS ETETFEABRUKR
ERFTHERWNER FEREHERKE
FRET RBSHHEMEEERGEFELR
BIER > B EMEIEE1ERF ©

Xu WING s SN

GIFT hn

Our booth at an exhibition
RERES 2 #
6 REACH is the abbreviation of “registration, evaluation, authorisation and restriction

of chemicals”. REACH is the regulation of the European Union on the preventive
management of all chemicals entering its market.

7 EN71-3 Standard: The European Union made an official decision in 1999 to strictly
limit the content of phthalates in mouth-contact toys (such as baby pacifiers) and
other children’s products used by children under the age of three in EU member
states.

8 ASTM F963-17 refers to the ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials
International) standard consumer safety specification for toy safety.
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RIF-HERERERS

Product responsibility

The Group believes that excellent quality, creative design and
professional after-sales service are the core of sustainable
development. We strictly control the quality of printed materials and
residential buildings, and provide professional and convenient after-
sales service for customers, striving to protect the consumer rights and
interests.

During this Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations regarding health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided by the Group.

Printing quality control
Printing business

The Group’s printing business has established a detailed quality
control system for printing design and production. Through strict
implementation of relevant management procedures, we aim to ensure
the quality and safety of printed products. The group has set goals
related to product quality and safety and has achieved those goals
during the year. In terms of the product quality and safety, the Group
has set the targets, which have been fully achieved this Year.

The Group strictly follows the Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({# & A R HEfIEF Z & & £7%)), the Regulations
on the Administration of Printing Industry ( ED Rl % & 32 (& 1)), the
Provisions on the Administration of Undertaking of Presswork Printing
(CENRI S & ENE R TE)) and other relevant laws and regulations
and international product standards and has established policies and
procedures such as the “Quality and Environmental Management
Manual” and “Defective Product Output Management Procedures”.
Besides, the Group has also established a management process for
controlling product quality at every stage from incoming materials,
semi-finished products to final products. The quality control procedures
of the printing business mainly include four stages, which are the
quality control of the incoming materials, work in process products, the
final products, and the transportation and storage management.
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Product responsibility (Continued) EmEE (@)
Printing quality control (Continued) BRI mEEE (8)
Printing business (Continued) ENRmI 275 (48)

Quality control of incoming materials Z#l & &%

When selecting suppliers, we evaluate their market reputation, business scale and samples’ quality, and regularly
evaluate material quality and delivery time during the cooperation, so as to select the ones with good performance to
further cooperate

TEAHREEEHEDZEES KLERE RRE2ETTE ) TESFEEREHRHES - TRFETTE
EEBEE

Suppliers of raw materials, machinery and equipment are required to provide product test report from third-party
testing organisations, sign the instruction of compliance with restricted substances to ensure that raw materials comply
with the Restriction of the use of Hazardous so that our children’s book, food packaging products and other packaging
products meet the safety requirements

ZRFEME ~ #4238 - REFHEFHEFEHE=ZSFRAKRENERIBIRS  EERSRAMERAS > LUIRRF
EMEREESYERIIES  EtMERMNZEEES - enBoREnREMEEERRELERE

Checking whether incoming material is up to standard, eliminate incoming material quality problem
BERMNERER  HERNESME

Quality control of work in process 512 & &%

Setting up standardised quality inspection procedures and carrying out strict inspection and dispatch standards on all
products from raw materials to finished goods. Products at all phases must be tested qualified before entering the next
stage
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RIF-HERERERS

Product responsibility (Continued) EmEE (@)
Printing quality control (Continued) MRl mEERE (B)
Printing business (Continued) ENRIZEFS (58)

Quality control of final products B & & & &%

Each batch of final products must pass the sampling inspection by the quality control department, and only the
produots with pass Iabels are allowed to be delivered, and implement the finished product inspection system

—A M REAMEMIMRR SRS LA GRERRT RS RENSBRERN

The quality control department coordinates the technical department and production department to analyse the
causes of quality issues and develops improvement measures relating to system, process and technology to improve

the quality of finished goods
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Transportation and storage management Z i #ZE

° Monitoring the temperature and humidity of the storage environment to avoid damage

EFEMRTRELENRE  BREMIBR

o Employing professional transportation team to ensure cleanness and careful handling, and avoid getting wet from rain

and snow during transportation

EREXERERE  EHBEREZET  BRRSME  BIEEE

In order to enhance the quality inspectors’ professional competence,
the Group has arranged professional training sessions on quality
inspection of the printed materials. These training contents include
professional inspection knowledge, such as different product features,
inspection standards and judgement approaches, to enhance the
professionalism and the efficiency of the inspection process. In order
to enhance the quality of inspection, the “Quality System Assessment”
policy has been implemented and the quality inspectors are evaluated
to increase their levels of inspection.
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Product responsibility (Continued)
Printing quality control (Continued)
Printing business (Continued)

As the Group’s products are sold to both international and domestic
customers, compliance with international and domestic quality
standards is particularly important for our business development.
We have implemented quality management which is certified with
the third party certification of ISO9001:2015 Quality Management
Standard. To satisfy the needs of international customers such as
customers in North America and Europe, the Group has also obtained
a number of international certificates, such as BRC Global Standard for
Packaging & Packaging Materials (Issue 5) and the G7 Master Facility
Colorspace Certification issued by the International Digital Enterprise
Alliance (IDEAlliance). Having these certifications shows the Group’s
professional management ability regarding the printing colour controls
and the packaging safety and health controls, in order to meet the
international mandatory compliance requirements.
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Professional training for quality control inspectors
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In this Year, none of products in the printing business was recalled due
to safety and health concerns.
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Product responsibility (Continued)
Customer service and satisfaction

The printing business of the Group strictly follows the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests ((FZE AN RHEFMEHE E # = R5875)) and other
relevant laws and regulations. The Group has established the “Control
Procedures of Internal and External Communication Policy”, to collect
customers’ complaints and opinions on product quality, delivery and
service through various channels. The quality control department
performs the inspection and resolves the abnormalities discovered
by customers in time. For the complex product anomalies, the quality
control department coordinates the sales department, the technology
department, the production department, etc. to review customers’
feedback and follow up timely. The Group has not received any returns
or recalls of merchandise during the financial year.

In order to improve the level of customer satisfaction and standardize
customer satisfaction management, the printing business has
established the “Management Procedures of Customer Satisfaction
Survey and Analysis” and conducts customer satisfaction survey to
understand their opinions and suggestions on the Group’s service
level, technical capability, product quality and delivery capacity. Apart
from identifying the changing trend of customer satisfaction, we also
require relevant departments to follow up and communicate with
customers to understand customer demands and identify areas for
improvement to continuously enhance our service levels and increase
customer satisfaction.
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Product responsibility (Continued)
Customer service and satisfaction (Continued)

About the after-sales service of the printing business of the Group,
all complaints received in relation to products and services are dealt

promptly.
Customer information and privacy protection

The Group attaches great importance to the protection of the security
of clients’ product information and privacy. We have implemented the
“Confidential Work Guidelines” and “Written Information Management
Procedures” to standardise the protective measures and processes of
clients’ information and privacy, so as to effectively protect the rights
and interests of customers and follows the “Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance” ({18 A & & (FABZ) 1% 5 )/Cap 486) and other relevant
laws and regulations. The Group respects the privacy and security
of customers. By setting access right for customer information and
carrying out awareness training to employees who have access to
customer information, we ensure that there is a robust management
and control system in place to safeguard the security of private
information. We designate special personnel to retain the documents
relating to customer information, and strictly manage computers,
account numbers, computer rooms and network used by employees
to prevent information leakage.

100 Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B4 A S ER&H B R A 7

EmEE (&)
ERRFBREE (B)

ERAEEERIEBNERERT  2HERE
mRIRBRFIEIEENHERNTSEE

EREEBRIERE

FEESEERFRERFNEREGE - RBIAG
Bxd > B(ARREIFESD - (RXER
BEREF)FHE  URBEFEERELIR
MO » VBRET PRI ET (EA
B (FARR) 1R 61) (FBEMIE 486 %) FiERE
R-AERSEZFHNRALEELZE - BBR
BEXFEEEEERKERMASRLZ2EI
ERERMARFRRLEEZRE2ATENEEE
HEER - AP RELENIXELIRHE
ARE BREEBTIIEEANEREE
MRSE ~ B KA > B IEERRBEEFHE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF-HERERERS

Product responsibility (Continued)
Marketing and promotion compliance

Ensuring marketing and promotion compliance not only protects
a company’s brand image, but is also an important cornerstone
in maintaining market order. The Group strictly complies with the
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China ({4 ZE A\ R £ 40
Bl & & 7£)), the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China
({hZE A RHEFMEFEIZ %)) and other relevant laws and regulations,
strictly reviews the terms and pictures of information released in the
official account and publicity materials, so as to prevent inaccurate or
misleading descriptions of the business, housing and printing products,
and protect customers’ right to know and right to choose. At the same
time, all planning materials for external image display and marketing
activities of the Group are subject to strict internal review to ensure the
compliance of marketing activities and publicity materials.

Protection of intellectual property rights

The Group focuses on intellectual property rights protection to better
fulfill its product obligations. The Group strictly complies with the
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China ({1 #E A RHFE
5 4Z5%)), the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China ({h
= A RHFEE (E# L)), the Patent Law of the People’s Republic
of China ({1 Z A B M 2 F]7%)) and other related laws and
regulations. The group standardises the application, registration,
ownership change and related information management of intellectual
property rights, through signing agreements for trademark and
copyright use, applying patent for our own product and technology,
and consulting internal and external legal experts, etc. We also
avoid infringing others’ trademark right, copyright and patent right.
Meanwhile, the Group provides training for relevant personnel on
an ongoing basis, and monitors the implementation of intellectual
property related systems, so as to ensure the Group’s compliance with
intellectual property management.
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Anti-corruption

The Group strictly implements anti-corruption policies, complies with
the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FRZE A R £ A0
EFH%Y), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of
China ({2 A RHEME & R IEE % F %)), the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong ({BA LE BB R& & 31])/Cap 201), the Competition
Ordinance of Hong Kong ({37 3 5 f51)/Cap 619) and other relevant
laws and regulations. By adhering to the integrity principle, we strive to
maintain a just, fair and open business environment.

During this Year, we are not aware of any major violations of laws and
regulations pertaining to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
There were no identified cases of corruption litigation relating to the
Group and our employees.

Anti-corruption management and training

The Group takes integrity and honesty as the foundation of our
business development and established the “Magnus Concordia Group
Code of Conduct” and the “Magnus Concordia Group Whistleblowing
Mechanism” to strictly prohibit any corruptive behaviour. The Group
has formulated anti-corruption guidelines in the “Employee Handbook”
to encourage employees to establish professional ethics, comply with
laws and regulations, and prohibit corrupt practices such as accepting
kickbacks. The suppliers of the printing business of the Group are
required to sign the anti-bribery and anti-corruption statement.
Unethical behavior is controlled through systems and processes, with
the monitor of internal audit department of the Group.

The Group attaches great importance to the education on integrity
for the directors and the employees. We provide “Anti-corruption
Programme — A Guide for Listed Companies” ({ - T AT E R4S
#5F5/)) to the directors and the employees, conduct anti-corruption
training, guidance to the new hires on the materials relating to self-
discipline in the “Employee Handbook”, and post the integrity and self-
discipline notice on bulletin boards of the main business segments,
etc., so as to actively promote the corporate culture of integrity and
honesty.
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RIF-HERERERS

Anti-corruption (Continued)
Training on internal integrity

In order to strengthen the awareness of integrity, the printing business
conducts integrity and self-discipline training. The training not only
pointed out the job-related crimes that the employees are likely to
involve and how to prevent such crimes, but also highlighted the
integrity requirements for the employees.

B
»
|
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>

A J

R&ES (88)

P BB BER S

ARCERERN  AEEOREBHET BR
Bl o B FEEL T ETAR S ROR

BARSR LU NI TR I ERAR SR » USRI E T
BIRZRERK o

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery training

REERRHEEE

Anti-corruption reporting channels

The Group has set up a variety of reporting channels. Whistle-blowers
can report any improper matters within the Group by sending the
“Report Form” to the internal audit department of the Group, emailing
or calling the head of the internal audit department. We will make
reasonable efforts to protect whistle-blowers, prevent the leak of
reporters’ identity or information. After receiving the report, the internal
audit department of the Group will conduct further investigation and
report to the Audit Committee. For serious or critical cases, the internal
audit department of the Group and the Audit Committee will report
to the Board of Directors at earliest convenience, and the Board of
Directors will discuss and determine the recommendations for further
handling. Serious cases will be passed to relevant authorities for
investigation.

Details of the anti-corruption training provided by the Group during the
year can be referred to Appendix 1 ESG Key Performance Indicator.
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Community investment

The Group is actively involved in the community investment activities,
and maintains close relationship with the surrounding communities,
works with those communities to promote mutual development, and
makes contributions to build a harmonious society. The Group also
made subsidies to local social communities for the annual dragon boat
contest.

In this Year, the Group continued to participate in the Skip Lunch
Day organised by The Community Chest (a non-government and
non-profitable charitable organization). It was an annual fundraising
campaign. The money raised will be used to help those in need.
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator

Environmental Key Performance Indicator

Bf x| ESG R # E 4517
IRIG AR AR IS 1R

Year ended Year ended
Indicator Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BHE BE
—ERE B PO4E
=A=+—H =B=+—H
$51R B ILEFEE LLFE
Greenhouse gas (GHG)
BERE
Total emissions Tonnes of COe 1,372.66 1,5623.45
BEmiRE M—afbikE 2
Direct emissions (Scope 1) Tonnes of COe 63.55 60.97
BiEHR (EE—) M-EbikES
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) Tonnes of COe 1,309.11 1,462.48
R (BE D) W_aftiES
GHG emissions intensity (Scope 1 and 2) (Production) Tonnes of CO,e/Tonnes 0.22 0.25
RERBIRRE HE—KHED) (E8) M EbiEE MEES
Air emissions
EE R BERE
Nitrogen oxides (“NOXx”) kg 136.10 148.42
[t T
Sulphur oxides (“SOx”) kg 0.32 0.29
TiE=RvEY) T
Suspended particulate matter (“PM”) kg 9.80 10.68
P T2
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator

Ffi &% | ESG BE 82 453045 1% (48)

(Continued)
Environmental Key Performance Indicator IRIGRASRERIEE (B)
(Continued)
Year ended Year ended
Indicator Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE HE
ZZZhHE —Z U4
=B=+—H =B=+—H
1515 ==Rir} ILEFE IFFE
Hazardous waste
BEEBEY
Total hazardous waste disposal Tonnes 5.71 5.94
BEERYEBRE MR
Intensity of hazardous waste disposal (Production) kg/Tonnes 0.92 0.98
BEEEEVEERE (E8) T/ MES
Non-hazardous waste
mEBEEY
Total non-hazardous waste produced Tonnes 28.30 4710
FIEENEEEREMES U
Intensity of non-hazardous waste produced (Production) Tonnes/Tonnes 0.01 0.01
BEBEVELRZE (ES) Mg, MEE S
Non-hazardous waste disposed
BEENEREEEY
Domestic waste Tonnes 11.28 1212
HIEEEY) NiA
Construction waste Tonnes 17.02 34.98
EEEER U
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator

fi &% | ESG BE 82 453045 1% (48)

(Continued)
Environmental Key Performance Indicator IRIGRASRERIEE (B)
(Continued)
Year ended Year ended
Indicator Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BHE #BHE
—ERE B O4E
=A=+—H =B=+—H
151% B ILEFEE LLFE
Non-hazardous waste recycled
BRI EEEEEY
Paper Tonnes 67.15 74.31
R g
Metal Tonnes 7.06 7.82
=B iz
Food waste Tonnes 2.65 2.93
i "R
Wood Tonnes 19.42 21.49
At g
Energy
REIR
Total consumption MWh 2,460.00 2,709.88
JHFEEE JKELEF
Electricity MWh 2,250.95 2,515.26
S JKELF
Diesel MWh 120.77 133.65
P KRB
Unleaded petrol MWh 88.28 60.97
I EOH JKELEF
Energy consumption intensity (Production) MWh/Tonnes 0.39 0.44
FERHERE (E8) JKEB MEESE
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator

(Continued)

Environmental Key Performance Indicator

(Continued)

IRIBRARERIER (8)

Ffi &% | ESG BE 82 453045 1% (48)

Year ended Year ended
Indicator Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE HE
ZZZhHE —Z U4
=B=+—H =B=+—H
$E1R ==Rir} ILEFE IFFE
Water
KER
Water consumption m?3 33,928.00 33,927.00
HEkE RVAYSP/S
Water consumption intensity (Production) mé/Tonnes 5.46 5.58
HEKEE (E8) MHKWEESE
Packaging materials
BEME
Packaging material consumption Tonnes 26.75 29.60
BEEMEDEFEES U
Plastic bag and tape Tonnes 2.79 3.09
BRRRBH et
Paper box Tonnes 23.96 26.51
HEFE g
Packaging material consumption density (Production) Tonnes/Tonnes of 0.004 0.005
production
BEMEMEREZE (E8) Mg, R E =
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator
(Continued)

Scope of environmental data collection

Environmental data was collected from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025,
covering the Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong and Guangdong
Boluo Yuanzhou Midas Printing Limited.

Notes to environmental data and coefficients

1) GHG emissions (Scope 1) mainly come from the primary energy
consumption of the fixed equipment and vehicles, while GHG
emissions (Scope 2) mainly originate from consumption of
electricity. The above data is sourced from relevant fee bills
and administrative ledgers. GHG factors for domestic power
grid are subject to GHG factors for power grid are subject to
the Notification on Key Points for Management of Enterprises’
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reporting in 2022 issued by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s Republic of
China and the emission factor disclosed in 2023 Sustainability
Report of HK Electric Investments. GHG factors for other
energy categories are subject to the Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange.

2) In this Year, energy consumed by the Group include fuel
consumed by fixed equipment, official vehicles and purchased
electricity. The above data is from relevant fee bills and
administrative ledgers; the energy consumption coefficients
are subject to conversion factors provided by the Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPlIs issued by the Stock Exchange
and the GB/T 2589-2020 General Rules for Calculation of
the Comprehensive Energy Consumption issued by the
Standardization Administration of the State Administration of
Market Regulation of the People’s Republic of China.

fi &% | ESG BE 82 453045 1% (48)
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator
(Continued)

Notes to environmental data and coefficients
(Continued)

3)  The Group mainly uses municipal tap water and the above data
is collected from water bills, financial reimbursement records and

administrative ledgers.

4)  Production intensity data covers Guangdong Boluo Yuanzhou
Midas Printing Limited.
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator Bt #% | ESG B SR EXIEIR (48)
(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator L EHRARENIERE
Key performance indicator Year ended 31 March 2025 Year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T"-HF BE_ZTMMFE
RRSRAE ISR =A=+—HLEE ZA=+—HIEHE

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, age group, geographical region and employment type

B1.1#21E 5 « F&4HA - WERERERISHNESRH

Number of Number of
employees Proportion employees Proportion
BT A¥™ fhtE  BIA® & EE
By gender Male 56 49.12% 55 46.22%
gl EIay S
Female 58 50.88% 64 53.78%
peglid
By age group 20 and below 0 0% 0 0%
HERARN B D 205K LR
21-30 5 4.39% 8 6.72%
21-307%
31-40 56 49.12% 56 47.06%
31-4075%
41-50 45 39.47% 44 36.97%
41-50 5%
51-60 5 4.39% 8 6.72%
51-607%
Above 60 3 2.63% 3 2.52%
60U L
By geographical region Mainland China 101 84.87% 105 88.24%
B ITRPRTEHEI 2 e PN 75
Hong Kong 13 10.92% 14 11.76%
e
Overseas 0 0% 0 0%
BIMIE
By employment type Full-time 114 100% 119 100%
HIEEELE D ES-
Contractor 0 0% 0 0%
B4
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator

(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator (Continued)

Key performance indicator

Year ended 31 March 2025

HERARERIER (8)

Ffi &% | ESG BE 82 453045 1% (48)

Year ended 31 March 2024

BE_T-5E BE_Z-ME
RS E ISR ZA=+—HLEE ZA=+—HLEE
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region
B1.2#¢ 1R « FEAHR « EB SHEERALLEE
Number of Number of
employees employees
leaving Turnover leaving Turnover
employment rate employment rate
MR ANE TR MENE MEKRE
By gender Male 5 8.20% 34 37.78%
I RIE D s
Female 7 10.94% 18 21.43%
peqi
By age group 20 and below 0 0% 0 0%
RERMARE D 20T
21-30 2 25.00% 10 55.56%
21-30%
31-40 5 8.33% 17 25.00%
31-40%%
41-50 3 6.52% 16 32.00%
41-50%
51-60 2 25.00% 9 50.00%
51-60 4%
Above 60 0 0% 0 0%
B0 L
By geographical region Mainland China 1 9.91% 44 28.57%
BRI EPREHE PEIARE
Hong Kong 1 7.14% 7 35.00%
Bk
Overseas 0 0% 1 100.00%
IR
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator Bt #% | ESG B SR EXIEIR (48)
(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator (Continued) T ERARERIEE (B)

Key performance indicator Year ended 31 March 2025 Year ended 31 March 2024

BE_T-HHF BE_ZTMFE
R ERUIER =A=+—HLHE =A=+—HLEHE

B2 Health and Safety
B2fERELZE
Work-related fatalities 0 0
EATHETHIAZ
Lost days due to work injuries 0 0
RATHBRNWITIEHE
No. of people participating in general health check 0 0
SHEEBREERE A
No. of persons participating in occupational health check 21 133
SHEBERERE AR
Number of fire drill preparation/execution 2 2
SEUHBREBTAE, AT RE
Attendance at fire drill preparation/execution 147 358
2ELHEB AR HITAX
Number of safety training preparation/execution 0 2

Z2EIIFEE, FITRE
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator Fit#% 1 ESG B SR A XIEIR (48)
(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator (Continued) T RARENIEIE (48)

Key performance indicator Year ended 31 March 2025 Year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T"HF BE_ZTMNFE
RASRAE ISR =A=+—HLEE ZA=+—HIEFE
B3.1&B3.2 The percentage of employees trained ad average training hours per employee by gender and ranking

category
B3.1&B3.2 #M4 R KRS S ZINEE T 7 L RZ I FIRE

Average Average
Percentage training Percentage training
of trained hours per of trained hours per
Category employees employee employees employee
ZiIMEE  AFI ZillEg A3
£85I B B & Bt BFEL
By gender Male 58.33% 23.50 56.52% 61.2
2R B4
Female 41.67% 24.67 43.48% 112.3
7
By ranking Senior Management 25.00% 4.33 26.09% 15.2
R AR B BREERE
Middle Management 8.33% 8.33 10.87% 33.0
RREEE
General and Technical Staff 66.67% 34.71 63.04% 120.3
—REREMmET
B5 Number of suppliers by geographical region
B5#%tE B D HVHEREE
By geographical region Mainland China 80 80
HREEEMAEMESE D (X) HEKRE
Hong Kong 22 22
SEME
* As the property development project has been completed, thus the lower training ~ * HRZYMEZREBEEESM » ITUZBNEINIHER
data represented those for property investment and printing business. RYMELERERIZET o
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator Bt #% | ESG B SR EXIEIR (48)
(Continued)

Social Key Performance Indicator (Continued) S RAREIEIE (18)

Key performance indicator Year ended 31 March 2025 Year ended 31 March 2024

BE_T-HHF BE_ZTMFE
R ERUIER =A=+—HLHE =A=+—HLEHE

B6 Product Responsibility
B6EmEE
Product recalls due to health and safety issues 0 0
RZ 2B 2REIEHMELUZE REE
Complaints related to product and service (Printing business) 7 9

BRIE SRR FAEE (RIS
Complaints related to product and service
(Property development business) 0 0

BERERKRRBHIRFEH EERER)

B7 Anti-corruption
B7TR&S
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Company and its employees 0 0
FIEHH AR REBE TEBTALEEENETFHARN

Total Total

Trained training Trained training

Anti-corruption training employees hours employees hours

REFEI RiEEANE BZINEE RIEEAE B2

Anti-corruption training provided to directors 5 5 5 5
mMESREENRESE

Anti-corruption training provided = Senior Management 5 10 10 20

to employees SR EERE
mETRENRESE Middle Management & General 4 8 8 16

and Technical Staff
FAREEEHE KK
FimET
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Appendix | ESG Key Performance Indicator B #% 1 ESG B SR EXIEIR (48)
(Continued)

Scope of social data collection HEHBRWESRSE
Social data collected from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 was included #HE#HBEHRE_Z_NENA—HE_ZE_1

in this ESG report, covering the Group’s headquarter in Hong Kong, ©=B=+—H; WESHBEQELERETHE
Zigong Zhongzhi Cultural Tourism Investment Co. Ltd. and Guangdong #f~ BEE R EXLIRFREBEATNERSE

Boluo Yuanzhou Midas Printing Limited. HEBREMNEEDNEBRAG ©

Notes to social data and coefficients tEBIEE AR EGEREA

1) The formula for calculating the B1.2 employee turnover rate is: 1) ANEEFTEB1.28 TRALERMAINS !
employee turnover ratio = the number of leaving employees ETRALEEXR=AEHBEE NS (F
during the year / (the number of employees at the beginning of VEEASB+AFABEEAS

the year + the number of entering employees during the year).

2)  The formula for calculating the percentage of B3.1 trained 2) ZXAEBEFEBIIZIIEETDLEHNAR

employees in the Group is: percentage of trained employees A RIEEEDL=-HEEXRZIIERE
= number of trained employees during the year/number of N8 FERBE A B32 AHIZHREH
employees at the end of the year. The formula for B3.2 trained NRA T NI H=4EZ I )EFEE
hours per person is: number of trained hours per person = total FEBANE -

trained hours/number of employees at the end of the year.
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Appendix Il ESG Reporting Guide Content

Index

ESG indicator

EVEE

B 5 |I<(|£%iﬁ ‘HERERRSE

Chapter/Disclosure

IRIE - HEREBIER B WMENE

A1 General disclosure Information on the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and Environmental
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

A1—RIEEE BRERERERBRN s MARI M - AERESESE IR
MNEESENBRRETETABEAZENEREZR ARG
NEK -

Al1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Appendix | ESG Key

Performance Indicator
PR R R AR RAER IR © B % | ESG RA A ISR

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Appendix | ESG Key
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit Performance Indicator
of production volume, per facility).

B (#E1) RERERE EE2) REREINE LIEFTE) K (0 ikl ESGRIREMIER
BR)EE WUSESSEN - BIEREE)

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and where appropriate, Appendix | ESG Key
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance Indicator
FREEEEREEYAEE UWHtE) K (NEBER) BE WIUEBESE ikl ESGRARBENISE
B - BIERME) o

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Appendix | ESG Key
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance Indicator
FREAREEEYEE UEHE) kK (WER) BE WIUESESE ik ESGRARBENISE
B« §IERMEE) o

A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Environmental
them.

PRSI I NHEN 2 B R R A EDE L BRI P B RIR

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Environmental
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

HEIEESRBEEEYNG E > RERMETINREEER RIE

AERBLEEIRPTERENAI D BY o
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Appendix Il ESG Reporting Guide Content Mgk N(RIE ~ HERERRES
Index (Continued) VEL1NE E)
ESG indicator Chapter/Disclosure
R - HERERER B MEANE
A2 General disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water Environmental
and other raw materials.
A2—fRIREE BRERER (BIFER - KREMEMR) BB IRIE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, Appendix | ESG Key

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

gas or oil) in total (kWh in *000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

RENEINNERKR/ IEEER WE - fRI0H) LFEE UTE
FRESFE) RBE (WMUSESEA tIE ShfstE) ©

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

MFEKERTZE WUSESE  BIEREH) ©

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

HitEREANE B R R AEDELE BRI ER -
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

HESKREVE R ACR LAl AR AR 0 MU FTE] LAk = B R
K iR B B AR EREN AV §X o

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and,

if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

BpLanPr A EEMRBEE (CUESTE) Kk (NER) SEESBLE -

A3 General disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the

environment and natural resources.

A3—fRIKEE BREEITAHRRIERRAEREME AT ERNEER
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment

and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HAEBFHHREARRABERNEATERBHRNEERFRAZY
2178 -

A4 General disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related

issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the

issuer.

Ad— G EE DE%%'J&W%TE%“ AREEHETAELERENEAREHERASEE
AIER

A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.
BB RPIEEHETAELEXSENEARGEHEBERT » &E
HiTE
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Appendix Il ESG Reporting Guide Content B &% 11 (ER 15

Index (Continued)

ESG indicator
IRIE - HERERIER

%I))?%I(%)

‘HERERRSE

Chapter/Disclosure

B/ RERE

B1 General disclosure

B1—fR K&

B2 General disclosure

B2—ARiIE

B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,

and other benefits and welfare.

BRIFTN R AR « 1B RS A ~ TIFRE - REA
by REERUREMGTERBHNNBRKRETHETARE
EREREERRBINER o

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or
part-time), age group and geographical region.

TR EBEEE 2B RE)  FRARN RMEE 5
“agy o

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.
R~ FEMAN Rt E S DHEEMAKLEE -

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

ERRHEZE2TFRERREREBREBEMEEENERRET

HBETABEALENBEBZERBFNER o

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the
past three years including the reporting year.

BEZF (BEEREE) SERITHNAB KSR -

Lost days due to work injury.

AITGELATIFEE -
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted
and how they are implemented and monitored.

B PAER BB R R ER R 2 24570 > UURMERAITRER X °

FEEE 5771:

THEES

Employment and labour
practices

BRRFELER

Appendix | ESG Key
Performance Indicator
&k ESGRARAE N E K
=

Appendix | ESG Key
Performance Indicator
PRl ESGRARGNE K
=

Occupational safety and
health

BEZDERE

Appendix | ESG Key
Performance Indicator
Pk ESG RAR AN I
Appendix | ESG Key
Performance Indicator
Mk ESGRARBEMIER
Occupational safety and
health

L BEE
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Appendix Il ESG Reporting Guide Content MIgZN(IRIE - HERERRSIE

Index (Continued) 51 &35! (&)

ESG indicator Chapter/Disclosure

R - HERERER B MEANE

B3 General disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for Employee development
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. and training

B3—fRiEE BRARAREEBIT LEBBENM BRI ENBER - HilFEs - EEEERKIEI

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Appendix | ESG Key
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Performance Indicator
ZURREESERN WESREEE - PREERE A 0NZIEE MR ESGRARENER
Batbe =

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Appendix | ESG Key
employee category. Performance Indicator
R RIEELERE D > BRIEBTHZINNTIFEEL Bk | ESGREREINE K

=
B4 General disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and Labour standards

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.

B4— iR ik &= BERBLEETIHRFE THNRERETHETABEARENE HITEL]
B RRBINER o
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Labour standards
child and forced labour.
iR REE B AR B B & T Kaails T o BT AR
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Labour standards
discovered.
IR IRER IR EOH PR BB ST EREN Y 2 BR o T 2R
B5 General disclosure Policies on managing the environmental and social risks of the Supply chain
supply chain. management
B5—figi% & EIRMEENIRIE KT & REEES HIEEEIE
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Appendix | ESG Key
Performance Indicator
@8 D EREE - Mi&x| ESGRERAME K
=
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supply chain
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they management

are implemented and monitored.
ML ERERAMHERNEL  MERTERESNNMHEEmEE > (HEEEE
MR BRI IT I BB 5 7% o

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social Supply chain
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and management
monitored.

B RAANHEERSERONIRERTEREBNED » UKRE HEREEE
AT REER 5% ©
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Appendix Il ESG Reporting Guide Content B &% 11 (ER 15

Index (Continued)

ESG indicator

%I))?%I(%)

‘HERERRSE

Chapter/Disclosure

R - HERERER B MEANE
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Supply chain
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are management
implemented and monitored.
HATREEEERREELRARRERRBNED > UkIERE HEEEE

B6 General disclosure

B6—f%i &

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5

HITRERAE -

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress.
ERMREERNRZNREEEZS - BES - RERMBESEEN
A ENERRETHEITABEARZENEREE KRB
&K o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
BENEEXEREHTRLREIREAMEAERKNE L -
Number of products and service related complaints received and
how they are dealt with.

RN ERRBRBHNRFEE UREE X o

Description of the practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

ot B3 4 5 e R B R 8 72 R RA RO B B o

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
HiLE MBIz & EMBWZR o

Description of the consumer data protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

O B E B RHRE A BRI > URBEANITRERS X -

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 - —Z — A FF R

Product responsibility

EmEFE

Appendix | ESG Key
Performance Indicator
Pk | ESG ARG ISR
Appendix | ESG Key
Performance Indicator
ik ESGRARBE M IER
Product Responsibility

EmBE
Product responsibility
EmER
Product responsibility

EmERE
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Appendix Il ESG Reporting Guide Content B &% 1 (IR 35 s HERESREE
Index (Continued) 5IY& 35| (! E)

ESG indicator Chapter/Disclosure
R - HERERER EHIRBEANE

B7 General disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and Anti-corruption

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B7 — iR E BRAFLEEE R  MFERARENEERETHETABRE KkES
FENBREERERNER o
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Appendix | ESG Key
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting Performance Indicator

period and the outcomes of the cases.

REBRMABRETANEEESRHTCEENESHARZMFNE Mk ESGRIREMER

B RReRAER o *=
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, Anti-corruption
how they are implemented and monitored.
SR B RIZT > URERNITRER G E © R&ES
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and Anti-corruption
employees.
MEEKEESRHNREFEHEIINELT o R&5
B8 General disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Community investment

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.

B8 —fikik &= E%uﬁ@%ﬁkT%%EﬁEﬁ%%Eﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%@%% HERE
& F & B BUER
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concemns, Community investment

labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EAEMEE (NHEE RESE - FIER -BE -XE 85 - HEEKSR

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community investment
AEIBEMBAER WEREER) - HEXRSE
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Report of the Directors
EFTHRS

The Board presents the report of the directors together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2025.

Business Review

The information on business review is set out in the Management and
Discussion and Analysis on pages 13 to 25 of this annual report. Such
discussion forms part of this “Report of the Directors”.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis
of Operations

The Company is an investment holding company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its subsidiaries are established in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and the British Virgin Islands. The Group is primarily
engaged in manufacturing and trading of printed products, property
development, property investment and treasury business. The principal
activities and other details of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Analysis of the performance of the Group for the year by business lines
and geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to 244 of this
annual report.

Dividend

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Additional Disclosure Regarding the Modified
Opinion

The independent auditor of the Company issued a disclaimer of opinion
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025 in the independent auditor’s report. In view of
the disclaimer of opinion, the Board has provided additional information
in the “Corporate Governance Report”.
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Particulars of Principal Properties

Particulars of principal investment properties and completed properties
for sale held by the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set out on pages
245 1o 247 of this annual report.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 248 of this annual
report.

Major Suppliers and Customers

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 65%
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to 27%.

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than
51% of the total sales for the year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the number
of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in these major
suppliers or customers.

Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

The Group establishes long-term cooperation relationships with
reputable suppliers within the industries. The Group implements a
series of procurement management systems and control procedures
S0 as to select suppliers in a prudent manner.

The Group keeps good relationship and maintains effective
communication mechanisms with its customers. This is to ensure that
the Group is well aware of all customers’ requirements or feedbacks
on a timely basis and provide high quality services to its customers.

EFEMEEH

AEEBR _E_HRF=A=+—HFFAEZE
BEREMERERISEYEZERFEHNA
FIRFE245F247H o

MR

AEBRROAEVRFEZXBREERER
MEHNAFRF248E

TEHEBRER

AEBRAHESIELNREBEGAEERE
4BEEG5% » H R KHERLH27% °

AAEBRAATLEHMNNEREAFEELRN
ERBAE51% °

EX REZEBBMBANEARR GBRESF
NEBARBEETRMUBBES%E) HEN
EEFEHEEATRPEAEERERD -

BHEERERZHR

AEREENGERFZHMEBRELRASE
Bk - cEBBER —RIRBEEENEREE
2R DUBEIEZ T VEEMER o
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Share Capital

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

Pursuant to the Company’s Article of Association, share premium,
other reserve and contributed surplus of the Company are available
for distribution to ordinary shareholders (after deduction of the
accumulated losses) provided that the Company will be able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately
following the date on which any such distribution is proposed to be
paid.

Detail of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 149
of the annual report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities

During the year ended 31 March 2025, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities listed and traded on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xiang Jun (appointed on 1 February 2025)
Ms. Zhou Lan (appointed on 1 September 2024)
Ms. Mou Li (resigned on 1 February 2025)
Mr. Liang Fan (resigned on 1 September 2024)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wang Zhengjun

Mr. Liu Ying Shun

Mr. Wang Ping (appointed on 20 July 2024)
Mr. Xu Jianfeng (resigned on 20 July 2024)

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third
of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at annual general
meeting and be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Wang Zhengjun
will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Thursday, 28 August 2025.

Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election at the relevant meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Xiang Jun and Ms.
Zhou Lan will offer themselves for re-election as Directors at annual
general meeting.

The initial term of office of each independent non-executive Director will
be two years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least
once every three years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management as at the
date of this annual report are set out on pages 27 to 31 of this annual
report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or
its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts that are
Significant in relation to the Group’s Business

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company, or any of its holding
companies, its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, was a party and
in which a Director or the Director’s connected entities had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had
any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

Annual Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company
considers such Directors to be independent in accordance with each
and every guideline set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors nor chief executives of the
Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange pursuant to
the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year under review, none of the Directors and chief
executives nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age were
granted or had exercised any right to subscribe for any securities
of the Company, its specified undertaking or any of its associated
corporations.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares FERFEN I RERIRG 2 xS
and Underlying Shares

So far as is known to the Directors or chief executives of the Company A AT EFHESTHAERM R
as at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of personsin  —HAE=B=+—H > T ALTEEFELRLATZ
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to BRI &RABRAR M T R XA MIBEE S KIS
be disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions {5 SEXVEF 2 K& 397 28 Z & X B A A& A T
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required, pursuant B > iR IE 5 5 R EAE (KB 55 XV 31 55 336 1% 4R
to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register EBESRERKZBSCMIIT :

referred to therein were as follows:

Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares of the MERTEBEKRZER
Company
Aggregate Approximate
Number of Percentage of
Ordinary Interest in the
Shares of the  Ordinary Shares
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Company Held of the Company
TAE
¥ /NG| i
R 2B 8515 HmtE B RS =R e
Qingda Developments Limited Beneficial owner 1,905,583,473' 32.97%
BEERBRAT EREEA
New Element Investments Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473! 32.97%
(“New Element”) ("New Element] ) ZEGEEz EE
Integrity Fund Limited Partnership Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
(“Integrity Fund”) (Mntegrity Fund 1) SEEEE R
Kapok Wish Investment Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473' 32.97%
(“Kapok Wish”) (TKapok Wish J) SESIAE 2
Xinsheng International Holding Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
(“Xinsheng International”) ZEGEE R
MRBEPREZERARLE (TFRER)
Zeng Dazhang Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473' 32.97%
BAE RESIEE 2 R
Wang Xigiang Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
F 7 RESEE 2 R
Ally Cosmo Group Limited (“Ally Cosmo”) Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473' 32.97%
HHEBBRAB (THHE) DEGEE 2 R
Li Li Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
3 RESIEE 2 R
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Aggregate Approximate
Number of Percentage of
Ordinary Interest in the
Shares of the  Ordinary Shares
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Company Held  of the Company
AT
FRifEAR AT EiEREs
RERER 2B 815/ #EEME EBiEREEH SR e
Juye Investments Limited (“Juye Investments”)  Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
ISE3°3=£S) CUNSINUISE $3:3= 1) REGEE S
Zhang Jing Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
IREE REGEEZ EE
Shining Orient Investment Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
(“Shining Orient”) ( "Shining Orient J) REGEE R
Pioneer Fund Limited Partnership Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
(“Pioneer Fund”) (Pioneer Fund 1) TEGRIEEZ Bm
Hong Kong Huixin Investment Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
(“Hong Kong Huixin”) RESEEZ EE
HLEERERRAE (HI1ER))
Higher Cycle Investment Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473' 32.97%
(“Higher Cycle”) (MHigher Cycle]) SZEGEE Em
SFund International Investment Fund Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
Management Limited (“SFund International”) &I kB~ e
EMNECEERELERSEEERAT
(TEMNEZEPR)
Guangzhou Huiyin Tianye Equity Investment Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473' 32.97%
Fund Management Company, Limited ZEGEE R
BMNERRXERELERSEEERAT
Guangzhou Technology Financial Innovation Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473' 32.97%
Investment Holdings Limited ZEGEE R
BN ERaMREERERAE
Guangzhou Industrial Investment Fund Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473' 32.97%
Management Company, Limited SEEEE
EMNEELEEEEERARAT
Guangzhou City Construction Interest of a controlled corporation 1,905,583,473" 32.97%
Investment Group Limited SYESIAE 2
BNmEmERREERFRAF
Luso International Banking Limited Security interest in the shares 1,905,583,4732 32.97%

(“Luso International”)
RPIEIPRERTT (DRPIEIFE])

IR Z R
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Aggregate Approximate
Number of Percentage of
Ordinary Interest in the
Shares of the  Ordinary Shares
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Company Held  of the Company
AT
Fﬁ?#zt’/.\\:J ERkED
ReRE 21 819/ #=EH AR EL B4 E 7
Huijin Dingsheng International Holding Beneficial owner 1,618,143,724° 28.00%
Company Limited BmEBA
EEREERERERAR
Xu Ruigiao Interest of a controlled corporation 1,618,143,724° 28.00%
G RESEE 2 R
Notes: B 5%
1. Such interests represented 32.97% of the issued share capital of the Company 1. ZERGHERRABEEZRERBRRABDBEEZARR

owned by Qingda Developments Limited, a company wholly-owned by New
Element, which is in turn wholly-owned by Integrity Fund. The limited partner of
Integrity Fund is Xinsheng International, which is owned 50% by Mr. Zeng Dazhang
and 50% by Mr. Wang Xigiang. The general partner of Integrity Fund is Kapok
Wish. Kapok Wish is owned as to 30% by Ally Cosmo, 30% by Juye Investments
and 40% by Shining Orient. Ally Cosmo is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Li, and Juye
Investments is wholly-owned by Ms. Zhang Jing. Shining Orient is wholly-owned
by Pioneer Fund. The limited partner of Pioneer Fund is Hong Kong Huixin, which
is wholly-owned by SFund International. The general partner of Pioneer Fund is
Higher Cycle, which is wholly-owned by SFund International. SFund International is
wholly-owned by Guangzhou Huiyin Tianyue Equity Investment Fund Management
Company, Limited (“Huiyin”). Huiyin is wholly-owned by Guangzhou Technology
Financial Innovation Investment Holdings Limited (“Guangzhou Technology”).
Guangzhou Technology is wholly-owned by Guangzhou Industrial Investment Fund
Management Company, Limited (“Guangzhou Industrial”). Guangzhou Industrial is
wholly-owned by Guangzhou City Construction Investment Group Limited, which
is a state-owned enterprise of the People Republic of China. Accordingly, all of the
abovementioned parties were deemed to be interested in the interests owned by
Qingda Developments Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

2. Luso International is interested in 1,905,583,473 shares in its capacity as a person
having a security interest in the shares.

3. Such interests represented 28.00% of the issued share capital of the Company
owned by Huijin Dingsheng International Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly-owned by Ms. Xu Ruigiao. Accordingly, Ms. Xu Ruigiao is deemed to
be interested in the interests owned by Huijin Dingsheng International Holding
Company Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
as at 31 March 2025, there was no other person who was recorded
in the register of the Company as having interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.
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Controlling Shareholder’s Interest in
Contracts

There was no contract of significance between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this annual

ERRRNEHNZED

TERKRBERFRAPL  ZRBHEEM
B AR MERAQHERR R EERNE
ARBFILEAERGH o

report.

Share Option Scheme

BBt E

A summary of the share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”)  AxAB) Z BERS#EEtE (T22518))) BIEHIIWT ¢

is set out as follows:

1. Purpose:

B89 :

2. Participants:

W

2% !

3.  Total number of shares available for issue
under the Scheme and percentage of the
issued share capital that it represents as at
the date of this annual report:

RIBZA B BT ZRMBHRENERE
HREMBPMMLZEEITRABD !

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant:

SR2RENERZBERIELR:

To give incentive to non-executive Directors, employees, suppliers,
customers or business consultants of the Group and any other party
as approved under the Scheme.

MYREEZFRTEE - EE-HEH BFRHEFBEBMZ
STEIHLE Z AT E A A 22 o

Including, inter alia, non-executive Directors, employees, suppliers,
customers or business consultants of the Group.

B HPaE) ~&EB2ERNTES - BE - HEM BRI
SRR o

577,919,666 ordinary shares are available for issue under the
Scheme, representing 10% of the issued share capital as at the date
of this annual report.

R¥EZ 28] F317577,919,666 8 Z i@k » BENAFERBIE
BITRR A 10% ©

The maximum number of shares issuable under options granted
to each eligible participant in accordance with the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company (or such other percentage as may from time to
time be permitted under the Listing Rules and all other applicable
laws and regulations) at any time. Any further grant is subject to the
shareholders’ approval in general meeting with the participant and the
close associates of such participant abstaining from voting.
BREZAR TR EERSEENBREN T 121858 SRR
AETEERMHERRAQABREAEEEETRAN1% (3
LRI A EMBR AR AERARESF 2 BMAMBE L) o
FRE—FPREBFRIENREAG LHEAZB2EERZSHE
ENERMBANERERAGAIEE
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o Period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option:

RIEB R AW ZHAMR

6.  Amount payable on acceptance of an option
and the period within which payments shall be
made:

FRINRE IR B R A 2 R R A R HATR

7. The basis of determining the exercise price:

TEEBEEEE !

8.  The remaining life of the Scheme:

Zst 8 HBRFH

An option may be exercised by the grantee at any time during the
period, commencing on the date of offer for option (the “Offer Date”)
(which must be a business day) and in any event such period must
not be more than 10 years from the Offer Date, subject to any
restrictions or the minimum holding periods or conditions (including
but not limited to any performance targets or the time required for
which an option must be held before it can be exercised) on the
exercise of the options as the committee, which is delegated with
the powers of the Directors to administer the Scheme, in its absolute
discretion may determine. No performance target is expressly
specified in the Scheme.

AZATR#EERELR (MR BH) WEAEEH) LM
WEE R T ER IR > I ER A > BRANE NGB EILER B AL
ST E AR EEREEEZA B EEMITHERE S
BB RE Z R ARG SRR A BARR SR 4 (BB B R FRIMEMIF
RIS AT AR EFF B B Z B5IR) FTARIR o %51 8110 RPA
FESRBAE I RITIERR o

No share option has been granted since the date of adoption of the
Scheme on 31 August 2022.

B&8N 2 “F N \B=+—HERME  BERLETE
R HE o

HK$1.00 payable to the Company upon acceptance of option which
should be taken up within 10 days from the Offer Date.

FEIRREZAN EHLIE BRI 10 KRR » MIMEEN FA25)1.00
BT e

No less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of
the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the Offer Date (which must be a trading day); (ii) the
average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the Offer Date (which must be a trading day);
and (jii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.
MERTIZEzERE8E | ((MXFAEARERNHTEAN W
BERAXZH) TRAABIRMN ZWTHE ; () A HRERNE
BHMEBR WEARZH) I EERZ HMRARE RGN 2T
WHE ; Ki)xATRMDEE -

Valid until 30 August 2032 unless otherwise terminated under the
terms of the Scheme.

EREHEE"T="F/N\A=1+HLt  BEREZFEFERT
DU LEBIBR S ©
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Arrangement to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Other than the section “Share Option Scheme” disclosed above, at
no time during the year under review there subsisted any arrangement
to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries or its other associated corporations was a party and
the objectives of or one of the objectives of such arrangement are/is
to enable the Directors, their respective spouse or children under the
age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company, its specified undertaking or any of its
associated corporations.

Equity-linked Arrangements

Save as the Scheme disclosed in the above section “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were
entered into by the Company during the year and subsisted at the end
of the year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

Connected Transaction

The Group did not enter into any connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions during the year which are required to be
disclosed in this annual report pursuant to Rule 14A.49 of the Listing
Rules. Details of the Group’s related party transactions are set out in
note 40 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. None of
such related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction of
the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance

Report for the corporate governance practice adopted by the Company
is set out on pages 33 to 71 of this annual report.

Environmental Policies

With regard to the environmental policies, the Group aims to minimise
the Group’s environmental impact. The Group is committed to
promoting awareness and decisions that contribute to achieving
environmentally sustainable development. The Group will comply fully
with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We will use
fuel, water and other natural resources efficiently and conservatively.
We recognise this to be a continuous process of improvement and we
seek to actively look for environmentally-friendly options and carry out
environmentally-friendly practices whenever appropriate and possible.

Further details will be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company on pages 73 to 122 of this annual
report.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Under Article 179 of the Company’s Articles of Association, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or
criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/
she is acquitted. During the year under review, the Company had taken
out and maintained an insurance in respect of the Directors’ liabilities.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required by the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this annual report.
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Number of Employees and Remuneration
Policy

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 114 (2024: 119) staff and
workers. The Group provides its employees with benefits including
performance-based bonus, retirement benefits contribution, medical
insurance and staff training. Also, the Company adopted the Scheme
to provide alternative means to align the employees’ career goal with
the Group’s business strategy. Details of the Scheme are set out in the
section “Share Option Scheme” of this annual report.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The employees of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China are
members of the Central Pension Scheme operated by the Mainland
China government. There were no forfeited contributions (by employers
on behalf of employees who leave the retirement benefits scheme prior
to vesting fully in such contributions) be used to reduce the existing
level of contributions during the year ended 31 March 2025. As at 31
March 2025, no forfeited contribution under the retirement benefits
schemes of the Group is available to reduce the contribution payable in
future years.

The Group’s remuneration policy for its employees is set up and
approved by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis
of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board, as authorized by the shareholders in annual
general meeting, having regarded to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.
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Loan Agreement(s) with Covenants Relating
to Specific Performance Obligations of the
Controlling Shareholders

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21 of
the Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included in respects
of the Company’s bank loan facilities entered into during the year
and/or subsisting at the end of the year, which contain covenants
requiring specific performance obligations of the Company’s controlling
shareholders (such specific performance obligations do not constitute
or form part of any financial guarantees for repayment):

On 7 January 2021, the Company, as the borrower, entered into a
term loan facility agreement with a bank, as the lender, for a term loan
banking facility of HK$160 million, with final maturity date falling five
years from the first utilisation date. Pursuant to the terms of the loan
facility agreement, the Company undertook to the lender that (j) it shall
procure that SFund International shall directly or indirectly remain as
the largest shareholder of Kapok Wish, and Kapok Wish shall remain
as the general partner of Integrity Fund, and (ii) Integrity Fund (which
is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by
Qingda, a controlling shareholder and the single largest shareholder
of the Company) shall directly or indirectly remain as the largest
shareholder of the Company. Details of the transaction are set out in
the announcement dated 7 January 2021.

Failure to comply with the above requirement will constitute an event
of default under the respective facility agreements. In such case, the
relevant lender stated above may declare the covenants breached
and/or declare all outstanding amounts together with interest accrued
and all other amounts payable by the Company to be immediately due
and payable. As at 31 March 2025, Qingda held 32.97% of the issued
share capital of the Company and is the largest shareholder of the
Company. As such, the above specific performance obligations have
been complied with.
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Annual General Meeting

The 2025 annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Thursday, 28 August 2025 (the “2025 AGM”) at 11:00 a.m. at Room
103, 1/F, Duke of Windsor Social Service Building, 15 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the shareholders’ rights to attend and
vote at the 2025 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, 25 August 2025 to Thursday, 28 August 2025
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 22 August 2025. The record date for ascertaining
Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the meeting is
Thursday, 28 August 2025.

Review of Accounts

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group.
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Changes of auditor

In the three years preceding the year ended 31 March 2025, there
were changes of the auditor of the Company as follows:

On 18 October 2021, Messrs. Ermnst & Young resigned as the auditor
of the Company and Moore Stephens CPA Limited (“Moore”) was
appointed the auditor of the Company.

On 28 March 2024, Moore resigned as the auditor of the Company
and ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor
of the Company to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of
Moore.

The details of the aforesaid resignations and appointments can be
referred to the respective announcements dated 18 October 2021 and
28 March 2024.

Independent Auditor
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited,

who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
as independent auditor of the Company at the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board of
Magnus Concordia Group Limited

Xiang Jun
Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025

140 Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B4 A S ER&H B R A 7

1% 24 B &2 &

ABE_Z_AF=A=+—HIEFEFZ=
BFEE » RATZEEMEEWMT :

TR -FTATNR RKESMEBAR
(M) BEXRABZHME » RAREFHE S
SHEEBRERAR (REERE)) BEES
RATBIZEED ©

REBZWEF=ZA-+N\E > REFHEHT
RRBEE > R PEREGFEMETAAR
ANEELZER/TABZEEN  LURBEAKRES
TSR B (L P AR £ 2 BRI 2R 6A ©

UEFFiBERESEZMGBT2E DRI AR
ABAZE_—F+A+N\NBRZZEZNOF=A
“+tNAHZRE -

AR 2
rEEHE _ZE_HAF=-B=1t—HULEEFEEZ>
REVBBRRERTEZESSITMERAR

AEBZ BRR-_Z_AFRRAFAG L
REANGERIREERSAABEILZEE

RREFE
RAEERBAERAE

#x
f4

& _E_LEA=+H



Independent
Auditor’s Report

BILZEENER S



Independent Auditor’s Report
BRI EMER S

L

ZHONGHUI

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MAGNUS CONCORDIA GROUP
LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Disclaimer of Opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Magnus Concordia Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 146 to 244,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a
basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going concern basis
of accounting

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of HK$85,172,000 and
had net operating cash outflow of HK$11,768,000 for the year ended
31 March 2025 and as at 31 March 2025 the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$182,578,000. In addition, the Group’s bank loans with
the aggregate amount of HK$88,000,000 as at 31 March 2025 contain
repayment on demand clause and financial covenants which were
breached during the year ended 31 March 2025, as detailed in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore,
that the Group may not be able to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis. The directors of the Company adopted several
measures together with other measures in progress as described in
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements to mitigate the liquidity
pressure and improve its financial position and cash flows.

In respect of the Group has actively carried out promotional activities to
attract more customers to purchase the completed properties in order
to increase the sale proceeds through sales or pre-sales in the coming
twelve months and seeking for other alternatives to increase its working
capital such as disposing of the Group’s investment properties,
management was unable to provide us with sufficient information about
the details of the plan, including the detailed timetable and actions
to be implemented because of the unpredictable market changes.
Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence that we considered necessary to evaluate the Group’s ability
to accelerate the sales of its properties.

In respect of seeking for other alternative financing and bank
borrowings to finance, the settlement of the existing financial
obligations and future operating and capital expenditure, management
was unable to provide us with sufficient information about the details
of the fund-raising plan and no new financing agreements have been
reached. Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence that we considered necessary to evaluate the Group’s
ability to have the new financing.
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

In view of the above scope limitation, there were no other alternative
procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves that the Group
would be able to implement its plans and measures, as a result, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence we considered
necessary to conclude whether the use of the going concern basis
of accounting to prepare the consolidated financial statements is
appropriate.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

144 Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B ASEER&HD B R A 7

BIERTERZER (B)

EN LHEBERS > HIWEAEMBIERITH
BERREFASHMAGH SEERENERE
stEI R IE M - AL > FAIREMFHFIE /L
ZERDBEEREE > UMRARFEEE G
BEREGRRZGEMBREEELSIFRER -

i BEBEAREBIHR CMstE RER > BRI
BEAEBLFESENIIESE  TRFHA
oKk EEEEENKREEMBEETWE
T AEAREEENE—TERFHER
Uk IFRBIBEERIFRBERDRENRDE
ARBEERMBER BERBNTELR
RREZFGEEMBHRED

EFMAROMBRRAKENGE

EFXACERBEEBGSHMAE (BB G
NE)) BHE(EBY B RS G EI RES
(RBEFODHRBRERBEEMPT GRS
MBEHE THHARARERGHMBRRIE
BAFERNRFFNERMERNERERR
PR AR ERIGS o

TREBEGEVHRRE  EFXAETH 8%
BFEEENES > TEBRBR MKEREE
BEEAMNER UREAFECE g5
B BRFEFARE SEEBENELL
o R EEMBERNERSTE -



Independent Auditor’s Report
BRI EMER S

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report.
However, because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO7374

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

reEmkEMEEEER
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=A=1+—HIEFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FET FET
Revenue YA 9 205,814 271,012
Cost of sales & A4S (167,670) (221,481)
Gross profit EH 38,144 49,531
Other income, expense and net losses  E UL A ~ X H R E51E548 10 (10,558) (7,277)
Selling and marketing expenses THE MEES H (8,779) (15,249)
Administrative and other operating THERREMKE T H
expenses (35,950) (66,482)
Impairment of stock of properties MEFSRIE 11 (15,373) (4,548)
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) FEW R FURERE[E], CRifE)
of accounts receivable 26 1,842 (2,960)
Change in fair value of investment KEMZEZ AT EEE)
properties 20 (48,059) (71,650)
Fair value change of financial assets BAFEFABRR . CREE
at fair value through profit or loss 2N EEE) - (488)
Operating loss mEEsE 12 (78,733) (119,123
Finance costs MEEH 13 (7,435) (10,151)
Loss before tax IR AT RS (86,168) (129,274)
Income tax credit FTiSiRiE R 14 996 11,857
Loss for the year FEEEE (85,172) (117,417)
Other comprehensive loss: HthZmEEE :
Item that may be reclassified to profit Bl FEEM T AR mAYIER
or loss:
Exchange differences on translation MEBINER 2 EREEE
of foreign operations (307) (5,767)
Total comprehensive loss for the ERTHEE ANELEEE
year attributable to owners 2 EEE4EEE
of the Company (85,479) (123,184)
Basic and diluted loss per share SREARKREEEE GB()
(HK cents) 17 (1.47) (2.03)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ra MBI RR
As at 31 March 2025
RZZ2ZRF=H=+—H

2025 2024
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FET FET
Non-current assets EREIEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BERZRE 18 9,685 11,427
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 3,632 13,396
Investment properties KEYE 20 231,600 320,804
Intangible assets mEEE 22 424 =
Other assets Hih&E 23 11,490 16,407
Deferred tax assets R IEE = 34 3,220 3,473
Total non-current assets ERENEEEE 260,051 365,507
Current assets MBIEE
Inventories =78 24 8,903 10,197
Completed properties for sale ERTIFEYE 25 179,324 262,501
Accounts receivable JFEUR BR R 26 66,824 32,848
Prepayments, other receivables FETFRIE ~ EfhEURARRR
and other assets REMEE 27 69,788 48,659
Restricted bank balances ZRHERITLEF 28 3,559 8
Cash and bank balances BE KIRTHERE 28 20,299 35,308
Total current assets MEEEEE 348,697 389,521
Current liabilities mEmaE
Accounts payable FE{TRR R 29 60,360 65,965
Accrued charges and other payables FEST & R & B FE (T AR TR 30 44,362 52,654
Contract liabilities =) =N 31 3,741 8,484
Bank and other borrowings IRIT R EMMERR 32 127,654 129,432
Tax payable FETRIE 294,364 297,625
Lease liabilities HESRE 33 794 1,523
Total current liabilities mENBEARER 531,275 555,683
Net current liabilities mEaERE (182,578) (166,162)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRSHEE 77,473 199,345
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ra MBI RR
As at 31 March 2025
RZZ2ZRF=H=+—H

2025 2024
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FET FET
Non-current liabilities ERHERE
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAMERR 32 4,000 26,379
Deferred tax liabilities EIERRTEE & 34 16,190 21,347
Lease liabilities HEESRE 33 625 9,482
Total non-current liabilities JEREN B EAEEE 20,815 57,208
NET ASSETS BEFE 56,658 142,137
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners TATEE AEGER
of the Company
Share capital [N 35 577,920 577,920
Deficit E5 4t (521,262) (435,783)
TOTAL EQUITY W AA%E 56,658 142,137

The consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to 244 were H146BEEF244BNGEEHBTRERN _-Z
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 —AENA=t+HK&EE T AR BETIZE

June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: WAL TEERNREE !
Zhou Lan Xiang Jun
A= LIk
Director Director
FF BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

n-F

SN ETE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=—F=1+—HILFE

Share Share Other Merger Exchange  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
Rk RivaE Rt i1 ER G ZithiE BiEan
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL Tén Tén TEL TEL TEL
(note i) (note i) (note il
(R ) (P i) (Pt i)
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=EMF-A 517,920 331,610 4,000 24,000 11,731 (683,940) 265,321
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - (117,417) (117417)
Other comprehensiveloss for the year:  EEEM2EESSE
Exchange differences on translation BERN SR ERER
of foreign operations - - - - (5,767) = (6,767)
Total comprenensive loss for the year ~ EE2ABIREE - - - - (5,767) (117417) (123,184)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIBME=A=1-H
R=F_MENE-H 517,920 331,610* 4,000¢ 24,000 5,964* (801,357)* 142,131
Loss for the year EEFE - - - - - (85,172) (85,172)
Other comprehensiveloss for the year:  EEEM2EEE
Exchange differences on translation BEEN SR ERER
of foreign operations - - - - (307) - (307)
Total comprenensive loss for the year ~ EEZ2ABELE - - - - (307) (85,172) (85,479)
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-aFE=A=1-H 517,920 331,610* 4,000* 24,000 5,697* (886,529)¢ 56,658
Notes B &
i) Pursuant to the special resolution approved by the shareholders of the Company (i) RIBEARBDREREARBED ZE—RERRAFAE L

(i)

(i)

in the 2016 annual general meeting of the Company, share premium, other reserve
and contributed surplus of the Company are available for distribution to ordinary
shareholders of the Company (after deduction of the accumulated losses) provided
that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business immediately following the date on which any such distribution is
proposed to be paid.

Other reserve represents the excess of the face value of redeemable preference
shares over the consideration paid upon redemption in 2004.

Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of shares of
the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s ordinary shares
issued for the acquisition at the time of a group reorganisation in 1996.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated deficit of HK$521,262,000
(2024: HK$435,783,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(i)

(i)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A, ILE
EARERER
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-_AF=-RA=1+—HIFE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ExT T8
Cash flows from operating activities REEEFIBIRENRE
Loss before tax PRI AR5 1E (86,168) (129,274)
Adjustments for: HEE
Finance costs FIE & 7,435 10,151
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #2 ~ B KRB BT E 2,500 3,117
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 853 1,613
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) EFERE CRERRE)
of inventories 424 (850)
Impairment of stock of properties MEGFERE 15,373 4,548
Impairment of intangible assets ETEERE 351 -
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment FEU AR RN CRUEREE]) RE
of accounts receivable (1,842) 2,960
Write-down of other assets HME E 2 Mok 4,917 7,755
Impairment of prepayments A RRIBRE - 780
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE BEKRKE
plant and equipment Z W= (11) (1,530)
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYE 2 I8 7,089 =
Loss on lease termination FAE&RIEZEE 74 =
Fair value change of financial assets at fair BAFEFABRZ
value through profit or loss ETHMEEZ ATEE - 488
Change in fair value of investment properties & &Y~ AT EEE) 48,059 71,650
Bank interest income IRITH B U (375) (580)
Net exchange gain PE 2 U = 3 RE (577) (1,058)
Operating cash flows before movements SESTETR
in working capital RERE M= (1,898) (29,730)
Decrease in inventories =8/ 870 1,372
Decrease in completed properties for sale ERTHFEMFERD 66,193 121,080
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable FEUR BRER (12 10) R (32,134) 6,089
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TERRIE ~ EMEWEART R
other receivables and other assets Hh& = (gm) R (21,492) 8,999
Decrease in financial assets at fair value BATEFAEEmLZ
through profit or loss ERMEERD - 800
Decrease in accounts payable FE{T BR FUR (5,374) (59,603)
(Decrease)/increase in accrued charges FEST & B R ELth FE (T BR =X
and other payables CRiZL) /1810 (8,186) 4,218
Decrease in contract liabilities =Y OR=KF -1 (4,735) (9,590)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations KEES (FTA) FTEAXRE (6,756) 43,635
Mainland China income tax paid BB K EMER (5,012) (3,514)
Net cash (used in)/generated from gaEs (FrA) FREXE
operating activities IREHRE (11,768) 40,121
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=B=+—HILFE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from investing activities REEEFABRENRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BE B2 « MR K& (758) 872
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE (780) o
(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank balances = [RHI$R1T4517F (L H0) /B (3,551) 834
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYZE  BERRE
plant and equipment Z S sIE 11 1,640
Proceeds from disposal of HEREYEZPTERIE
investment properties 33,633 =
Interest received BUH 2 392 543
Net cash generated from REFHNFFEEREFEE
investing activities 28,947 2,145
Cash flows from financing activities BB EERBRERE
New bank and other borrowings raised MIEIRIT R EMER 18,247 15,679
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERRITREMER (42,104) (47,175)
Interest paid BEAFE (7,293) (10,011)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE (749) (1,471)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBFTARERER (31,899) (42,978)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IRE&RIREZEYRE /L FEE (14,720) (712)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYRERIREEEY
of the year 35,308 37,002
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net KiH) 7 5 EF R (289) (982)
Cash and cash equivalents at end E*iﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁéﬁ%
of the year 20,299 35,308
Analysis of balances of cash RERREEEMEESR
and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in the FREMBRARMEZIRE
consolidated statement of financial position KR T4 TF 20,299 35,308
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tR e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=A=1+—HIEFE

152

GENERAL INFORMATION

Magnus Concordia Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in
Hong Kong is Units 02-03, 7/F, Tung Wai Commercial Building,
109-111 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred as the “Group”) are manufacturing and trading of printed
products, property development, property investment and
treasury business.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$85,172,000 and had net operating cash
outflow of HK$11,768,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025
and as at 31 March 2025 the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$182,578,000. In addition, the Group’s bank loans with
the aggregate amount of HK$88,000,000 as at 31 March 2025
contain repayment on demand clause and financial covenants
which were breached during the year ended 31 March 2025,
as detailed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the assumptions that the Group will continue to operate as a
going concern notwithstanding the conditions prevailing as at
31 March 2025 and subsequently thereto up to the date when
the consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue.
In order to improve the Group’s financial position, immediate
liquidity and cash flows, and otherwise to sustain the Group as
a going concern, the directors of the Company have adopted
several measures together with other measures in progress at the
date when the consolidated financial statements are authorised
for issue, which include, but are not limited to, the followings:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=HA=1+—HIEFE

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

U)

(i)

(i)

in relation to the borrowings that the Group had breached
the financial covenants during the year ended 31 March
2025 and are classified as current liabilities, subsequent
to the end of the reporting period, the Group has obtained
a one-off waiver from the bank for the bank borrowing of
HK$88,000,000 and repaid HK$4,000,000 to the bank
as disclosed in note 43. Further, the borrowings was
secured by a pledge of investment properties amounting
to approximately HK$178,100,000. The directors of the
Company is of the view that in the event that if the bank
takes any legal action against the Group to demand
immediate repayment, the investment properties will be
disposed for the settlement, it would not have any material
adverse impact on the business, operation and financial
conditions of the Group;

the Group has actively carried out promotional activities
to attract more customers to purchase the completed
properties in order to increase the sale proceeds through
sales or pre-sales in the coming twelve months. Up to the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the Group has signed the sales and purchase agreements
with customers amounting to HK$19,975,000;

the Group will also continue to seek for other alternatives
to increase its working capital such as disposing of the
Group’s investment properties, if needed; and

the Group will also continue to seek for other alternative
financing and bank borrowing to finance the settlement of
the existing financial obligations and future operating and
capital expenditure.

On the basis of the successful implementation of the measures
described above in the foreseeable future and after assessing the
Group’s current and forecasted cash positions, the directors of
the Company are optimistic that the Group will be able to meet in
full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for the twelve
months from 31 March 2025. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the
going concern basis.

2.

FREEEE ()

() MRBE_ZT-_AF=A=+—H
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#9178,100,000 B TR BV E(EA
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ANNUAL REPORT 2025 - —ZE — A 3R 153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tR e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=A=1+—HIEFE

154

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that may arise and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that
are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on 1 April 2024. HKFRS Accounting Standards
comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”);
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations.
The adoption of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards did not result in significant changes to the Group’s
accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and amounts reported for the current year
and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective. The application of these new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards will not have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards but is not yet
in a position to state whether these new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards would have a material impact on its results
of operations and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tr e SRR M
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=HA=1+—HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. ERGTEER

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong, and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of investment properties which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain
key assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors to
exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

IEEFGEEMBREDREEEMHTRES
TR EBABESRA > UREBH
BREAES LHRAKREBRATEGE
RZRERERNK -

I FEEMHBRERTIRE L FIE 6 4R
5 TRBEREATFEARNKEYEN
BEETES -

mMENEEBYBRE G EN 2GS/
BHRETARKBETEIBRKRRMEE  FE
REFREAZEGFTBRZBEREL
FlEr - ZF SRR A LR RHILE
REPBRERME BERZ KRR MG
5 AR M BRI S IKEE -

RRRIEEFEMHRRFHERZERS
STEREIIAT o

(a) *=EHRE

REVBRROEBELRBRENEB
ABBMEZRB=1T—HLEZHHR
B BIEREEEREG#

BENBERZBHZEZSFOHRE
AlEEEEFZER EXERZ
REENETHENEZEERES
(BT RIEREBREMORE5) 28
HE > BIREENZBRERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=A=1+—HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@) Consolidation (Continued)

156

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Business combination

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-
date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. |dentifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair
values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess
of the Company’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss. The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to
calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, available-for-sale
investment), the amount that was recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised on the same basis as
would be required if the previously held equity interest were
disposed of.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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(c) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting
from this translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of
the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment

160

Buildings comprise mainly factories, offices and staff
dormitories. Property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term
of the relevant lease of the
leasehold land on which the
buildings are situated, or 20
to 30 years

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of the term of
the relevant lease, or 20%

Plant and machinery 6.7% to 33.3%

Furniture and fixtures 20.0% to 33.3%
and office equipment
Motor vehicles 20.0% to 33.3%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An investment
property is measured initially at its cost including all direct
costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value based on valuation by an external independent
valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
the investment property are recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. The principal useful life or the lease term of right-of-
use assets are as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Buildings 2 1o 6 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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(f)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-
term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
US$5,000.

The Group as lessor
Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrencies purchased and held by the Group through
third-party custodian service provider include Polkadot
and Filecoin, which are accounted for as intangible assets
under the cost model. The Group has ownership of and
control over the cryptocurrencies held and employs third-
party custodian service provider to securely store them.
The cryptocurrencies held by the Group are considered
to have an indefinite life. Accordingly, they are not subject
to amortization and are tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired.

Completed properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of properties include acquisition
costs, prepaid land lease payments, construction costs,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct costs
attributable to such properties. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after
the reporting period less selling expenses, or by estimates
based on prevailing market condition or reference to a
valuation report from an independent valuer.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and
where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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@)

(k)

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of
investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial
assets at amortised cost.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)

()

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit
losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with
the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an
amount equal to the expected credit losses that result
from all possible default events over the expected life
of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit
losses”) for trade receivables or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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0

(m)

(n)

Loss allowances for expected credit
losses (Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at
an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit
losses that represents the expected credit losses that result
from default events on that financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are initially recognised
at fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of:

—  the loss allowance; and

— the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation recognised in profit or loss over the
terms of the guarantee contracts.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Revenue from contracts with customers

168

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference to
the customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Employee benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the subsidiaries established in Mainland
China are members of the Central Pension Scheme
operated by the Mainland China government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their covered payroll to the Central Pension Scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation for the subsidiaries
with respect to the Central Pension Scheme is to meet the
required contributions under the Central Pension Scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

170

(w) Borrowing costs

(x)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B ASEER&HD B R A 7

4. EXRGFEXK (@)

(w) fERRANZS

(x)

FHHE ERUEESEREE (F
E-RERBLEERHEBRERR
N EE) MEREEZEREET)
ERERZEEEZME D
EERSEERNLAEFRER
REBERNLER I - EFEME
REXNEEREEZERAIME
HZEEREFMBRRZRERAT
REERERNCZ BB AR

MR —RBRRBIEREEERE
EMEAZEEMS  GERER
EZEMAETENDEBRZEE
ZHRXERELEREFE - EAL
ROBRANAEEZPEAERE
BERTEEMRNSEEREEM
BEAZBEMER) Z T I9EREK
o

FRE M ERp A5 EE BN
Hm A FEED o

B 46 B

BN AL E SRR ET
BT R Bh BB MY Z R £ > B Wk 21 48
BORS > 75 G RERE ©

S ARV /B D IEE 5t
MRS RA P fE R AT 0 UBC & R
FEEBIAE o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e MR R MR
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

(2)

Mainland China land appreciation tax
(“LAT”)

LAT in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) is levied
at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including land
costs, borrowing costs, business taxes and all property
development expenditures. LAT is recognised as an
income tax expense. LAT paid is a deductible expense for
PRC enterprise income tax purposes.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(z) Taxation (Continued)

172

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(z) Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
of the Group whose business objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such
investment properties are measured based on the expected
manner as to how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purpose of
allocating resources and assessing the performance of the
Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of productions processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

174

(bb) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

A

B

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)

)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i

(V)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(bb) Related parties (Continued)

B

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

W)

(V)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of assets

176

Cryptocurrencies that has an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortization and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. The
impairment tests for cryptocurrencies are carried out for
Polkadot and Filecoin, separately. Cryptocurrencies that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period. The
increased carrying amount of cryptocurrencies attributable
to a reversal of an impairment loss, which is recognized
in profit or loss, will not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized for the cryptocurrencies in prior accounting
periods.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
except investment properties, inventories and receivables to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4. EXREFEXK (@)

(cc) Impairment of assets (Continued) (cc) BEERE (8)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. ERGEHBUER (B8)

(Continued)
(dd) B ERIAEE

(dd) Provisions and contingent liabilities

178

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(ee) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
successful implementation of the measures described in note 2
to improve the Group’s financial position, immediate liquidity and
cash flows. The directors of the Company believe that the Group
will have sufficient funds to finance its current working capital
requirements in the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting date. Details are explained in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for certain investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s certain
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred tax
for certain investment properties, the directors have rebutted the
presumption that certain investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered through sale.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Accounting of cryptocurrencies

HKFRS Accounting Standards do not specifically address
accounting for cryptocurrencies. Accordingly, for the preparation
of the annual report, management needs to apply judgment in
determining appropriate accounting policies based on the facts
and circumstances of the Group’s acquisition and holding of
cryptocurrencies.

Based on the business objectives determined by the Group in
purchasing and holding these cryptocurrencies, management
considered that cryptocurrencies purchased and held by the
Group should be accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible
assets accounted for under the cost model.

As disclosed in note 22, in determining fair values used for
impairment tests, management needs to apply judgment
to identify the relevant available markets for trading of
cryptocurrencies, and to consider accessibility to and
activity within those markets in order to identify the principal
cryptocurrency markets to ascertain the respective fair market
values.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Impairment of the Group’s printing business

Management has conducted an impairment review of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets belonging
to the CGU of the Group’s printing business and determined the
recoverable amount of the printing business CGU based on the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

The value-in-use calculation uses cash flow projections based on
the detailed financial budgets approved by management covering
a 5-year period (2024: 5-year period). The CGU’s cash flow
beyond the five-year period is extrapolated using a 2% growth
rate (2024: 2%) and the weighted average cost of capital of 12%
(2024: 12%).

Management estimates the cash flow projections based on
certain assumptions, such as estimated revenue and estimated
margin on earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation, expected revenue and the discount rate. This
evaluation is also subject to changes in factors such as industry
performance and changes in technology. Estimates and
judgements are applied in determining these assumptions, the
disposal values of the property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets and the pre-tax discount rate.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of the Group’s printing business (Continued)

The carrying amount of printing business’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets at 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK$9,479,000 and HK$2,344,000 respectively
(2024: HK$11,163,000 and HK$2,461,000 respectively) without
any impairment recognised (2024: ni).

Impairment of receivables

The loss allowance for receivables is based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on information including
ageing of the accounts receivable, past repayment history
subsequent settlement status, credit profile of the customers and
on-going business relationship with the relevant customers at
the end of each reporting period. Management also considered
forward-looking information that may impact the customers’
abilities to repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the expected credit losses for the impairment assessment.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimates of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active
market for properties in the same location and condition and
subject to similar lease and other contracts. In the absence of
such information, the Group considers information from a variety
of sources, including (i) by reference to independent valuations;
(i) current prices in an active market for properties of a different
nature, condition and location (or subject to different leases
or other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences; (iii)
recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions since
the dates of transactions that occurred at those prices; and (iv)
discounted cash flow projections, based on reliable future cash
flows, derived from the terms of any existing lease and other
contracts, and (where possible) from external evidence such as
current market rates for similar properties in the same location
and condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing
of cash flows. Further details, including the key assumptions
used for fair value measurement, a sensitivity analysis and the
carrying amount of investment properties, are given in note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Determination of net realisable value of completed
properties for sale

The Group’s completed properties for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Based on the Group’s
historical experience and the nature of the subject properties, the
Group makes estimates of the selling prices, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on the prevailing market
conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to be incurred in selling the
properties or a decrease in net sales value, the net realisable
value will decrease and this may result in a provision for
completed properties for sale. Such provision requires the use
of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value and provision for
properties in the period in which the estimate is changed will be
adjusted accordingly. The related disclosures are included in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of inventories of the printing business

The Group assesses the carrying values of inventories of the
printing business by reviewing the inventory listing and ageing
analysis on a product-by-product basis at each reporting
date, and makes impairment for those obsolete, slow-moving
inventories and items that are no longer suitable for use in
production. Provision for impairment is made by reference to
the latest market value and current market conditions for those
inventories identified. The related disclosures are included in
notes 12 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Mainland China land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30%
to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from the sale of properties less deductible expenditures including
land costs, borrowing costs and other property development
expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to LAT.
However, the implementation of these taxes varies amongst
various cities in Mainland China and the Group has not finalised
its LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises these liabilities based on management’s
best estimates. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact income statement and the provision for
LAT in the period in which such determination is made.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk arises on monetary assets and liabilities
being denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency, differences resulting from the translation of financial
statements into the presentation currency of the Group are not
taken into consideration.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The sales of printing products are invoiced mainly in United
States dollars (“USD”), Euro (“EUR”) and RMB. The Group has
foreign currency sales, accounts receivable, other receivables
and cash and bank balances, which expose the Group to foreign
exchange risk. Exchange rate fluctuations have always been
the concern of the Group. The Group currently does not enter
into any derivative contracts to minimise the foreign currency
risk exposure. However, management will consider hedging
significant currency risk should the need arise.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10%
increase and decrease in the Hong Kong dollar against EUR,
and 1% increase and decrease in the Hong Kong dollar against
USD, and 5% increase and decrease in the Hong Kong dollar
against RMB. 10%, 5% or 1% are the sensitivity rates used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represent management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of the reporting period for a 10%, 5% or 1% change in
relevant foreign currency rates. A 10%, 5% or 1% strengthening
or weakening of the Hong Kong dollar against the relevant foreign
currencies will give rise to a decrease or increase in loss before
tax and the impact is shown in the following table.
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in loss before tax

BRAR ARS8 (180)

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ExT T#ET

USD ETT 175 154

EUR BRI 176 54

RMB AR (2,047) (1,460)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of cryptocurrencies
held by the Group, that are classified in the consolidated
statement of financial position as intangible assets. The Group is
not exposed to commaodity price risk.

To manage its price risk arising from cryptocurrencies, the
Group diversifies its portfolio. In the case that the fair value of the
cryptocurrencies held by the Group had increased/decreased
by 10% with all other variables held constant, impairment loss
before income tax for the year ended 31 March 2025 would have
been approximately HK$42,000 lower/higher (2024: HK$nil).

Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset after deducting any
impairment provision in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the principal amounts of the mortgage loans
guaranteed by the Group.

Credit risk of the Group is primarily attributable to deposits
with banks, credit exposures to customers and other debtors
and financial guarantees in respect of mortgage loans of
certain purchasers of the Group’s properties. The Group has
credit policies in place and exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of credit exposures to customers, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, for the printing business, the Group has purchased
credit insurance from Export Credit Insurance Corporation on
certain overseas sales to compensate for losses from debts that
are not collectible. Rentals in respect of investment properties
are payable in advance by tenants in accordance with the lease
agreements.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that rental deposits
are required from tenants prior to commencement of leases.
Proceeds from sales of properties are received in advanced or
upon delivery of the completed properties to customers. As at
31 March 2025, 36% (2024: 61%) of the Group’s total accounts
receivable were derived from the top five customers of printing
business. However, the Group concluded that the credit risk
in relation to its customers is not significant because they have
no history of default in recent years. The Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
considered that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced
and there is no significant concentration of risk on the accounts
receivable which consist of a large number of customers,
spreading across diverse geographical areas.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification. For listed debt investments, the Group also monitors
them by using external credit ratings. The amounts presented are
gross carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure to
credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

MEREERE (&)

EERE (%)

REEBRERMEE (B)

Gross carrying  Amounts applied for various ECL
amounts impairment assessment approaches ECLs
EREEEREEFEERNE
IREAE TR ENEE BHiEERE
General
approach Simplified
Stage 1 approach
—fi&5 %
F—ME li5hlnyape
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
At 31 March 2025 RZZE_H2F=R=+-H
Accounts receivable MR 71,014 - 71,014 4,190
Financial assets included in STARNRIE
prepayments, other receivables and ~ ELfIFEURER TN K
other assets HtEEZ SRHEE
— Normal* - E&* 39,980 39,980 - -
Restricted bank balances SRR TEE 3,559 3,559 - -
Cash and bank balances® Be RiRTEE" 20,299 20,299 - -
134,852 63,838 71,014 4,190
Other item: HiIER .
Financial guarantee contracts HHEEREH 600,527 600,527 - -
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_ME=R=+-H
Accounts receivable FEURER R 38,881 - 38,881 6,033
Financial assets included in STATRNRIE
prepayments, other receivables and  ELf1FEURER TR
other assets EtEEZ SHEE
— Normal* - Eg8* 16,521 16,521 - -
Restricted bank balances SIRHIRIT4EE 8 8 - -
Cash and bank balances* ReERRIEE" 35,308 35,308 = -
90,718 51,837 38,881 6,033
Other item: HiIER .
Financial guarantee contracts IBEREH 706,381 706,381 = =

: B ARERREFEY)  AMEBIRRRA
tEENEREERBAB T BENRBTRZSE
ERVEE BIAESBLREE R RAEEEN
HESHEZWASER) - B8 SMEEZ
EEERIRGA F5E °

The credit quality of the financial assets included in cash and cash
equivalents, other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered
to be “doubtful”.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. M#FEAMEE (&)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERME (8)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) B AR R ERMEEE (8)
The Group measures loss allowance for accounts receivable at KREBMEER 2 HATBEHREEEENEEE
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a STEREUWNARFIV SR RS - WIEREEEE
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience fEstE - IRBEAEEREELLR > TEAXA
does not indicate significant different loss patterns for different BENEBEERXNLAREEERE  HAILERE
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due BHAGEEERER I RE—TEDRE
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different HEFE o

customer bases.

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHARSIEER IREA2{E ESiE A
HK$’000 HK$°000
F#ET F#ET
At 31 March 2025 RIZEZHEF
=B=+—H
Not yet past due R HA 0.1% 60,903 33
Past due for less than 60 days mHA/ D60 B 0.4% 1,985 7
Past due for more than 60 days but BHAZ 760 H
less than 180 days B8/052180H 0.5% 3,181 15
Past due for more than 180 days BHAZ 180 H 83.6% 4,945 4,135
71,014 4,190
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHARS IR REARE ite g
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZMNE
=A=+-H
Not yet past due KA 0.8% 26,360 215
Past due for less than 60 days BHI/LEL 60 H 3.1% 3,914 121
Past due for more than 60 days but mHAZ 60 H
less than 180 days B8.072180H 5.6% 2,413 135
Past due for more than 180 days BEAZ 180 H 89.8% 6,194 5,562
38,881 6,033
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

The Group was not aware of any credit risk on other receivables
and deposits as their counterparties are corporations with proven
credit history. Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are
disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its
current obligations when they fall due. The Group measures
and monitors its liquidity through the maintenance of prudent
ratios regarding the liquidity structure of the overall assets,
liabilities, loans and commitments of the Group. The Group has
put in place a policy of obtaining long-term banking facilities to
match its long-term investments in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. The Group also maintains a conservative level of liquid
assets to ensure the availability of sufficient cash flows to meet
any unexpected and material cash requirements in the ordinary
course of business.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will
be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table below are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows including interest payment.

MEREERE (&)

EERE (%)
B = B RERMEER ()

HRAEBRZRZHTFHEBERFEER
Rz b WAEET MBI RE
thEBUER KRR ZEERRE - BRAE
EHEURNRFTEEZ EERBZE—F
EBLHBERENGEM P IRRMEE6 -

REE & AR

RBETRARBNIEAEERERITRA
Az AREEZRR - AEBEREREE
ZE B BRRAREZREEETT EHE
RBEEZLER UG EREEHRSES
ARt o AEBEFTABER  BRERIRT
FEEUESHEEBRTEAEZ RAR
& o s ZEBRABEEEFTINRT
K EREAEEBTERERETHRZ
REREBURYERNFRIZERRERE

TRERSHAFESHNIINBE ZFERE
BEHREN D AEER R FREEZ S
MEE - PRAIVIZRIBESGHARMEREZ
REREW D BEF SR -
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BE_Z_AF=—FA=1+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

6. MBERERE (&)

RBEEEME ()

Within
one year Within
oron Inthe the third to Over
demand second year fifth years five years Total
—&R BZE
FIZEK BEZER FRER BRRE ek
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
TET TERT TET THET TERT
2025 b -
Accounts payable FETERER 60,360 - - - 60,360
Accrued charges and other payables FE&t E F K ELFE (T BR =X 42,285 - - - 42,285
Bank and other borrowings® RIT R E A B 133,749 4,157 - - 137,906
Lease liabilities HEEE 854 641 - - 1,495
Financial guarantee contracts HEREL 600,527 - - - 600,527
837,775 4,798 - - 842,573
Within
one year Within
or on Inthe the third to Over
demand  second year fifth years five years Total
—FR B=F
FIEEK 5TER FRERN BiBhE 1Rz
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET TET TET
2024 ZZCmE
Accounts payable FEATERRR 65,965 - - - 65,965
Accrued charges and other payables FEt & Fl R ELAFE (T 8R X 50,348 = = = 50,348
Bank and other borrowings* RIT R E A B 142,311 22,951 4,157 = 169,419
Lease liabilities HEER 2,123 2,636 6,652 1,469 12,880
Financial guarantee contracts MHBREREN 706,381 - - - 706,381
967,128 25,587 10,809 1,469 1,004,993

Included in interest-bearing bank borrowings of approximately
HK$105,441,000 (2024: HK$129,432,000) containing repayment on
demand clause giving the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at
any time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, these
amounts are classified as “on demand”.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above repayment on demand clause, the
directors of the Company do not believe that the bank loans will
be called in their entirety within 12 months, and considered that
the bank loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the respective agreements. This evaluation
was made considering: the financial position of the Group at the
date of approval of the financial statements and the fact that
the Group has made all previously scheduled repayments on
time. In accordance with the terms of the bank borrowings, the
contractual undiscounted cash flows including interest payment
for maturity terms as at 31 March 2025 are approximately
HK$33,196,000 (2024: HK$48,072,000) payable less than 12
months, approximately HK$73,998,000 (2024: HK$20,986,000)
payable in the second year, and approximately HK$3,773,000
(2024: HK$72,384,000) payable within third to fifth years.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the position of the Group may
be adversely affected by the changes in market interest rate.
The policy of the Group involves close monitoring of interest rate
movements and replacing and entering into new banking facilities
when favourable pricing opportunities arise.

The interest rate risk of the Group mainly arises from interest-
bearing bank deposits and bank and other borrowings. Bank
deposits and bank borrowings issued at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group currently
does not have any interest rate hedging policy in relation to
interest rate risks. The directors monitor the Group’s exposure
on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging interest rate risks
should the need arise.

As at 31 March 2025, if interest rates had been 1% (2024: 1%)
higher with all other variables held constant, the loss before tax of
the Group would have increased by approximately HK$1,188,000
(2024: HK$1,404,000).

MEREERE (&)

neBEEERE (&)

BE LB ERETER  ARBESR
ARRBTERAEN T BB NE2E
Alel > BRAZERTENRILERE RS
FrEiZIHE HEE o IEIBST S EE | A
EERIMER ST RET BN HR R
Ko7 £E B Itb Al B KRR U0 HA B = P B FUIE T
EH o RIRIRITERZER K2 A
FE=B=+—HEEMNENHZELX
AR IR IR 5 m = B 2l #A A BR 23 49 33,196,000
HEor (ZE T4 48,072,000 ) AR
1218 B WEE » 973,998,000 75 (Z &
—PU4E 120,986,000/ 7T) BIRNE _ER
B8 » K#3,773,00058 7 (Z B /04 :
72,384,000/87T) BN E=EFAFANE
;ﬁ o

RERERATFENXREAR

MERRIEAERR A EERATHZH
REFMI BTN EEZER - AEEZ
BRI RERERNERES  BEANZ
EEREEBIREAEMIRTEE -

FEEZHNXARERREFEZETHE
M ERTTREAMER - MFHF KA B2
IRITERRIBTERSTEER AR TSR
EFNXRER - AEE BB R AR
FIEE AT RE PR - EFGFHEEE
FEBZER  EERERETERHET
MR o

ATEBE_RFH=RA=+—RH'ENXEt
F1% (ZEZPUE : 1%) > MmATA H s
I E AARERZRRATEIERE
P18 10491,188,0008 7t (Z & O£ :
1,404,000787T) ©
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MBREMBER (&)
(Continued)
Categories of financial instruments at 31 A=ZA=+—HEmMITALER
March
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets EHMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost RIE AT EN SR E E
— Accounts receivable — FEUERRR 66,824 32,848
— Financial assets included in prepayments, — st ATE{IFIE « EfhFELR
other receivables and other assets ERREMEEZ
ETMEE 39,980 16,521
— Restricted bank balances — ZIRHIRITHE T 3,559 8
— Cash and bank balances — RERIRITER 20,299 35,308
130,662 84,685
2025 2024
HK$’°000 HK$'000
F#Ex FET
Financial liabilities ERAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEgERA ST ENEMEE
— Accounts payable — FETRR™R 60,360 65,965
— Financial liabilities included in accrued — ST AEE R R EMENS
charges and other payables IRz EmMEas 42,285 50,348
— Bank and other borrowings — IRTT R EMER 131,654 155,811
— Lease liabilities — HE&®E 1,419 11,005
235,718 283,129
Fair value ~rFE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and AEBNGERBRARPRIRNEHE
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of ERTHEENRAEEESBNATE
financial position approximate their respective fair values. GEFEG
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=HA=1+—HIEFE

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The disclosure of fair value measurements of financial
instruments carried at fair value by level in the following fair value
measurement hierarchy:

—  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1)

—  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly (Level 2)

—  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable
(Level 3)

See note 20 for disclosure of the investment properties that are
measured at fair value.

The Group had no Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 financial
instruments as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. There was no
transfer of financial instruments between Level 1 and Level 2 or
transfer of financial instruments into or out of Level 3 for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The fair values of the non-current portion of bank borrowings
were estimated using the expected future payments discounted
at market interest rates. The carrying amounts of the non-current
portion of borrowings approximated their fair values since they
were floating interest rate borrowings.

The carrying amounts less any estimated credit adjustments for
financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one
year, including accounts receivable, financial assets included
in deposits and other receivables, restricted bank balances,
cash and bank balances, financial liabilities included in accounts
payable, accrued charges and other payables and the current
portion of bank and other borrowings approximate their fair
values.

AT(EHE

BRE TV AT EFEFRIELTEIRZ
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*E(E=ZFR
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AERR T _AER-T_NE=A
=t —HUEE - FRBE=FHhZE
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196

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information by business lines

The operating segments of the Group are determined based
on internal reporting to the Group’s chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”) (the executive directors of the Company) for the
purposes of assessing performance and allocating resources.
The internal reporting focuses on the strategic operation and
development of each business unit, of which business units with
similar economic characteristics are organised into an operating
segment for the Group’s CODM to evaluate its performance.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are as follows:

Printing — Manufacture and sale of printed
products

Property development — Development, sale and trading of real
estate properties

Property investment ~ — Investment and leasing of real estate
properties
Treasury — Investment and trading of debts,

equity and other instruments and
asset management

Others and corporate — Other non-reportable business
activities and operating segments and
corporate not constituting a reportable
segment individually, together with
corporate income and expense items

The Group’s CODM assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of earnings or loss before interest
expense and tax (“EBIT” or “LBIT”), representing segment results,
and earnings or loss before interest expense, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (“EBITDA” or “LBITDA”).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=—F=1+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.

Segment information by business lines
(Continued)

Others and corporate segment assets mainly include certain
cash and bank balances, short-term deposits, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets that are managed on a
group basis.

Others and corporate segment liabilities mainly include certain
bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities that are managed

on a group basis and other unallocated liabilities.

The segment information by business lines is as follows:

SEEHR ()

REBEINZHHBEHR (B)

HithWRITHROMEETZCRUEAEE
EENETRERRITER  BHER
ME - BERREUREREEE -

HinR{THROHMERETECREUEAEE
EENETRITREMERUREEERE

MEMKRDEER -

BREZ2INZDEERNT :

Property Property Others and
Printing  development investment Treasury corporate Total
ENRl NERR nERE E%  Hftkf et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEwT FET TEwT TEwT TEwT
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZE-Z_%%
=R=t+-HLEE

Segment revenue (note 9) PEUA (Fir5E9)

Sales 1o external customers AINPR R E 118,301 83,511 4,002 - - 205,814
EBITDA/(LBITDA) EBITDA/(LBITDA) 14,005 (24,355) (53,216) (1,531) (10,283) (75,380)
Depreciation nE (2,558) - - - (795) (3,353)
Segment restlts — EBIT/(LBIT) DEEE - BBIT/(LBM) 11,447 (24,355) (53,216) (1,531) (11,078) (78,733)
Finance costs HEER (7,435)
Loss before tax BitAISE (86,168)
Income tax credit FERER 996
Loss for the year rEEEE (85,172)
As at 31 March 2025 RZZZ1E=R=1+-H
Total assets BEET 91,520 255,344 245,535 891 15,458 608,748
Total liabilties &R 62,084 377,362 16,993 61 95,590 552,090
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.

Segment information by business lines
(Continued)

The segment information by business lines is as follows:

SEER (&)
REBEINZHHBEHR (B)

BREBEVZDBERWT @ (8

(Continued)
Other segment information: HinEER
Property Property Others and
Printing  development  investment Treasury corporate Total
ENRl NERR nERE E%  HAftRIE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEwT FET FET TEwT TEwT TEwT
2025 o
Capital expenditures BRYH 758 - - - - 758
Depreciation of property, % BERRENE
plant and equipment (2441) - - - (59) (2,500)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEERE (117) - - - (736) (853)
Impairment of stock of properties  MEEZSRE - (15,373) - - - (15,373)
Impairment of intangible assets BYEERE - - - (351) - (351)
Bank interest income FITHERA 17 18 57 - 288 375
Fair value loss on investment properties & E#)% 7 AT {EE518 - - (48,059) - - (48,059)
Net exchange gain/{oss) Efka/ (58) 58 143 27) 8 - 469 577
Reversal of impaiment/mpairment)  EWRER A ERR)/ (RifE)
of accounts receivable 2, - (929) - - 1,842
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BERREL NG
plant and equipment - - - - 1 11
Loss on disposal of investment HERENEZ R
properties - - (7,089) - - (7,089)
Write down of other assets HEEZ A - - (4,917) - - (4,917)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. DEPER (48)
Segment information by business lines BEBZIZDEER (8)
(Continued)
The segment information by business lines is as follows: BEBE2V2NEENAT | (&
(Continued)
Property Property Others and
Printing  development investment Treasury corporate Total
EFl NEER NERE E¥  HRIH @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
T T TR TR TR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE-F_M#&

ZAZ+-HLLEE
Segment revenue (note 9) DEA (5E9)

Sales 1o external customers AINPR A E 130915 132,665 7432 - - 271,012
EBITDAY(LBITDA) EBITDA/(LBITDA) 8,024 (34,630) (74,108) (1,249 (12,430) (114,399)
Depreciation nE (3,108) - ) - (1,530) (4,730)
Segment results —EBIT/LBIT) DL — EBIT/(LBIM) 4,916 (34,630) (74,200) (1,249 (13,960) (119,123)
Finance costs FEER (10,151)
Loss before tax BRinAEE (129.274)
Income tax credit it 11,857
Loss for the year REERE (117,417)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=R=+-H
Total assets BEMR 76,533 303,572 347,788 373 26,762 755,028
Total liablities BEME 64,838 307,422 29,448 246 120,937 612,891
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment information by business lines

8.

SEER (&)
REBEINZHHBEHR (B)

(Continued)
The segment information by business lines is as follows: REBEIIZHBERAT | (@)
(Continued)
Other segment information: HhnEER -
Property Property Others and
Printing ~ development investment Treasury corporate Total
Il NEER NERE EB%  AMRH 5]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEr TEx TEn TEm TEm
2024 ZEImE
Capital expenditures BATH 600 - - - 11,787 12,337
Depreciation of property, NE - BERXENE
plant and equipment (2,991) = ©) = (34) 3,117)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ REEEENE (117) - - - (1,496) (1613
Impairment of stock of properties  MEEZSRE - (4,548) - - - (4,548)
Bank interest income FITHEMA 100 71 3 - 406 580
Fair value gain on investment properties R E#1% 7 A &R - - (71,650) - - (71,650)
Fair value loss of financial assets at far BRATEGABRZEHEE
value through proft or loss ZATHERS - - - (488) - (488)
Net exchange gain/{oss) Ef e/ (B8 38 1,006 (215) (53) - 320 1,058
Impairment of accounts receivable  FEUERFTAE (2,581) - (879 - - (2,960)
Impairment of prepayments BB HE - - - - (780) (780)
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BERREZNG
plant and equipment - - - - 1,530 1,530
Write down of other assets HftEEZHiA - - (7,755) - - (7,755)
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical segment information

The business of the Group operates in different geographical
areas. Revenue is presented by the regions where customers are
located. Non-current assets excluding intangible assets, other
assets and deferred tax assets are presented by the regions
where the assets are located. The segment information by
geographical area is as follows:

8.

SEER (&)
3thig 53 5B &

AEEENRMIEE

EH o WMARER

FRE@ 25 - IERBEE (RETEE
HthWEERIEERBEEI AREEF
@27 o 25 2 D EERWT

Revenue
A

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ET THT
Mainland China B A e 92,103 140,417
Hong Kong 58 5,286 7,697
United States of America S35 61,643 70,296
United Kingdom [ 30,772 27,119
France Pz 1,084 11,239
Other regions Hthith @ 14,926 14,244
205,814 271,012

Non-current assets

ERBEE
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Mainland China AR B oA 65,310 119,305
Hong Kong 5B 179,607 226,322
244,917 345,627
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202

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about major customers

Revenue from a customer contributing over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

SEER (&)
FBERZEN

KEEAEERBABBIONNERZ
WA :

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Printing ENmY
Customer A EZERA 25,132 N/A R 3 A
Customer B ZFB 27,884 N/A A 328 B *
Property development Yz R
Customer C EEC 32,027 N/A i A

*

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue

N R AL A E BB U AR EEBIT BB 10% °

of the Group.
REVENUE KA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAZ DT :
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FExT
Revenue from contracts with customers ERESHNZIA
Sale of printed products 1 & ED Rl 2= & 118,301 130,915
Sale of properties THE Y= 83,511 132,665
201,812 263,580
Revenue from other sources HMA R Z N
Rental income FHE N 4,002 7,432
Total revenue 4B A 205,814 271,012

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at a point in time
when the goods are transferred and the control has been passed
to customers, since only at that point in time the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for the goods delivered.

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at a point in
time when the completed properties are delivered to the buyers.

Included in the Group’s revenue from sale of properties are

revenue from sales of properties developed by the Group
amounting to HK$83,511,000 (2024: HK$84,992,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=—F=1+—HILFE

9. REVENUE (Continued) 9. WA (88)
(a) AP WAEFHF

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_E-_AF-RA=-1+—HIEE

Property
Printing development Total
ENRI MEERE st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FAET FET FAT
Segments 7EB
Types of goods SmEs
Sale of printed products 5 & ENRI E & 118,301 - 118,301
Sale of properties HEY X - 83,511 83,511
Total revenue from contracts BREHNZ W ALRLE
with customers 118,301 83,511 201,812
Geographical markets* Hh 35 T 35
Mainland China R B A B 7,283 83,511 90,794
Hong Kong =8 2,593 - 2,593
United States of America EE 61,643 - 61,643
United Kingdom [ 30,772 - 30,772
France b7 1,084 - 1,084
Other countries HhE 2R 14,926 - 14,926
Total revenue from contracts BEGHZ W ALEEE
with customers 118,301 83,511 201,812
Timing of revenue recognition U A HE R BF
Goods transferred at a point in time R ¥ — B RIZEER S 3 118,301 83,511 201,812
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9. REVENUE (Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

204

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

WA (&)
(a) BOWBAER (B

BE_Z_NE=-H=+—HI=EFE

Property
Printing  development Total
ENR LY 4EstT
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
THET FET FET
Segments 7EB
Types of goods SmiEs
Sale of printed products tHEENRZ & 130,915 = 130,915
Sale of properties THEYE - 132,665 132,665
Total revenue from contracts BREHZWALEEE
with customers 130,915 132,665 263,580
Geographical markets* Hh 35 T 45 *
Mainland China B A P 4,804 132,665 137,469
Hong Kong &8 3,213 - 3,213
United States of America E[H 70,296 - 70,296
United Kingdom B[] 27,119 - 27,119
France A 11,239 = 11,239
Other countries HMEx 14,244 = 14,244
Total revenue from contracts BEREHZWALEEE
with customers 130,915 132,665 263,580
Timing of revenue recognition U A FEREFRE
Goods transferred at a point in time 1 E—FFRE 2L S &3 130,915 132,665 263,580
o The business of the Group is operated in different geographical REBPAEMELSEER - MARE

areas. Revenue is presented by the countries where the customers

are located.
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BE_Z_AF=B=+—HILFE

9. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the properties have been completed and delivered to
the buyers and the Group has a present right to payment
and the collection of the consideration is probable.
Payment in advance is normally required.

Sale of printed products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
printed products and payment is generally due within 30 to
180 days from delivery, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. Some contracts
provide customers with volume rebates which give rise to
variable consideration subject to constraint. The rebates
are recognised when the relevant thresholds set out in the
sales agreement are met. The rebates of approximately
HK$4,779,000 in relation to sales of printed products
was recognised for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024
HK$4,759,000).

9. WA (#)
(b) BHEE

ERMAERBENSEZERSIHN
IS

HEYE

%%’\JEEE?%%E%IEB_&N—?E
B EXEEERABEERNGRK
PRI BREETT - —ﬂ“fﬁg"ﬂﬁ
FeAF K

5 E ENRY 2 o

BASERENRERR(TRERT
HTA—ﬁyﬁA S{HFEST30H =180 H
NEH SR —REEELN
o WAEHNBF P RMASEN
M EEZ Rz a2 o [E30
EA% | 88 & 15 =% P 48 BA P 18 B e

cHE_Z_FE=ZHB=+—H
ﬂ:ilgaﬁtﬁﬁgmﬂéuuﬁﬁau
14954,779,0008 75 (ZZ 204 :
4,759,000/ 7T) ©
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BE_Z_AF=A=1+—HIEFE

10. OTHER INCOME, EXPENSE AND NET

11.

206

. HMUWA « TR ERFER

LOSSES
An analysis of other income, expense and net losses is as HA ~ TR REBIBFENDTAT -
follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET TAET
Bank interest income HRITAE WA 375 580
Sales of scrap materials HERER 45 92
Other service income EHMARFS WA 1,060 582
Gain on disposal of property, HEME -~ BEREZHE 2 Wm
plant and equipment 11 1,530
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYEZEIE (7,089) =
Loss on lease termination FHE&RIEZ EiE (74) =
Write-down of other assets (note 23) HAhE &= 2 #Mos (M15£23) (4,917) (7,755)
Impairment of prepayments AT AIERIE - (780)
Impairment of intangible assets (note 22) mEEERE (MizE22) (351) =
Termination benefits costs* BRI Bl A (59) (292)
Net exchange gain BE 2 U 2 7 KB 577 1,058
Sundries FEIE (136) (2,292)
(10,558) (7,277)

It represents the payments for terminating the staff of printing business.

FEARIEENRIZEFE B T 2 IR ©

IMPAIRMENT OF STOCK OF PROPERTIES 11. ¥¥%=Z &R &
An analysis of impairment of stock of properties is as follows: MEGFSREZTUWT !
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TET
Impairment of completed properties for sale B L& &Y= RE 15,373 4,548

Magnus Concordia Group Limited / A S B ER A A
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=-"A=1+—HLEE

12. OPERATING LOSS 2. REEE
The Group’s operating loss is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REELEEFERLEINE Gt A) UTF&1E
BIER
2025 2024
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FAET TAET
Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments: 2T A7 » SIEESE ¢
Wages, salaries and other benefits ITE - #Fre MEMEF 21,826 26,150
Retirement benefit costs BIKEH A4S 1,821 1,966
Termination benefit costs R IERA A AR 61 292
Total staff costs BT AR 23,708 28,408
Less: Amount capitalised and included B BEXRERBEFA
in cost of inventories sold EEGFEERAZ£5E (921) (1,480)
Staff costs included in selling and marketing 51 A$HE K =855 X U K AT
expenses and administrative and other REMEKESAZT 2 8T A
operating expenses 22,787 26,928
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEM N & 1,350 1,500
Advertising and promotion expenses BEEhEHRX 1,506 4,823
Cost of inventories sold (printing business) BEFENA (ENRIZEE) 88,618 99,713
Carrying amounts of properties sold EEY=REE 78,454 121,132
Outgoings in respect of investment properties EREXFES 2 B EFREE
arising from rental-earning investment KEMES H
properties 598 636
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 853 1,613
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - BiRE &5 E 2 ITE 2,500 3,117
Less: Amount capitalised and included in cost i, : BE ALK BT A
of inventories sold for printing business ENRIZEFFE EFE M
ZEE (1,082) (1,329)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)3£ ~ = KR &ZH 2T E
included in selling and marketing expenses (Gt AHE K& U K&
and administrative and other operating TR R EMKERRES)
expenses 1,418 1,788
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) FERE/ (RERE)
of inventories 424 (850)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment FEW AR =R CRUE#E([E]) RE
of accounts receivable (1,842) 2,960
Impairment of prepayments B RIBRE - 780
Write-down of other assets Hhe = 2 MR 4,917 7,755
Expense relating to short-term leases BRGHRBEEZRY 125 558
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets ARAEEBEEEEEZBEX 33 42
Government subsidies* BB * (56) (88)
There are no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to the subsidies. - BEAMZSHNRERIFFRNEFE -
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13.

14.

208

FINANCE COSTS

13. B EH

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET TET

Interest on bank and other borrowings BT REMBRZFE 7,330 10,022
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEZFE 105 129
Total finance costs RS & R4 7,435 10,151

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong Profits Tax is charged at a rate of 16.5% on the
assessable profit derived in Hong Kong. No Hong Kong profits
tax has been provided as the Group has sufficient tax losses to
offset the estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2025.

The PRC corporate income tax for the Group’s subsidiaries in the
PRC is charged at 25% (2024: 25%) of the assessable profits,
and taxable income derived from the PRC by subsidiaries located
outside the territory is charged at the PRC withholding corporate
income tax rate of 10% (2024: 10%).

The LAT for the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC is levied at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% (2024: 30% to 60%)
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land
and all property development expenditures.

14. FR1SMHR

REBELENERNEFIZ16.5% NI =
BNEEFER AR EEBZRNBEIE
EAREEE _E_AFE R _ T _ME=
B=+—HIEFEZ G ERRREF >
W L S B RS st IR 6 o

AEBPENB AT 2 PESEFRESRD

P RERIEA 2 25% (B U4 © 25%)

sHE > Mk R EIE SN B A B E A 2 FE AR

MU AT P ETEIN BN E10%
ZETPUE  10%) 2B o

AEBFTPENBAT 2 L MIBERDHEL
HMEENIEE EIREMENERIER
AN > BRI MR E YRR
BT H) N F30% £ 60% (ZF_PU4F :
30% & 60%) I REFR UL o

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Current — Mainland China BPHEA — AR R oA R
Corporate income tax ZERRER
Charge for the year FELH 1,719 3,346
Overprovision in prior years B FEEBREEEE 3) =
LAT THIIB(ETR
Charge for the year FESH 2,167 4,917
Deferred tax (note 34) EIEFRIE (F5E34) (4,879) (20,120)
Total tax credit for the year FEIREIX R AEEE (996) (11,857)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=-"A=1+—HLEE

14. FRi518 (48)

BRARRAABKREKREDHEABFTE
BB 2 AERESABEIFRAIBIE R
RERERERRIGFEZ MBI Y

14. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at
the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at

the effective tax rate is as follows: BRANE -
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Loss before tax PRI RIS 18 (86,168) (129,274)
Tax at the rate of 25% (2024: 25%) M E25% (Z I : 25%)
FTEZRNIE (21,542) (32,319)
Effect of different tax rates in different TREBEEEERRREZ FE
jurisdictions 5,499 7,256
LAT for the year REE 7 T IIBER 2,167 4,917
Release of deferred LAT liabilities FRPRIRIE + I EIR & (364) (126)
Tax effect of LAT deductible for corporate A LIS 2 TSR0 R - I (ER
income tax 2B L (542) (1,229)
Tax effect of deferred LAT deductible A L1 RS IR DR IEIE 1 3
for corporate income tax BERZNELE 91 32
Expenses not deductible for tax ARz A 6,525 5,767
Income not subject to tax BERR Z WA (1,151) (1,022)
Overprovision in prior years B FEBRRE () -
Net effect of tax losses and other temporary KRR 758548 K H fth
differences not recognised and utilisation EEEENAERBE
of previously unrecognised tax losses RFE SIS RS 18 R ELAth
and other temporary differences REEREZERE 8,324 4,867
Tax credit at the Group’s effective rate BRAEEBEEREFEZ
RIEH % (996) (11,857)
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15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

15. EEMER IR EEFHMNES

EZME

iR ERA ~ FHEQBERGIZE 383(1)(@)
O~ QKM ERAT REEEMTER)
ROFE2HWBENAFRNESHEAOT -

follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Fees wE 1,312 840

(a

210

Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

(@) BWIIFRITES

AERNENFEILIFATERZA

during the year were as follows: 2WTF
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET TET
Mr. Liu Ying Shun BB & 120 120
Mr. Wang Zhengjun FHERE 120 120
Mr. Xu Jianfeng (note (i) gL dE (MEE() 36 120
Mr. Wang Ping (note (ii)) FF 5 (B (i) 84 =
360 360

Notes: faE -

0] Resigned with effect from 20 July 2024
(ii) Appointed with effect from 20 July 2024
There were no other emoluments payable to the

independent non-executive directors during the year (2024:
nil).

Magnus Concordia Group Limited / A S B ER A A
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BE_Z_AF=-"A=1+—HLEE

15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 15. EEfl e R AR RaHMES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued) (48)
Directors’ remuneration (Continued) EEME (B)
(b) Executive directors (b) BMITES
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind contributions Total
HEEUR
wE BYEN  BIREEIER g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET FET FET
2025 —E"RE
Executive directors: HTES !
Mr. Liang Fan (note (i) R () 100 86 4 190
Ms. Zhou Lan (note (ii) B=2+ (£ (i) 140 20 - 160
Ms. Mou Li (note (i) BF 7L (M= i) 200 347 15 562
Mr. Xiang Jun (note (iv)) E95 4 (3 v) 40 - - 40
480 453 19 952
2024 —EuE
Executive directors: HITER !
Ms. Mou Li (note (i) ZF 7+ (MEE i) 240 = = 240
Mr. Liang Fan (note () RERE () 240 - - 240
Mr. Huang Zhidan (note (v)) EEAEE (V) - - - -
480 = = 480
Notes: 5

(i) Resigned with effect from 1 September 2024
(ii) Appointed with effect from 1 September 2024
(iii) Resigned with effect from 1 February 2025

(iv) Appointed with effect from 1 February 2025

BEH_T_MNENAE —HEEXN

ZER_Z_MNFNA—HEEX

BEH-S"HAF_A—HEEX

ZEH_Z_AF_A—HELEN

v) Resigned with effect from 15 July 2023 (v) HER_ZE_=FtA+HHEBEX

REFER TEEFHREXFIENR
FEANEZZH (CTTMF HE) o

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2024
nil).
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15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Five highest paid employees

None of the five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year were directors (2024: nil) as set out in above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the five highest paid employees who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

15. ESE R AR EEFHMES

(&)

hEmEHMES

RAEFR > AEELZRSHHMEETH
BEE (CZ2OF 8 WLEXHH) -
REERADEFTIFRBTHRABZRR
ReFEENEAZMEFBUNT

follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TET
Salaries HE 3,736 3,609
Pension scheme contributions RORET B HR 90 90
3,826 3,699

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

MER THRETHIFESRIFEETH
ANBZES#HNEEASUT

Number of employees

BE A
2025 2024
Nil to HK$1,000,000 21,000,000 7T 5 5

16. DIVIDENDS

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil). No
interim dividend was declared during the year (2024 nil).

17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss for
the year attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$85,172,000 (2024: HK$117,417,000) and the number of
ordinary shares of 5,779,196,660 (2024 5,779,196,660) in issue
during the year.

The diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share
since there were no potential shares in issue during both years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=B=+—HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. 915 ~ BER=HE

Furniture and
Buildings fixtures and
inthe Leasehold Plant and office Motor
PRC improvements machinery  equipment vehicles Total
REK
fEmE K& EENR
HEgF % kHE  WAZR RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TEm TEm TEm TEm
Cost: i
At 1 April 2023 RZZZ=FMA-H 31,834 633 42,589 12,683 2,345 90,084
Additions Em 399 254 188 31 - 872
Disposals/written off HE /s (37) (635) (6,480) (1,132) (801) (9,085)
Transfer Y - - - - 782 782
Change in exchange rates ExLE - - - ? (14) (16)
At31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024~ RZZ_ME=A=+—H
RZZ-MENA-A 32,196 252 36,297 11,580 2,312 82,637
Additions Em - - 629 129 - 758
Disposals/written off thE /s (364) - (69) (118) (783) (1,334)
Change in exchange rates ExgE - - - - ) )
At 31 March 2025 KZ2Z1F=R=+-H 31,832 252 36,857 11,591 1528 82,060
Accumulated depreciation: 2BINE.
At 1 April 2023 RZE_=#NBE—-H 23,450 624 37,644 12,332 2,252 76,302
Charge for the year REESH 1496 21 1328 179 og! 3,117
Disposals/writien off tHE /s (37) (635) (6,391) (1,111) (801) (8,975)
Transfer g - - - - 782 782
Change in exchange rates ExgE - - - @ (14 (16)
At31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024~ RZB-ME=A=+-H
RZZ_MENB—H 24,909 10 32,581 11,398 2,312 71,210
Charge for the year REESH 1277 51 1,082 0 - 2,500
Disposals/written off HE / Mk (364) - (69) (118 (789) (1,334)
Change in exchange rates ExEE - - - - (1) )
At 31 March 2025 RZBZZEE=RA=1-H 25,822 61 33,594 11,370 1,528 72,375
Net carrying amount: REFME:
At 31 March 2025 RZZZ1%=RA=1-H 6,010 191 3,263 221 - 9,685
At 31 March 2024 RZEmE=F=1-H 7,287 242 3,716 182 = 11,427

Buildings in the PRC under owned assets with net carrying
amount of approximately HK$6,010,000 (2024: HK$7,287,000)
have been pledged as security for the bank facilities of the Group

(note 32).

BEEEEB T 2HEEFRAFEALN
6,010,000 7t (Z & — P94 : 7,287,000
BIT)  EMAEEEBERITRIE(EAIE
7 (f35E32) o
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 10. FHHEEE

Leasehold Motor
land Buildings vehicles Total
AL &F AE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TET
Cost: B
At 1 April 2023 RIZZ=FMmA—H 3,051 6,261 782 10,094
Additions gm - 11,465 - 11,465
Disposals/written off HE /s - (6,261) - (6,261)
Transfer o - - (782) (782)
Change in exchange rates =L E) = (%) = (%2
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIE_ME=A=+-HK
“2NEMA—H 3,051 11,373 - 14,424
Disposals/written off HE /s - (9,176) - (0,176)
Change in exchange rates RS =T - 11 - 11
At 31 March 2025 RZE_FE=A=+—H 3,051 2,208 - 5,259
Accumulated depreciation: ARmE!
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=£MA—H 472 5,337 652 6,461
Charge for the year KEEYH 118 1,365 130 1613
Disposals/witten off HE /i - (6,261) - (6,261)
Transfer i - - (782) (782)
Change in exchange rates EXEH - () - ¥
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIB-NEZA=+—HK
“ZMEMA—H 590 438 - 1,028
Charge for the year FEEYH 17 736 - 853
Disposals/written off HE /HisH - (255) - (255)
Change in exchange rates ExEE) = 1 . 1
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=A=+-H 707 920 - 1,627
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 March 2025 RZE-EE=A=1—-H 2,344 1,288 - 3,632
At 31 March 2024 RIZZME=A=1+—H 2,461 10,935 - 13,396

Leasehold land under right-of-use assets with net carrying FREEEE N BB REFEAN
amounts of approximately HK$2,344,000 (2024: HK$2,461,000) 2,344,000/ 70 (ZZ M4 : 2,461,000
have been pledged as security for the bank facilities of the Group Bt B AEEEBIRITRE(EAE

(note 32). # (fFzE32)
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. KEYE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FAET TET

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 7 &4~ R EI{& 320,804 398,771
Changes in fair value N EES) (48,059) (71,650)

Disposals HE (40,722)

Exchange realignment BE R R (423) 6,317)
Carrying amount at the end of the year RERZEREE 231,600 320,804

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment properties with
a carrying value of approximately HK$178,100,000 (2024:
HK$224,000,000) were pledged to secure bank facilities granted
to the Group (note 32).

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment
properties was Level 3.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change
in circumstances that caused the transfer.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 (2024 nil).

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March
2025 by an independent professional valuer, Graval Consulting
Limited, who holds recognised relevant professional qualifications
and has recent experience in the locations and segments of the
investment properties valued. For all investment properties, their
current use equates to the highest and best use.

REMERBEEHEHETFE=7
— I HFIRH NGRS M BREWNE21 -

ATETHE=ZRA=+—H  AEERKT
E4972178,100,00078 75 (Z T — U4 :
224,000,008 7T) WK EYMEEIEFI(ES
NEBERIBITHENER FIsE32) o

DT ERELR

FEEREMEZ AT EFERRAS=

AEEZHRASNEREBREE4HIBER
PRI B SRR A R L AT EFR

RAER > F—RESE — K2R EEM
NEE2ERE > F=RIELAE AL
B (CZTOE:HE) o

FEBZHEBRE

AREEZREYEC BT A HBREE
ERESHEREYEZFTEM &RE
A HTAFGREZ BIIEEGHEMM
BECXBERBERATINR_E_AF=
B=+—HETEM - stFrAREYEM
= HREAREANRRS MRERR o
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20.

216

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

The Group’s management reviews the valuations performed
by the independent valuer for financial reporting purposes
and reports to the directors of the Company. Discussions
of the valuation processes and results are held between the
management and valuer at least once every six months, in line
with the Group’s interim and annual reporting processes. The
management:

— verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
reports;

—  assesses property valuation movements when compared
to the prior period valuation reports; and

— holds discussions with the independent valuer.
Valuation techniques

The fair values of completed commercial or office properties in
Hong Kong and Mainland China are generally derived using the
income capitalisation method. The income capitalisation method
is based on capitalisation of the net income and the reversionary
income potential by adopting appropriate capitalisation rates,
which are derived from analysis of sale transactions and valuers’
interpretation of prevailing investor requirements or expectations.
The prevailing market rents adopted in the valuation have
reference to valuers’ view of recent lettings, within the subject
properties and other comparable properties.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques adopted in

the fair value measurement of the Group’s investment properties
during the year.

Magnus Concordia Group Limited / A S B ER A A

20. REYX (8

KEEZ HEBRE (B)
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Significant unobservable inputs used to

determine fair value

20. REYX (B

AUBEATFEZEARATHRE
AR

Significant Range or
Valuation unobservable Fair value as at weighted Sensitivity of fair value
techniques inputs 31 March average to the inputs

EARTHE HEH
fhlER* BARR BE=R=+-HNATE MigF3 ATERBAHBNHEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR

Commercial properties Income Capitalisation rate 178,100 224,000 3.2% 2.8% 10 basis points (2024: 10 basis
in Hong Kong capitalisation ~ BA(EE points) increase in capitalisation
REENEENE method rate would result in decrease in
NN fair value by HK$5,200,000 (2024:
HK$7,560,000).
BALREM0EER
(CBZmE 10/BEE)
BEHATERD
5,200,004 7 (ZB_MEF
7,560,00077T) ©
Unit market rent HK$120 to HK$120 to 1% (2024: 1%) increase
per month per HK$170 HK$190 in unit market rent would
square foot 120ETE  1208E7E result in increase in fair value
SREfHERS 17087 19087 by HK$1,700,000 (2024:
st HK$1,900,000).
SRR BB %
(CBZME1%)
G ATEIEM
1,700,000 7 (Z B M4
1,900,000%7c) ©
Commercial properties Income Capitalisation rate 53,500 56,056 6.0% 55%106.0% 10 basis points (2024: 10 basis
inManlandChina ~ capitalisaton ~ BAEE 55%%F  points)increase in capitalisation
RREAENEENE  method 6.0% rate would result in decrease in
WABA(E fair value by HK$800,000 (2024:
HK$970,000).
BALREM0EER
(ZBEZME 10EEE)
BERATERD
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

218

Significant unobservable inputs used to
determine fair value (Continued)

20. REYX (8

AUBEATFEZEARATHRE
AR (8)

Significant Range or
Valuation unobservable Fair value as at weighted Sensitivity of fair value
techniques inputs 31 March average to the inputs

EXTABE #EH
fhERE BAHE HE=A=t—-HANATHE MigF13 ATEHHARENSEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TER

Unit market rent HK$60 HK$70 1% (2024: 1%) increase
per month per 6078 7T 7087 in unit market rent would
square foot result in increase in fair value
SREfimEHES by HK$500,000 (2024:
(BERER) HK$539,000).
BImiRHEEIEN1%
(CBZME1%)
BEATEEN
500,000 7 (ZBZME
539,000%7c) ©
Office propertiesin~ Income Capitalisation rate N/A 40,748 N/A 55%1t06.0%  2024: 10 basis points increase
Mainland China capitalisation ~ BA(EE &R TER 55%% in capitalisation rate would
R oE AR method 6.0% resultin decrease in fair value by
HAEE BAEAMH HKS790.000.
—ETMEF:
BAGREM0EER
BERATERD
790,00073 ©
Unit market rent N/A HK$190  2024: 1% increase in unit market
per month per AiEH 19037 rent would result in increase in fair
square foot value by H;EB%Q,E)EOO.
BlimEis “ETNE:
T BB EELEN %
REHATEEN
362,000 7z ©
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21.

LEASES
The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 20) consisting of
commercial properties in Hong Kong and Mainland China under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the
year was approximately HK$4,002,000 (2024: HK$7,432,000),
details of which are included in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group also leases its property, plant and equipment (note
18) in Mainland China under operating lease arrangements.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
approximately HK$1,060,000 (2024: HK$582,000), details
of which are included in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 March 2025, the Group had total undiscounted minimum
lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling due as
follows:

21.

HE
KEBEAHES

AEFRECEHEZHEHEEREER
FREARERNZEYE (RH5E20) » 8315
Y o BEHRR—RERAL Z TR
B WREERNIRTHREEEMA o &
EEFERERDIES WAL 24,002,000
Bt (ZZ ZIY4E 7,432,000 7T) * B
RS IBEN AR S M R R MI5EQ ©

AEETREBELESHELHHAEMRF
B AR PERIZE ~ BRE FeakfE (BI5E18) o 7S
SEEPRFERESEINHAZU AL A 1,060,000
Bt (CZ " PU4 :582,000/87T) » 5515
R R AR ERMIEE10 ©

RZZZHF=A=+—0 > ~E£BRE
SHMFST VAR B EH AR
B AR EWARMRREEE N
TRABERUDE ¢

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Within one year —FR 3,846 5,681
After one year but within two years —FEEME 1,806 3,545
After two years but within three years MEE=4F 103 1,833
After three years but within four years —EEOF 35 146
5,790 11,205
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22 M-EE
Cryptocurrencies
MEZEE
HK$’'000
TET
Cost: s :
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZEZ=FME—H
“EINFE=A=+—HB&
—EMEFEmPA—H =
Additions i 780
Change in exchange rates bE ) 6)
At 31 March 2025 RZE_AF=HA=+—H 775
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt R EREE
losses:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 ATE=FH—H
_7_E¢ B=+—H&
“E2HFENB—H -
Impairment loss EERE 351
At 31 March 2025 RZE-aF=A=+—H 351
Net carrying amount: IREEE -
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RF=A=+—H 424
At 31 March 2024 B _HmFE=A=+—H =
Impairment tests for cryptocurrencies & & &iRE R =
Cryptocurrencies purchased and held by the Group have been K%Fﬁﬁ% =] ?Tﬁﬂﬁﬂﬂﬁng’*Eﬁ@%
assessed based on each type of cryptocurrencies for impairment iy TRERE G o AEE

testing. The Group carries out their impairment testing by
comparing the recoverable amounts of cryptocurrencies to their
carrying amounts. An impairment loss will be recognized when
the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount, while
a gain will not be recognized even when the recoverable amount
is higher than the carrying amount. A gain will only be recognized
if the cryptocurrency is disposed of, assuming the proceeds from
disposal at that time is higher than its carrying amount.
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment tests for cryptocurrencies
(Continued)

The cost of cryptocurrencies of the Group are presented below:

22.

BREE (8

mEa%RENR (&)

REEBMBEERATIRAT !

2025
HK$’000
FET

Polkadot Polkadot
Filecoin Filecoin

239
185

424

The recoverable amount of each type of cryptocurrencies
are determined based on fair value less costs of disposal. In
determining the fair values, the relevant available markets are
identified by the Group, and the Group consider accessibility
to, and activity within those markets in order to identify the
principal cryptocurrency markets for the Group. The fair value of
Polkadot and Filecoin traded in active markets (such as trading
and exchange platforms) is determined based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from
an exchange and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
Therefore, the fair value used for assessment of recoverable
amount in impairment tests is determined as quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for Polkadot and Filecoin (Level 1).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group carried out impairment tests for
Polkadot and Filecoin, respectively. Based on these impairment
tests, the recoverable amounts of Polkadot and Filecoin was
lower than their carrying amounts, therefore an impairment loss
of approximately HK$351,000 in total was recognized in profit
or loss by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024
HKS$nil).

FRENNZ G W E &R R A T ER
HERAET TEEATER  AEE
ZHAERNATETRS > TEEzEmS
BYA] R R R RAR S - MU AR E MY £
EMBEEHG EERTE WEBK
R Z &) 32 5 B Polkadot K Filecoin #Y
NEERBERSHRNTERERTE &
MIZMEAER R EBRRRZFAEE > B
ZEBRARLAFEETER R EREE
HHIER S > AZmIBHAEA SRR o
R > 7278 R = A R s mT Uk Bl £ 58
By A & 24 1835 Polkadot % Filecoin £ /& 12
MIZHHIIRE CREHAEE) (F—HR) EBEE °

R_ZE_RFE=ZA=+—H ' xEEH 7
Ft Polkadot & Filecoin 1T 5 & 8 55 o iR
%% H B Al > Polkadot K Filecoin Y BT U
ClSFEENEREE > RAIEAEEREE
TECARF=-A=+—HIEFETEET
R HERE G E4351,0008 T (2
“ U BB o
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23. OTHER ASSETS

24.

222

23. HithE &

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Tax indemnity upon sales of properties HEYER ZRIBRE
(note i) (F5ED) 11,456 16,373
Others HAth 34 34
11,490 16,407
Notes: P 5T
0] Balance represents the tax indemnity from Chuang’s Consortium i) AE1FIEE AR 1B 1 5 S UK BE I /B8 /A B T FE WOH
International Limited (“CCIL”) in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries in THBEERAERAR (GEL#E) 2 RIER
prior years. According to the sale and purchase agreement, CCIL, being o IRIFEE S > HLTEE (FaER) Bt
the seller, shall indemnify the Group for profits tax liabilities arising from BEBLEXREERWENB AR EBE MG
the subsequent sales of the properties acquired by the Group through the ZHEMEEZFNEREBERAFIEEBURS
acquisition of subsidiaries with the maximum amount of HK$37,658,000. 37,658,000 8t 2 = RE1FH B E ©
During the year, a write down of approximately HK$4,917,000 (2024: KA E A > R AT U [E] #3155 (8 HE S8 MR 4T
HK$7,755,000) was recognised for the tax indemnity recoverable because 4,917,000/ 7t (ZZ Z 4 : 7,755,000 70)
of the decrease in the fair values of the respective properties. Th AR BB ZEN AT ERD ©
(ii) The Group acquired GF Capital (Cayman) Limited and recognised non- (ii) REBR-_Z-—FtAZ+—HWKEGF
current assets of approximately HK$1,761,000 on 21 July 2021. At 31 Capital (Cayman) Limited 3 78 58 JF i 81 & E 4
March 2022, the Group performed impairment assessment and a write 1,761,000 8T - R “F=HA=+—H"
down of approximately HK$1,761,000 was recognised for the year then NEEETRESE > W ZEAESEHMURA
ended because of the decrease in the recoverable amounts of the respective 1,761,000 7t > Itb 75 FA 52 48 Bl & 2 B9 7T Y 2]
assets. At 31 March 2024 and 2025, the Group performed impairment FREROMR RIZINFR-ZSAF=
assessment and there was no movement for the impairment provision. B=+—8 » A&ERET T RESE 0 BER
ERBEEE
4
INVENTORIES 24. 78
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Raw materials [ 5,529 4,488
Work in progress M 2,607 3,810
Finished goods SRk m 767 1,899
8,903 10,197
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25.

26.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE 25. ERIFEME
As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, the balance represents E\_v THERE_RAE=ZHA=+—
completed residential properties and car parks held for sale VEFRMARTEE)INEZER TR
situated in Sichuan Province, the PRC. During the year, due gfﬁE%%%&Fﬁ% R B it 2 T 1R
to the downturn in the property market, an impairment of o R A BN SR E Y REE
the completed properties for sale in Sichuan Province of F5) REANBRERMANDE)IENE R
approximately HK$15,373,000 (2024: HK$4,548,000) was FEYEREL15,373,0008 7T (ZF
recognised (note 11) based on the lower of cost and net DO 4,548,000 7T) (MzE11) o
realisable value (note 5).
Car parks held for sale with net carrying amount of approximately IRELNFELN A1 8 626,000/ 7T (ZZ
HK$18,626,000 (2024: HK$nil) have been pledged as security F BB 2HEFEESERBEAD
for other borrowings of approximately HK$22,213,000 (2024: 22,213,00087C (Z2 M4 - Ti87w) 2
HKS$nil) (note 32). HAERAI TR (FisE32) ©
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 26. FEULARTR
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Accounts receivable JE U BR =X 71,014 38,881
Less: Impairment B EE (4,190) (6,033)
66,824 32,848

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 days to 180
days to its trade customers of the printing business. Rental
income is received in advance. Proceeds from the sale of
properties are received in advance or upon delivery of the
completed properties to customers. For customers with long-
term business relationship, a longer credit period may be
granted. Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable (mainly arising from
printing business and sales of properties) based on the invoice

AEBOTHIREBEZZR0AE
180 ZEEH - E UL AT FRFIRER
HEYEMSMADALWBHNRZAE
TIMEEZRRWE - HINABE R
BRAGHNER  AIRTERNEEH &
WBRFR A SR o

REIEHIR > BUERR (EZRBENRIZE
BRYMEHE) NEEREERIZERA

date and net of loss allowance at the end of the reporting period 252 ARE DU
is as follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET TET
Within 30 days 30&KA 37,564 11,569
31 to 60 days 31 & 60K 6,067 5,762
61 to 90 days 61 E 90K 7,410 6,668
Over 90 days 838 90 K 15,783 8,849
66,824 32,848
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26.

224

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring ECLs which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all accounts receivable. Impairment of accounts receivable
is calculated using the expected loss rates, which are based
on credit assessments on ageing of the accounts receivable,
past repayment history, subsequent settlement status, deposits
received, credit profile of the customers and on-going business
relationship with the relevant customers and adjusted for forward-
looking information affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the accounts receivable.

26. FEURBRTR (48)

AEEXBEBYBREERNFIRMBE
HEsEREERRE » APABWIRR
EREHTRREIRRE - BUCRTURETS
ERHBBIRFERENEETE - BEE
MESE s BEEENE Bl -BF
EERTREERARE RN EXEBHE
EREEMAERRAE U ERRE

FEUWARRAIBE A IR B ME B RHE AR R -

The movements in loss allowance is as follows: EIEEE EEHMUT
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
At the beginning of the year REA) 6,033 3,074

(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment CRi{EEEED) REEE

loss, net JREE (1,842) 2,960
Exchange realignment FER (1) 1)
At the end of the year PREEAR 4,190 6,033
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27. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES

27. FA{TFRIE ~ HthEUWERRR R B
fthEE

AND OTHER ASSETS
The following is an analysis of the prepayments, other receivables UM AFAMHIE « HtERERR R EME
and other assets: BEZ DM
2025 2024
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FAET TET
Deposits and prepayments & MIENFIE 0) 7,238 15,823
Cost of obtaining contracts B & A A (i) 927 1,600
Value added taxes (“VAT’) recoverable PIiREIEER (TEER) 5,271 6,186
Other receivables HhFEULAR TR (iii) 32,864 6,638
Prepaid VAT and levies FERTIRER MEE 23,488 18,412
69,788 48,659
Notes: B 5E

(i)

(i)

Balance mainly represented the prepayments paid to contractors for
construction works of property development projects, prepayments paid to
suppliers, deposits for housing provident fund, deposits paid to government
authorities and the office rental deposits.

Cost of obtaining contracts represented the prepaid pre-sales commission
paid in connection with the sales of properties. The Group has capitalised
the amounts paid and will charge them to the income statement when the
revenue from the related property sales is recognised and will be included
in selling and marketing expenses at that time. During the year ended
31 March 2025, sales commission of approximately HK$708,000 (2024:
HK$1,928,000) was charged to the consolidated income statement.

Balance as at 31 March 2025 mainly included the receivable from a property
management company and receivables of other service income while
balance as at 31 March 2024 mainly included receivables of other service
income, payments on behalf of residents and advances to staff.

Impairment of other receivables is measured at either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since the initial recognition.

(i)

(i)

BEIREMYEERBERETESNFX
SEZEANTRIE > nHEE N ZBARIE
URERARERE A FRFHEZ RS
ERFRHERE -

S EAIMRATEH HE XS T INTEMNTEE R
% o AEEBRFTZIHMRBEBE AR > WHR
HERARMEEMERARERERBAR > &
RSt ABHEREESL L - HE-S - AF=
BA=+—BIEE  HEME4708,000% T

—F U4 : 1,928,000 70) BN A W E
EGUN

BE_E_AF-RA=+—HNEFTECHE
FEUR — 1) £ B IR A B AR IR e FE U EL M AR TS Ui
ARE -MBEE_T_ME=B=+—HN%E
FIXEERBEMBRBRARIE TR
TR B THIE °

HEW AR Z BERI12E/AMAEE
BRENEHEREEHESE  BF 81
FRADERTHREXEERKEM -
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28. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND 28. ZIRHIRITHEFEURIAE KR
=
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 1745
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET TET
Restricted bank balances (note) ZREIIRIT4EE (M) 3,559 8
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET THT
Cash and bank balances: REMIRITER
Cash at banks and in hand RITEMRRFEIRE 7,489 19,566
Short-term deposits EHRTERR 12,810 15,742
20,299 35,308
Note: As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s restricted bank balance comprised Mizr: RZZE-AFE=HB=+—8 ' =&EB 2[R
approximately HK$8,000 (2024: HK$8,000) of proceeds from the pre-sale of RITEFEEREE TEETYEMIRIEBELY
certain properties under development. In accordance with the relevant PRC 8,000/ 7T (ZZ T4 : 8,000787T) ° iR#KAE
laws and regulations, proceeds from the pre-sale of certain properties under RAREA RG> BB ETEEYENFRS
development are required to be deposited into designated bank accounts RIBEFAIEERITIRE 2GRN ERIEE 2
and restricted to be used in the relevant project construction. Such SRR o B RAR I R ES BRI AE B RY
restriction will be uplifted upon the attainment of the relevant ownership AR SRR o

certificates issued by the authorities.

As at 31 March 2025, bank balance of approximately HK$3,559,000 was RIZEZHEFE=F=+—H 43,559,000
frozen by the court due to the litigations that are mainly related to the unpaid TTZRITHEEREEBRRTYETIRERN
construction costs of properties. SREATIAR VA B AS ©
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28.

29.

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND
CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The effective interest rates on short-term deposits
range from 1.1% to 1.8% (2024: 1.55% to 3.3%) per annum and
these deposits have maturities range from 7 days to 1 month
(2024: 7 days to 1 month). The bank balances and deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Majority of cash and bank balances denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB?”) are held in Mainland China and subject to local exchange
control regulations. These local exchange control regulations
restrict capital remittance from the territory, other than through
normal dividend distribution. The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An ageing analysis of accounts payable at the end of the
reporting period based on the date of suppliers’ invoices is as
follows:

28.

29.

ZIRBIRITEFURRERIR
17457F (@)

ERIBTHRERIBFSHRITEREN
FEAREEEF B o SBHER C BRER]
BAFA1A%ZE1.8% (CZE _FHE 1 1.55%
£3.3%)  ZEEAEHBHHABRNF7HE
1ER (CEZWE 7HEA@EAR) o BT
EERERERNEERTRITIAEEN
SCERAYERTT ©

REBHBUARE TARE) sHENRER
IRTTAEF I R EIRFER A T2 HI 5 2 e
TEBRE o 235 5 BE 52 E H15% 5 R
BEXRERIRIN BB —RREDIKER
Sho N\RBEFREEHZBAEMER > 2
m > RFERE AR Z SNE G IERE LU AS
BE-EERMNEESENRE  ~ERELES
BEREETIINEEZFZRTRARER
BMASHMER -

FEATARTR

RERR > BORRIEHEFEREH
2 ZERE AT

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Within 30 days 30KA 15,410 24,967
31 to 60 days 31 260K 6,293 12,374
61 to 90 days 61290k 5,274 5,272
Over 90 days BiB 90Kk 33,383 23,352
60,360 65,965

The accounts payable, which relate to purchases of goods and
construction of properties, generally have credit periods of 30 to
90 days (2024: 30 to 90 days). The length of the credit period
depends on the supplier’s or contractor’s relationships with the
Group, their assessments of the Group’s creditworthiness, and
past settlement records.

KEERKRBREYEEHENERERNEES
AT F30E90H (Z=E P4 : 30E90
H) > 18 F 75 [ £ (R s o R B v AN R
F N HEFEAEENEERBEFEERT
R IE ©
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30. ACCRUED CHARGES AND OTHER
PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of the accrued charges and other

30. &5t & A K H M (JBR TR

DU # st B AR EMBEMRRZ 24

payables:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Accrued staff costs, subcontracting costs ~ FEsTE TR - DB ERAK
and other accruals HihEst & B 5,005 5,381
Customer, tenant and other deposits B AR REM%E 6,689 8,889
Construction costs payable related to BB ENERER
investment properties 784 7,158
VAT and levies payable BER R FE (SR 1,806 2,032
Others HAh 30,078 29,194
44,362 52,654

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract

. BHNEE

FEEERBUTRRABBZENEE:

liabilities:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET TET
Sale of printed products 5 & EN Rl 2= & 1,867 1,490
Sale of properties THEYI= 1,874 6,994
Total contract liabilities BHEERE 3,741 8,484

As at 1 April 2023, the Group had recognised contract liabilities
related to sales of printed products of approximately HK$61,000.
The Group receives payments from customers based on the
billing schedule as established in contracts.

As at 1 April 2023, the Group had recognised contract liabilities
related to sales of properties of approximately HK$18,967,000.
The Group receives payments from customers based on the
payment schedule as established in contracts.
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31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 31. aaE (@)
The decrease in contract liabilities in both years was mainly RREEEzaNE8EROTIEERRE
due to the revenue recognised in respective year in relation to EsREHVIZRBHEM XN SN B BT
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period from S ONE

the sale of properties.

The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised TRIIAA R S ERERR A S S
in the current reporting period that relates to carried-forward HEENEREE D ©
contract liabilities.

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET T#HT
Revenue recognised that was included 8 EN Rl 2 o Be M) 25 5T AR 4T
in the contract liabilities balance at the BHEREFHERIRA
beginning of the year for sales of
printed products and properties 7,416 19,028
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining R=R=+—HA2EENBFENEE R
performance obligations (unsatisfied) as at 31 March are as B17) 2 R EEEEEMT
follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT THT
Amounts expected to be recognised as TEHARRESE A WA Z IR
revenue:
Within one year —FR 35,554 89,511
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

32. RIT R H &K

2025 2024

Effective Effective

interest interest

rate (%) rate (%)

BIRFIE (%) BIEFI=E (%)
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET
Bank loans — secured (notesaand b)  $R{TE — B 3.55t0 7.00 105,441 3.60t07.86 129,432

3.55F7.00 3.60%£7.86
Other borrowings — secured (note ¢)  ELthiRITER — B (Mzc) 2.80 22,213 - -
Other borrowings — unsecured Hith EAR AR 4.70 4,000 2.80t04.70 26,379

2.80E4.70
131,654 155,811

Maturity of the bank and other borrowings are analysed into: RIT R EMEREA DTS -

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Within one year or on demand —FERIIZEXR 127,654 129,432
In the second year B/ 4,000 22,379
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FEhF (BEEEMF) - 4,000
131,654 155,811

Notes:

(@) Certain bank facilities of the Group are secured by:

Bk -

230

U

(i)

(i)

the pledge of the Group’s right-of-use assets amounting to
approximately HK$2,344,000 (2024: HK$2,461,000);

the pledge of the Group’s buildings amounting to approximately
HK$6,010,000 (2024: HK$7,287,000); and

the pledge of the Group’s investment properties amounting to
approximately HK$178,100,000 (2024: HK$224,000,000) and
assignment of rental income.

As at 31 March 2024, certain bank facilities of the Group are also secured
by the pledge of 100% equity of a PRC subsidiary.

As at 31 March 2024, the certain bank facilities of the Group are guaranteed
by corporate guarantees of the Company and a PRC subsidiary.

As at 31 March 2025, the other borrowings are secured by the pledge of
the Group’s completed properties for sale amounting to approximately
HK$18,626,000.

Magnus Concordia Group Limited / A S B ER A A

FEBETRTHEHUTREFRR

0] AEE 2z FRAEEEX2,344,000/8 7T
(ZZE U4 : 2,461,000 7T) Z K ;

(i) AEEZEF 46,010,000 T (ZF
Z Y4 : 7,287,000 7T) 23K ; K

(il AEE 2B ZE4178,100,00078 7T
(Z = PO4 @ 224,000,000 75) K FH
U 2 8 7 IR o

RZZB_WME=B=+—0H > A&EBETFIRT
RS TR —E PRI B A B 2 100% AAEIFIRR o

RIZB-WE=B=+—H > 2&EBETFIRT
RMEBA R ER—ETENER RN A BHER
{ERESR ©

RIB-RE=R=+—8 > EthEERHXN
REBEERA 18,626,000 BT ZERLHFEY
SEARHRR
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)

As also explained in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements, due to the adoption of HK Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan That Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause, the Group’s bank loans with the aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$105,441,000 (2024:
HK$129,432,000) as at 31 March 2025, containing a repayment
on demand clause, have been classified as current liabilities, and
included in the aforesaid bank borrowings are bank borrowings of
HK$88,000,000 (31 March 2024: HK$118,652,000) with financial
covenants breached during the year ended 31 March 2025. For
the purpose of the above analysis, these bank loans are included
within current interest-bearing bank loans and analysed into bank
loans repayable within one year or on demand. Ignoring the effect
of any repayment on demand clause and based on the maturity
terms of the bank borrowings, the amounts repayable in respect
of the bank borrowings are as follows:

32. IRTTREMETR ()

BNNEEHBHRERMECHBE > BN
RMEBRERESRMBREZES —
EAAREBEREBRES G ZEHE

o O R E_RE=R=1+—8">

AEBHERERENK X ZEEE
E#9%4105,441,000/8 75 (ZZ Q£ :
129,432,00078 70) IR{TTERE D EA R
HaBE H#E_E_HRF=B=+—H1t
FEE KRB EBIIETT (&7 88,000,000
BT (ZTE-_OmOHF=B=+—8":
118,652,000787T) 5t A _EMIBITERR o i
LR AHTMES  IEEIRITERE T ABNER
FFEIRITER  WAMAR —FEATIRE
KEBZIRTER c AEEMIRERER
B2 B R IREIRTTER 2 S HBHEARR >
BRRTERZELSEENT -

In the third
In the to fifth
Within second years,
one year year inclusive Total
B=FZFE
BHE (B
—FR BT BHEME) =1
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT TAT FET FET
As at 31 March 2025 MN-_E_HFE
=A=+—H 28,198 73,498 3,745 105,441
As at 31 March 2024 ST NE
=A=+—H 41,432 16,000 72,000 129,432
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32.

33.

232

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

As disclosed in note 43, subsequent to the end of the reporting
period, the Group has obtained a one-off waiver from the
bank on 27 June 2025 for the financial covenants of one of
the aforesaid bank borrowings that throughout the life of the
facility, the Group agrees and undertakes to the bank that its
consolidated tangible net worth should not at any time be less
than a certain level, and such bank borrowing amounted to
HK$88,000,000 as of 31 March 2025. This one-off waiver only
applies to the Group’s announcement of unaudited and audited
annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025. Further, the
Group has repaid HK$4,000,000 to the bank on 8 April 2025.

LEASE LIABILITIES

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during
the year are as follows:

32.

33.

IRIT R H Ath &R (48)

WK sE43FTHNEE » M SRR > A&
BEER-ZZE_RAEABZ+tHERIR
Tk LR ITEREREEFEEBRNE
HELEEE—REE R o EZRE HAR
AEBRE L BIRITESE  HizaaHk2F
BETAREE BB —EKE o Mz
ROEFRBEE_E_AFE=A=+—H
1E 788,000,000/ 7T ° EIE— R RE
BRERAERAGHNEE_S_HFE=H
=+ —HIERKEZ RSB FEELE o
ok REBBER _ZE _AFMNA/N\EH
$R1718%8 4,000,000 78 7T ©

HEER

HEARNREERFREFHUT :

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TET
Carrying amount at beginning of the year R EX) Z EREIE 11,005 1,100
Accretion of interest recognised FRREBRF S8
during the year 105 129
Payments BN (854) (1,600)
Additions g - 11,465
Lease termination HE&IE (8,847) -
Exchange realignment FE R sAEE 10 89)
Carrying amount at the end of the year REEZREE 1,419 11,005
Analysed into: DA
Current portion mENER 794 1,523
Non-current portion JETRENEB 625 9,482
1,419 11,005

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities was 5.9% as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 4.1%).
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34. DEFERRED TAX

34. IRIEIRIE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET TET

Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEA(E 16,190 21,347
Deferred tax assets IRIEIRIEE (3,220) (3,473)
12,970 17,874

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets

T aaEElRDNEZELERRERR

recognised by the Group: BE .
Fair value Fair value
adjustments adjustments
arising from arising from
business investment
combination properties Tax losses Total
EBRaHEL BEEZRT
AT ERE BAE RIERSE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET FTET TET
At 1 April 2023 E-E-_=FWA—H 2,265 36,396 - 38,661
Credited to income statement FERat AR (Fi3E14)
during the year (note 14) (433) (16,214) (3,473) (20,120)
Exchange realignment R AR (123) (544) = (667)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-ME=A=+—H
RZE2ZMEMNA—H 1,709 19,638 (3,473) 17,874
(Credited)/charged to income FERRERE GTA)/
statement during the year Mk (frzE14)
(note 14) (1,009) (4,123 253 (4,879
Exchange realignment ERRE 4 (21) - (25)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=A=+—H 696 15,494 (3,220) 12,970
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34.

234

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$272.9 million (2024: HK$260.7 million) available
for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of HK$19.5 million (2024: HK$21.1 million)
of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining HK$253.4 million (2024: HK$239.6
million) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
unused tax losses of approximately HK$28.3 million (2024:
HK$24.8 million) in the PRC will expire within five years from
the end of reporting period and the remaining balances in Hong
Kong have no expiry dates.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax, is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The applicable
rate of the Group is 5%. Deferred tax liabilities of approximately
HK$1.0 million (2024: HK$0.5 million) arising from withholding
tax on the unremitted earnings of certain PRC subsidiaries which
totalled approximately HK$19.8 million in 2025 (2024: HK$10.6
million) have not been recognised in the consolidated financial
statements as these earnings are expected to be reinvested.
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34.

IEIEFRIA (48)

RIREHR ZAEBBERBERBEEE
2.729 8% 7T (ZE U4 : 2.607 (24 7T)
o] B LU S AR A o BRE1,9508 8 7T

TETNE 21108 BT ZEEBRE
RABLERIBEEE o B RIEF R
THEEM R T2534fEB T (CE M
£ 1 2.306 BB 7T) B AR AEERIEE
E o PRz ABBMFEEIETE492,830
BET (T2 TME 24808 B T) B
REMRERAFENE MW > NEBZEREEN
#EEmEE o

RIFPER B ERSRE > RPRBEARREMRIL
HINEERIIEREEEIRNRE B
M1I0%TBINM - BEEAREE ST N\E
—B—HEEMKERN S+ FE+T
B=+—H2%B28BA - EHEAREREI
REEEFRBE AT ERBHE > 8
A EAREFENRE - AEBENERRE
A5% AR ETHEWB AR REHR
MR ZE_REGHN1,98088 T (=
T U4 1,060 E B 7T) EEEERBR
E WRERMNZBNRELEZIELERE
BEN1008 BT (CENE 5085
7o) W R MR & I FE IR T RESR o
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. g7
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Authorised: JBIE -
8,000,000,000 (2024: 8,000,000,000) 8,000,000,000 f% (— = —Pg4E :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 8,000,000,000 f%)
FREE.10B T B 800,000 800,000
2,000,000,000 (2024: 2,000,000,000) 2,000,000,000 % (—Z —PU4 :
preference shares (note (i) 2,000,000,000 f%) &4t i%
(FF=E () 20,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRHARE
5,779,196,660 (2024: 5,779,196,660) 5,779,196,660 % (—Z Y4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 5,779,196,660 %)
FREE.10B T B 577,920 577,920

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as
follows:

AT Z RALEBAMT

Number of Share
shares in issue capital
BEITRNHE & s

HK$’000
TAT

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025

RTE_=FMmWA—A[-
—ECNFE=RA=+—H"
“EMFEMA—-Ak
“B_AF=RA=+—H

5,779,196,660 577,920

Note:

(i) The preference shares rank in priority to the ordinary shares of the Company
as to dividend and return of capital.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “New
Scheme”) pursuant to the annual general meeting held on 31
August 2022, which is valid and effective for a term of ten years
from the date of its adoption. Under the New Scheme, the
directors may grant options to the eligible persons as defined in
the New Scheme, inter alia, any directors, employees or business
consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares in the Company under the terms and conditions stipulated
therein. The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the New Scheme shall be 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 August 2022.
No options have been granted under the New Scheme since its
adoption.

MI5E

i) RABBEREREREAEREIMZEEE
RE@EZ o

RIZZBZZFNB=1+—HRTZRERE
FRE L AATBHRM—BMERES
8 (Grstd)) - HENEMAERMBEH
Est+F - REFE > EFTRGTER
AL (EER#EE > HRBEEAAT KR
HINB AR ZEAES « EESEHER)
RHBRE  LEEHRBWSEFE] 2%
M AR RBAR AT Z IR © RigH st &
BN BREFMS 2 &SRNDBE S
FABRZE__FN\B=+—HB%T
RAZ10% - B st 8 EHRME » BT
IR BRI B A 1 o
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35.

36.

37.

236

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Capital risk management

The objectives of the Group for managing capital are to
safeguard the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt to equity
ratio. This ratio is calculated as a percentage of bank and other
borrowings over net asset value attributable to equity holders
of the Company. Bank and other borrowings are calculated as
total bank and other borrowings (including current and non-
current bank and other borrowings as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position). Net asset value attributable
to owners of the Company represents shareholders’ funds as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. As
at 31 March 2025, the debt to equity ratio was 232.4% (2024
109.6%).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has no capital commitment
(2024: the Group has no capital commitment).
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FEEEREAZBNRAREFERZF
RBASERET) LSRR R B K 4 HoAth
RARFFAAGRK G > REFEBZER
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HFRRZKREEE  BTHROIHE
BEERLERE -
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38.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 March 2025, the Group has provided
financial guarantees in respect of mortgage loans made by
certain banks to certain purchasers of the Group’s properties in
Mainland China, either directly provided to the banks or to the
housing provident fund management centre which arranged the
bank mortgages amounting to approximately HK$600,527,000
(2024: HK$706,381,000) in aggregate. Pursuant to the terms
of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by
these purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalty owed by the defaulting purchasers to the
banks and the Group is entitled but not limited to take over the
legal titles and possession of the related properties. The Group’s
guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon issuance of real estate ownership
certificates. The directors of the Company consider that the fair
values of the guarantees were not significant at the inception
of the guarantees as the possibility of default by the relevant
purchasers is remote, and in the case of defaulted payments, the
net realisable value of the related properties will be sufficient to
cover the outstanding mortgage principals, the accrued interest
and penalty. Therefore, no provision has been made in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 (2024: nil) for these guarantees.

38. HAETR

B aM B RREMEHPE & I
C:;ﬁ_ﬁizﬁ:—i——lﬂ KEB
ETHRTAANERSE FTHEAREY =
BEREFHNZRBERRETFHIERE
%8#9600,527,0008 7t (& — M4 :
706,381,000/ 7%) > A ABEKEBIR{TH
BZHHERTIRFZ EEAREEEDOIE
# o IRBIERBVERR > HZEB 5 AR5
THIBIIE  AERBETHIRTEEE
HWEHERXNARERZBAL  BRE
FERKREFH > MAEEB#E (BRRER) &
EREMYENEIEEERFIERE - AEH
HEFRPERELEHBZBEREHBRA
FRHEMERE AL c ARATEEDS
EFRBABERNATELAELN  REZHE
RS RIBLWI R AEMEIR(E > MRAES (d 3K
18 > {EAYEN T IR FER B IUEER
REVIEBAE ~ FEEHFI B RS o AUt
rEBHE_T_RE=ZRA=+—HIE
EZGReBRRTEAZSEFRELE
HB(CETTIOE  |) o
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39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 39. FEHERERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
The movements in liabilities from financing MEESEEZEBZ2EHNT :
activities are as follows:
Interest
payable
(included in
accrued
charges Bank
and other and other Lease
payables) borrowings liabilities
FESFI S
(5t ARERT
BR KR HAM
FEfTERRR)  SRITREMEM HEAE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FME—H 657 188,842 1,100
Changes from financing cash flows MERERERE (9,882) (31,496) (1,600)
Finance costs MEEA 10,022 - 129
Additions 12m = — 11,465
Exchange realignment ERAEE - (1,535) (89)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIZZWEFE=A=+—H
RZZ2ZNENA—H 797 155,811 11,005
Changes from financing cash flows RMEREREET (7,188) (23,857) (854)
Finance costs WEEAR 7,330 - 105
Lease terminations HERIE = - (8,847)
Exchange realignment FERRE - (300) 10
At 31 March 2025 RZE_HE=A=+—H 939 131,654 1,419
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39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

The total cash outflow for leases included in
the consolidated statement of cash flows is

39. I REBRERME (B)

stARSRERERNEERE

A ABERET ¢

as follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Within operating activities R EE 158 600
Within financing activities MEEE) 854 1,600
1,012 2,200

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management is as follows:

40. FAEK 532 5

EERHEMTEEEREREZHMUT

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’'000

F#ET TEx

Short-term benefits 2 ERE R 2,412 2,351
Post-employment benefits B R E T 46 29
2,458 2,380
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41. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 41. ZREEER
COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the AT MHEIR AR
Company
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FExT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz~ BB R E 1,479 2,266
Intangible assets BT EE 424 -
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR Z #m 164,600 244,575
166,503 246,841
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE FRIB K LA FEUS AR =X 710 690
Cash and bank balances RERIRTTHEF 10,422 10,596
11,132 11,286
Current liabilities Gt =R
Amount due to a subsidiary FET B B A B =R IE 25,675 4,543
Accrued charges and other payables FE ST & A R At T BR R 1,883 1,283
Bank and other borrowings IR1T M EMERR 88,000 104,000
Lease liabilities HEEaE 794 750
116,352 110,576
Net current liabilities mEBaEREE (105,220) (99,290)
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHERRHERE 61,283 147,551
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank and other borrowings IRIT R E M ERR 4,000 4,000
Lease liabilities HEAR 625 1,419
4,625 5,419
Net assets EEERE 56,658 142,132
Equity 1R
Share capital f& s 577,920 577,920
Deficit (note) AL (FYEE) (521,262) (435,788)
Total equity HEmiaza 56,658 142,132
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41. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

M. ZREMBER (B)

AT MFEARAR (48)

Statement of financial position of the
Company (Continued)

Note: P 5E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KABIZ HEEBENT :
Share Other Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
fefn i fE HAthf# 65 AR FEE51E “azE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET BT FET BT FET
At 1 April 2023 RIE-_=Fm™BE—H 331,610 4,000 77,963 (726,968) (313,395)
Loss for the year KEERIE - - - (122,393) (122,393)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZE-ME=A=+—H
rRZZZMOFEMEAB—H 331,610 4,000 77,963 (849,361) (435,788)
Loss for the year NEERE - - - (85,474) (85,474)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-_HE=A=+—H 331,610 4,000 77,963 (934,835) (521,262)

Pursuant to the special resolution approved by the shareholders
of the Company in the 2016 annual general meeting of the
Company, share premium, other reserve and contributed
surplus of the Company are available for distribution to
ordinary shareholders of the Company (after deduction of the
accumulated losses) provided that the Company will be able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business
immediately following the date on which any such distribution is
proposed to be paid.

Other reserve of the Company relates to contribution by the then
substantial shareholders of the Company who were also the
then holders of the preference shares. It represents the excess
of the face value of redeemable preference shares over the
consideration paid upon redemption in 2004.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
which were acquired by the Company at the date of a group
reorganisation in 1996 (the “Group Reorganisation”) and the
nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company for the
Group Reorganisation.

BERRIDRRNERTD ZZ—RERR
BFERE LHEZRRREZR > ARFZ
R aE - HfthE B REA R N0
RIBER) JHIIKTFEAAT HBERR
R EEERERFHERNDIKZ BHHE
A ASEAEREEFTEERHZER -

FABZ EMEFHEREAT AT ERNEER
R RAERBERZFBEABAZRER
% Ihisr BN EREEERE SN
FREORPIYAEZ#E -

RABZHABRBASN—NNNEERE
B (TEEEHR) EREREMUBERBR
BZ B EFERARATRAEEEHEM
BITRMZEEMEZEE
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. T EMIB AT
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: KRB EEMBABIFIBENT -
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
Name operation registered share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
e/ BEfTEER/
&8 T BTE FAFELEGADL TEER

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
ZECRE “ETME
ZR=+-B =B=t-H

Indirectly Indirectly
Gl e
BEREXCIRERERRAR Mainland China RMB32,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
(note HizE) (2024: RMB32,000,000)
HEARE AR #32,000,0007 MEER
(ZBZmE:
AR#32,000,00077)

Guangdong Boluo Yuanzhou Mainland China US$12,500,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Midas Printing Limited (note) (2024: US$12,500,000) printed products
EREERRENDEDS HEARE 12,500,000 %7 IRl ERRERHAE

BRAT (H) (CE=ME : 12,500,000%7)
Midas Printing International Limited Hong Kong HK$7,000 100% 100%  Trading of printed products
(2024: HK$7,000)
HENRERERAF &5 7,007 MRERES
(CEZME 700057
ENRARELAREERAR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Property investment
(note M) (2024: RMB10,000,000)
HEA R AE%10,000,0007 NERE
(ZZZRE:
AR#10,000,0007z)
Magnus Concordia Development Hong Kong HK$60,000,000 100% 100%  Property investment
(Chengdu) Limited (2024 HK$60,000,000)
MARE (%) BRAD £5 60,000,000 %7 MERE
(ZEZM# : 60,000,000 7T)
Perfect Outlook Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100% 100%  Property investment
Hong Kong (2024: USS$1)
EBRYHE/ 1£7 (CB2NE  1£7) MERE
B

242 Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B ASEER&HD B R A 7



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=B=+—HILFE

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

42. T EMBATE (&)

KRB TEMBRABFBEUT © ()

(Continued)
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
Name registered share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRTLER/
&8 SRR A KAFEMEERE DL FTEEE
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
- - 3o
=A=t-B Z=A=t-H
Indirectly Indirectly
itk S
Delta Key Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100% 100%  Property investment
(2024: US$1)
125 (CF2ME 1557) MERE
Ever Favour Limited HKS1 100% 100%  Property investment
(2024: HK$1)
XHIERRAH 18T (CEINE 18R MERE
BMREHERRAT (note iz RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Property investment
(2024: RMB10,000,000)
AR 10,000,007 UESE
(CE-mE:
AE#10,000,0007T)
Lever Printing Fatory Limited HK$500,000 100% 100%  Treasury investment
(2024: HK$500,000)
MEEERI B RAT 500,000 7% EHRE
(ZZ 2 : 500,000 7T)
Magnus Concordia Management HK$1 100% 100%  Management services and
Limited (2024: HK$1) treasury investment
HAEEERERAT 1871 (C2INE  1%7m) ERREREBRE
Note: The entities are registered in the form of wholly-owned foreign investment Mizk - ZEERBLIINERERX 2 HNEM o

enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

ERBIEERATEREAEAFTNE
BB FEETELDNEATMBEL
B BEERA FIHMMBAR ZFE
RESBARBR AR
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tR e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=A=1+—HIEFE

43.

44,

244

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In respect of the bank borrowing of HK$88,000,000 which the
Group breached the financial covenant during the year, the
Group has obtained a one-off waiver from the bank on 27 June
2025 for the financial covenant of the aforesaid bank borrowing
that throughout the life of the facility, the Group agrees and
undertakes to the bank that its consolidated tangible net worth
should not at any time be less than a certain level. This one-off
waiver only applies to the Group’s announcement of unaudited
and audited annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025.
The repayment schedules of the borrowing and the repayment
on demand clause remain unchanged. Further, the Group has
repaid HK$4,000,000 to the bank on 8 April 2025 in accordance
with the repayment schedule.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025.

Magnus Concordia Group Limited / B ASEER&HD B R A 7

43.

44,

HEHREE

MEAEBERFANER PELEZIRITE
88,000,000 BtME » ZEBERZZE
“HENB I+t HERRITH EIRT
EREREFEEBANT BZHE L —
REERR - EZMEHE > AEERERL
mRTTAE  HGEAE R EEEARE
HARBER—TEKE o« EIE—RIEERRE
BRERAEEAGHNEE_ST_HF=H
=+ HIERREZ MR B ZFEERE o
B BN RBRNZREREERIRET
Righo Ihoh ) AEBBERBERFERRN
—ZE”AFMA N\ HEIRTTERE 4,000,000
BIT °

HER SRR

REMBRREBAEFEN _ZREN
A=+B#tERFEETE -



Particulars of Principal Properties

FEVFEEH

Investment Properties KREM=E

The following list contains investment properties held by the Group as HEBR _ET_AF=B=+—HFAEZKLE
at 31 March 2025. MZEHIR T o

Location Term Usage Group’s interest
24 FHAYHAPR Ri& TEEERED
Shop B, Ground Floor, Medium lease Commercial 100%
Wuhu Residence, FRERFR A9 (HES

No. 111 Wuhu Street,
Hunghom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

58

L BEAT

FOME 11158
#HE

B

Shop D, Ground Floor, Medium lease Commercial 100%
Wuhu Residence, FRERFR A9 (HES

No. 111 Wuhu Street,

Hunghom, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

58

JLBEAT )

FOABT 11158

#HE

#H D

Shops 3, 4 and 5, Medium lease Commercial 100%
Ground Floor, FREAFEAY [HES
Parkes Residence,

No. 101 Parkes Street,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

58

JLEE

Hil+#101 5%

g e &F

MRS~ 4 K 554
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FEVFEEH

Investment Properties (Continued) KREME (8)

Location Term Usage Group’s interest
HhRG THAYHARR A& TEMBER
6th Floor, Chengdu Digital Plaza, Medium lease Commercial 100%
No. 1 Renmin South Road Fourth FRHAFAAY [SES

Portion, Wuhou District, Chengdu,
Sichuan Province,

the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”)

FREE N RHEFE (THE)

7o)l

R ES T L E &

AN RS HES 157

R ER S5 [ 57 6 1%
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Particulars of Principal Properties

FEVFEEH

Completed properties for sale BRIGFEME

The following list contains principal completed properties for sale held HEBR _—_ET_AF=HB=+—HFAEZT=E
by the Group as at 31 March 2025. ERLIHEMEIN T o

Gross floor
area sg.m
Location Term Usage Group’s interest (Approximately)
mEE HIEEEE
hEh THAYHARR Ri&E AL 7K (BE4Y)
Land lots C1-9 Yongyaju, Long lease Residential 100% 400
Zhonggang Shenhai Forest Project, RAAFEA FE
the high-tech Industrial development zone of
the Yanluyu District of
Wolong Lake in Zigong City,
Sichuan Province, the PRC
FRERL) A
HEmamxlEXRAEZEE
EAREHIEE A R &
FRE « 2B MIEE
C1-9iIRZE =

Land lots C1-10 Yongyaju, Long lease Residential 100% 24,000
Zhonggang Shenhai Forest Project, RAAFEA FE
the high-tech Industrial development zone of

the Yanluyu District of

Wolong Lake in Zigong City,

Sichuan Province, the PRC

FREIP)IE

BEmeMRiEXFERE

EAREIEE A R &

R « 2B MIEE

C1-10MIRZEH =

Land lots C1-11 Yongyaju, Long lease Residential 100% 2,000
Zhonggang Shenhai Forest Project, RHIFEA F=E

the high-tech Industrial development zone of

the Yanluyu District of

Wolong Lake in Zigong City,

Sichuan Province, the PRC

SREIP) &
BEmSMRNEEXREE
EA\BEIEE A A &

thil e 2B MIEE
C1-11 #IREHF
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Financial Summary

MEBE

Results e
For the year ended 31 March
BE=-A=1t—HLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FER FHET FET FHET FHET
REVENUE WA 205,814 271,012 416,828 1,587,349 2,140,562
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  ZS4E[E (B518) /47 (85,172)  (117,417)  (352,847)  (269,993) 2,983
Assets and liabilities BEEREE
At 31 March
M=ZA=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET FET FHET FHET
TOTAL ASSETS BEEE 608,748 755,028 1,003,773 1,528,412 3,095,675
TOTAL LIABILITIES BRA%E (552,090)  (612,891)  (738,452)  (875,870) (2,197,107
NET ASSETS BEFE 56,658 142,137 265,321 652,542 898,568
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY IATERTE AW
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 56,658 142,137 265,321 652,542 898,568
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